Volterra Operators and Parabolicity

Anisotropic Pseudo-Differential Operators

Thilo Buchholz

Bert-Wolfgang Schulze

Potsdam 1998

Abstract

Parabolic equations on manifolds with singularities require a new calculus of anisotropic pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols. The paper develops this theory along the lines of an abstract wedge calculus with strongly continuous groups of isomorphisms on the involved Banach spaces. The corresponding pseudo-differential operators are continuous in anisotropic wedge Sobolev spaces, and they form an algebra. There is then introduced the concept of anisotropic parameter-dependent ellipticity, based on an order reduction variant of the pseudo-differential calculus. The theory is applied to a class of parabolic differential operators, and it is proved the invertibility in Sobolev spaces with exponential weights at infinity in time direction.

Contents

Introduction			2
1	Anisotropic operator-valued symbols		3
	1.1	Operator-valued symbols	3
	1.2	Classical symbols	11
	1.3	Examples and remarks	13
2	\mathbf{Pse}	udo–differential operators	14
	2.1	Local operators and distributional kernels	15
	2.2	The algebra	19
	2.3	Global operators	23
3	Abstract wedge Sobolev spaces		26
	3.1	Definition and basic properties	26
	3.2	Mapping properties	29
	3.3	Global spaces	31
4	Parameter-dependent ellipticity		32
	4.1	Parameter—dependent pseudo—differential operators	32
	4.2	Ellipticity, parametrix construction and invertibility	39
	4.3	Application to parabolic differential operators	46
\mathbf{R}^{ϵ}	efere	nces	54

2 CONTENTS

Introduction

The theory of parabolic partial differential equations is a classical field of mathematical analysis with a large variety of models in physics, engineering and applied sciences. A simplest example is the heat equation. Typical aspects are the construction of fundamental solutions, of inverse operators to initial—boundary value problems, or the regularity of solutions and asymptotic properties, cf., in particular, Agranovič, Višik, [AV], Solonnikov [So1], [So2], Eidel'Man [Ei1], Feller [Fe], Friedman [Fi] and Amann [Am].

Heat operators in several variants also occur in other areas of mathematics (spectral theory, index theory, geometry and topology), cf. Athiyah, Patodi, Singer [AS] and Gilkey [Gi].

Similarly to the theory of elliptic equations, where pseudo-differential operators are a standard tool to express parametrices, to prove elliptic regularity and the Fredholm property in Sobolev spaces, etc., it is natural to ask for a pseudo-differential approach also for parabolic equations.

Another motivation to study parabolicity under the aspect of pseudo-differential operators is that non-smooth spatial configurations are very difficult to handle by using direct traditional methods only.

The present paper is the first one of a series of systematic investigations on parabolic pseudo-differential operators. We will obtain a general calculus aimed at solving initial boundary value problems on spatial manifolds that may have singularities of conical or edge type. Solutions will be given in terms of inverse operators expressed by means of various symbolic levels. The singularities require a special approach with pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols. Moreover, parabolic operators have a typical anisotropic behaviour; the time covariable is involved in the symbols with another homogeneity than the spatial covariables. In the operator-valued set-up the homogeneity is connected with natural one-parameter groups of isomorphisms on the Banach spaces in which the symbols act as operator functions. Such groups are also contained in the corresponding Sobolev spaces of vector-valued distributions. This material is the main subject of the present paper.

In recent years the program to establish a pseudo-differential calculus on manifolds with singularities to solve elliptic problems in terms of parametrix constructions made considerable progress. This concerns, in particular, manifolds with singularities of cone, edge or corner type as well as with singular boundaries or noncompact exits to infinity, cf. the papers and monographs of Schulze [Su1], [Su3], [Su10], Egorov, Schulze [ES], and papers jointly with Dorschfeldt [DS], Schrohe [SS2], Fedosov, Tarkhanov [FST], Sternin, Shatalov [SSS1], [SSS2]. Moreover, pseudo-differential methods for the singular set-up were developed by Cordes [Co1], [Co2], Plamenevskij [Pl], Eskin [Es1], [Es2], Melrose, Mendoza [MM], Melrose [Me], Unterberger, Upmeier [UU].

Ellipticity and parabolicity may be understood in close connection to each other, cf. Agranovič, Višik, [AV], Solonnikov [So1], [So2], [So3]. Nevertheless, the pseudo-differential calculus for the parabolic theory was not so intensely developed as the elliptic one. This seems to be in fact a real gap in the literature, though there are some crucial papers, in particular, of Piriou [Pi1], [Pi2], that consider parabolic pseudo-differential operators under the aspect of algebras of anisotropic pseudo-differential operators and a subalgebra of Volterra operators.

Anisotropic pseudo-differential operators were studied under different aspects by Hunt, Piriou [HP], Boggiatto, Buzano, Rodino [BBR] and many other authors. Parabolicity of boundary value problems in cylindrical domains were investigated by Chan Žui Cho, Eskin [CE]; the structure of fundamental solutions in terms of pseudo-differential analysis was studied in a series of papers of Iwasaki [Iw1], [Iw2]. Let us also note that Eskin [Es3] considered particular parabolic problems for differential operators in non-smooth domains.

Parabolic theory for pseudo-differential operators is by no means a straightforward modification of the elliptic case, although some ideas, such as generalities on anisotropic pseudo-differential operators or anisotropic ellipticity are not so far from the isotropic case. There are certain problems and new difficulties, some of them really serious and unexpected at first glance, even for smooth spatial configurations. For instance, if we want to embed operators of the form $\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + A$ for elliptic pseudo-differential operators A (say on a C^{∞} manifold) into a nice calculus, there appears the problem of handling symbols like $i\tau + a(x,\xi)$ for pseudo-differential symbols $a(x,\xi)$. This requires specific structure investigations, cf. the book of Grubb [Gr2].

Another new aspect is that parabolicity implies the Volterra property. This is roughly speaking holomorphy on the level of symbols in a complex τ half–plane, including the symbol estimates there. The standard operations with symbols that employ excisions in the covariables destroy this holomorphy. So, in particular, the asymptotic sums within such symbol spaces have to be carried out by other methods. We shall do this here on the level of kernels by means of kernel cut–offs, which preserve the required class.

The notion of parabolicity itself is another source of new discussion, in particular, when the spatial configurations have a singular geometry. There appear, like in the elliptic theory, additional (operator-valued) symbolic levels, caused by the singularities which have to be included in the parabolicity, in order to ensure unique solvability. Also the analysis of initial—boundary value problems with compatibility of initial and boundary conditions on the edge of the time—space cylinder is a rich program, in particular, when the given operator is pseudo—differential and the transmission property with respect to the initial surface is required.

Acknowledgment: The authors wish to thank J.B. Gil and Th. Krainer (Research group "Partial Differential Equations and Complex Analysis", University of Potsdam) for fruitful discussions on the manuscript.

1 Anisotropic operator-valued symbols

In this section we define anisotropic symbols of pseudo-differential operators with values in the space of linear continuous operators between Banach or Fréchet spaces E and \widetilde{E} . Let us first assume that E and \widetilde{E} are Banach spaces. Later on we will extend the theory to the case of Fréchet spaces.

1.1 Operator-valued symbols

Anisotropy refers to any fixed $1 \leq l \in \mathbb{N}$. The isotropic case is contained in the anisotropic theory for l = 1. For $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}_{\tau} \times \mathbb{R}_{\eta}^{q} = \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ we define the anisotropic norm function

$$|\tau, \eta|_l = (|\tau|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}}.$$
 (1)

and an anisotropic smoothed norm function

$$[\tau, \eta]_l := \omega(|\tau, \eta|_l) + (1 - \omega(|\tau, \eta|_l))|\tau, \eta|_l, \tag{2}$$

where $\omega(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, [0, 1])$ is supposed to be a cut-off function, i.e.,

$$\omega(r) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } 0 \le r \le 1, \\ 0 & \text{for } r \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
 (3)

Later on we need extensions of symbols with respect to the time covariable τ in the lower complex half space $\mathbb{C}_{-} = \{\zeta = \tau + i\vartheta : \vartheta < 0\}$. In this case we use also $|\cdot, \cdot|_l$ and $[\cdot, \cdot]_l$, where the first variable may be a complex number.

Let us now introduce anisotropic homogeneity:

Definition 1 A function $f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{\tau, \eta} \setminus \{0\})$ will be called anisotropic homogeneous of order $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ (anisotropic ν -homogeneous), if for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$ the relation

$$f(\lambda^l \tau, \lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\nu} f(\tau, \eta) \tag{4}$$

holds. We call $f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{\tau, \eta})$ anisotropic homogeneous of order $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ for large $|\tau, \eta|_l$, if the homogeneity relation (4) is satisfied for all $\lambda \geq 1$ and $|\tau, \eta|_l \geq c$ for a constant c > 0. The smallest possible constant is called the homogeneity constant of the given function.

Note that $|\tau,\eta|_l$ is obviously anisotropic homogeneous of order 1 and $[\tau,\eta]_l$ anisotropic homogeneous of order 1 for large $|\tau,\eta|_l$. From now on we will shortly denote anisotropic homogeneity of order ν by ν -homogeneity. Set $D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta} = (-i\partial_{\tau})^{\beta_0}(-i\partial_{\eta})^{\beta'}$ and $|\beta|_l = l\beta_0 + |\beta'|$ for $\beta = (\beta_0,\beta') \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$.

Remark 2 Differentiation of both sides of (4) shows that the derivatives $D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}f(\tau,\eta)$ are $(\nu-|\beta|_l)$ -homogeneous for any ν -homogeneous function $f(\tau,\eta)$ and arbitrary multi-indices $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$. A similar assertion holds for functions that are ν -homogeneous for large $|\tau,\eta|_l$.

Proposition 3 A function $f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\})$ is ν -homogeneous iff it satisfies the modified Euler relation

$$E_{l}f(\tau,\eta) := \left(l\tau \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{j=1}^{q} \eta_{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{j}}\right) f(\tau,\eta) = \nu f(\tau,\eta)$$
 (5)

for all $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof: Using anisotropic polar coordinates $\rho = |\tau, \eta|_l$ and $\sigma_j = \frac{\eta_j}{\rho}$ the equation (5) takes the form

$$\left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}\right) f(\rho, \sigma) = \nu f(\rho, \sigma)$$

which is solved by all functions $f(\rho,\sigma) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\})$ of the form $f(\rho,\sigma) = \rho^{\nu} f(1,\sigma)$. In Cartesian coordinates this means $f(\tau,\eta) = |\tau,\eta|_l^{\nu} f\left(\frac{\tau}{|\tau,\eta|_l^l},\frac{\eta}{|\tau,\eta|_l}\right)$ and hence $f(\lambda^l \tau,\lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\nu} f(\tau,\eta)$.

Lemma 4 There are constants c, C > 0, such that the inequalities

$$c[\zeta, \eta]_l \le (1 + |\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}} \le C[\zeta, \eta]_l$$
 (6)

and

$$c[\zeta, \eta]_l \le [\zeta, \eta]_1 \le C[\zeta, \eta]_l^l \tag{7}$$

hold for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and arbitrary $(\zeta, \eta) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^q$. Moreover, the anisotropic version of Peetre's inequality is satisfied, i.e., there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$[\zeta, \eta]_l^s \le c^{|s|} [\zeta - \zeta', \eta - \eta']_l^{|s|} [\zeta', \eta']_l^s$$
 (8)

holds for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and arbitrary $(\zeta, \eta), (\zeta', \eta') \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^q$.

Proof: To (6): For $(\zeta, \eta) \in \overline{B_2^l}$ it follows (6) from the compactness of the anisotropic ball $\overline{B_2^l} = \{|\zeta, \eta|_l \leq 2\}$, since $[\zeta, \eta]_l \geq 1$ and $(1 + |\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}} \geq 1$ for all $(\zeta, \eta) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^q$. But for $|\zeta, \eta|_l > 2$ we have $[\zeta, \eta]_l = (|\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}}$ such that the estimate

$$[\zeta, \eta]_l < (1 + |\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}} < (2(|\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l}))^{\frac{1}{2l}} = 2^{\frac{1}{2l}}[\zeta, \eta]_l$$

implies the desired inequality.

To (7): For (ζ, η) in the compact set $\overline{B_2^l}$ it follows (7) because of $[\zeta, \eta]_l > 1$ for arbitrary $l \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. By definition we have $\{|\zeta| \leq 1\} \cap \{|\eta| \leq 1\} \subset \overline{B_2^l}$ such that we only have to check the cases $|\zeta| > 1$ and $|\eta| > 1$. Moreover, for $(\zeta, \eta) \in (\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^q) \setminus \overline{B_2^l}$ we have $[\zeta, \eta]_l = |\zeta, \eta|_l$ and hence the estimate

$$(|\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^2)^l = \sum_{j=0}^l \binom{l}{j} |\zeta|^{2j} |\eta|^{2(l-j)} > \begin{cases} |\zeta|^{2l} + |\eta|^{2l} > |\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l} &, |\zeta| > 1, \\ |\zeta|^2 |\eta|^{2(l-1)} + |\eta|^{2l} > |\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l} &, |\eta| > 1, \end{cases}$$

which gives the first part of (7). The second part is clear for $|\eta| > 1$, whereas for $|\zeta| > 1$ and $|\eta| \le 1$ it follows from $|\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^2 \le |\zeta|^2 + |\zeta|^2 \le 2(|\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})$.

To (8): In view of inequality (6) it suffices to prove the anisotropic version of Peetre's inequality (8) in the form

$$(1+|\zeta|^2+|\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{s}{2l}} \le c^{|s|}(1+|\zeta-\zeta'|^2+|\eta-\eta'|^{2l})^{\frac{|s|}{2l}}(1+|\zeta'|^2+|\eta'|^{2l})^{\frac{s}{2l}}. \tag{9}$$

For arbitrary $a, \tilde{a}, b, \tilde{b} \in \mathbb{C}$ we have

$$1 + |a + \tilde{a}|^2 + |b + \tilde{b}|^{2l} \le 1 + (|a| + |\tilde{a}|)^2 + (|b| + |\tilde{b}|)^{2l}$$

$$\le c(1 + |a|^2 + |b|^{2l})(1 + |\tilde{a}|^2 + |\tilde{b}|^{2l})$$

which implies (9) for $s \ge 0$ with $\zeta = a + \tilde{a}$, $\eta = b + \tilde{b}$ and $\zeta' = \tilde{a}$, $\eta' = \tilde{b}$. For s < 0 we get

$$(1+|a+\tilde{a}|^2+|b+\tilde{b}|^{2l})^{\frac{s}{2l}}c^{\frac{-s}{2l}}(1+|a|^2+|b|^{2l})^{\frac{-s}{2l}} > (1+|\tilde{a}|^2+|\tilde{b}|^{2l})^{\frac{s}{2l}}$$

which gives us (9) with $\zeta = \tilde{a}$, $\eta = \tilde{b}$ and $\zeta' = -a$, $\eta' = -b$.

The estimates (6) and (8) are also essential for the isotropic pseudo-differential calculus where l = 1. Sometimes the inequality (7) is used to reduce arguments to the isotropic case.

After these preparations we turn to the operator-valued theory. With the Banach spaces E and E we associate group actions $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}\in\mathbb{R}_{+}}$ and $\{\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}\in\mathbb{R}_{+}}$, respectively, as follows: A family of automorphisms $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}\in\mathbb{R}_{+}}$ is called a group action associated with E if the map ${\lambda}\mapsto \kappa_{\lambda}$ belongs to $C(\mathbb{R}_{+}, \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}(E))$ and if it satisfies $\kappa_{\lambda}\circ\kappa_{\mu}=\kappa_{\lambda\mu}$, $\kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}=\kappa_{\lambda^{-1}}$ for all ${\lambda},{\mu}\in\mathbb{R}_{+}$. Here $\mathcal{L}_{\sigma}(E)$ is the space of all linear continuous operators $a:E\to E$ equipped with the strong operator topology, i.e., with the system of semi-norms $\mathcal{L}(E)\ni a\mapsto \|ae\|_{E}$ for $e\in E$. Note that for every group action there are constants M,c>0 such that

$$\|\kappa_{\lambda}\|_{\mathcal{L}(E)} \le \begin{cases} c\lambda^{-M} & \text{for } \lambda \le 1, \\ c\lambda^{M} & \text{for } \lambda \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
 (10)

Let us simply set $\kappa(\tau, \eta) := \kappa_{[\tau, \eta]_l}$ and $\tilde{\kappa}(\tau, \eta) := \tilde{\kappa}_{[\tau, \eta]_l}$. In view of (10) and (8) for s = 1 we obtain constants c, M > 0 such that

$$\|\kappa(\zeta,\eta) \circ \kappa^{-1}(\zeta',\eta')\|_{\mathcal{L}(E)} \le c[\zeta - \zeta',\eta - \eta']_l^M \tag{11}$$

is satisfied for arbitrary $(\zeta, \eta), (\zeta', \eta') \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^q$.

Definition 5 Let $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\Omega = U_0 \times U$ with open sets $U_0 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{p_0}$, $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^p$; then the space

$$S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \tag{12}$$

of anisotropic operator-valued symbols is defined as the set of all $a(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ such that

$$\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)\{D_{t,y}^{\alpha}D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(t,y,\tau,\eta)\}\kappa(\tau,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E\ \widetilde{E})} \le c[\tau,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}$$
(13)

holds for all $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \alpha') \in \mathbb{N}^{p_0} \times \mathbb{N}^p$, $\beta = (\beta_0, \beta') \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}^q$ and all $(t, y) \in K$ for arbitrary compact $K \subset\subset \Omega$ and all $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ with constants $c = c(\alpha, \beta, K) \geq 0$; $|\beta|_l = l\beta_0 + |\beta'|$ for $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$.

The best constants $c = c(\alpha, \beta, K)$ in (13) form a system of semi-norms that define a Fréchet topology on (12), cf. [Bu]. With this definition the space (12) depends on the specific choice of the κ_{λ} , $\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$. They are always fixed in our applications; so for abbreviation we omit them in the notation. We only need the cases $\Omega = U_0 \times U$ with open $U_0 \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ and $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^q$ or $\Omega = (U_0 \times U) \times (U_0 \times U)$, where in the latter case we call the elements of (12) amplitude functions with variables t, y, t', y', τ, η .

Of course, we also allow the special case $E = \mathbb{C}$ or $\widetilde{E} = \mathbb{C}$. Then we set $\kappa_{\lambda} = \mathrm{id}$ and $\widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda} = \mathrm{id}$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$. With $E = \widetilde{E} = \mathbb{C}$ we get the scalar anisotropic symbols and write for short $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}) = S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{C})$ (see also [Pi1]).

Denote by $S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ the closed subspace of anisotropic operator-valued symbols with constant coefficients, that means they do not depend on (t, y, t', y').

The following assertions are simple generalisations of analogous results of the isotropic theory and can be proved by the same techniques as in [Su1]. Therefore we will omit the proofs here. The following lemma is an immediate consequence of the definition of the symbol classes and of the nuclearity of $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

Lemma 6 We have for an open set $\Omega = U_0 \times U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ and $\Omega^2 = \Omega \times \Omega$

$$S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})=C^{\infty}(\Omega^2,S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}))=C^{\infty}(\Omega^2)\widehat{\otimes}_{\pi}S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}).$$

Thus every $a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})$ can be written as a convergent sum

$$a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_j b_j(t, y) a_j(\tau, \eta) d_j(t', y')$$
(14)

with sequences $(c_j) \in l_1, b_j, d_j \to 0$ in $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and $a_j \to 0$ in $S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ for $j \to \infty$.

Lemma 7 Let $\Omega = U_0 \times U$ with open sets $U_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{p_0}$, $U \in \mathbb{R}^p$, and let E, \widetilde{E} and \widehat{E} be Banach spaces and $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}$, $\{\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}\}$ and $\{\hat{\kappa}_{\lambda}\}$ the associated group actions. Then for arbitrary $\nu, \tilde{\nu} \in \mathbb{R}$ we have the following relations:

(i) For all $\nu \leq \tilde{\nu}$ there are continuous embeddings

$$S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \hookrightarrow S^{\bar{\nu},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}). \tag{15}$$

(ii) It holds

$$S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widehat{E}, \widetilde{E})S^{\bar{\nu},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widehat{E}) \subset S^{\nu+\bar{\nu},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), \tag{16}$$

with the point-wise composition of the operator-valued symbols.

(iii) As a particular case of (ii) we have

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}) S^{\bar{\nu},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \\ S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) S^{\bar{\nu},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}) \end{array} \right\} \subseteq S^{\nu+\bar{\nu},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), \tag{17}$$

with point-wise multiplication of the scalar symbols by the operator-valued ones.

(iv) For all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{p_0+p}$, $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$ and arbitrary $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$D_{t,y}^{\alpha}D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \subseteq S^{\nu-|\beta|_{l},l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}). \tag{18}$$

Equation (16) is the composition rule for operator-valued symbols. The proof of Lemma 7 is straightforward and left to the reader.

Example 8 Let $\phi(x,t,y) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \Omega)$, $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ open, be a function with $\phi(x,t,y) = 0$ for all $(x,t,y) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \Omega$ with |x| > c for some c > 0. Define the family $m_{\phi}(t,y)$ of multiplication operators by $m_{\phi}(t,y)u(x) = \phi(x,t,y)u(x)$ for u belonging to the standard Sobolev space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ on \mathbb{R}^n of smoothness $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we have $m_{\phi}(t,y) \in S^{0,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; H^s(\mathbb{R}^n), H^s(\mathbb{R}^n))$ with respect to the group action $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}}u(\lambda x), \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Remark 9 The space $S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ has a representation as a projective limit of the form $S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) = \lim_{\stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\nu \in \mathbb{R}}} S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$, with the projective inclusion spectrum of the

Fréchet spaces $\left(S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})\right)_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}}$, and it is independent of the particular choice of $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}, \{\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}\}$ of the anisotropy l.

Moreover, the symbol estimates (13) imply $S^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) = \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$, where the right hand side the Schwartz space of rapidely decreasing functions in \mathbb{R}^{1+q} with values in $\mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})$. Thus Lemma 6 and the stability of the projective tensor product under the projective limit allows us to write $S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) = C^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})))$.

There is an important generalisation of the homogeneity of scalar functions to the operator-valued case. Let us start with a function

$$p(\tau, \eta, \xi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q+n} \setminus \{0\})$$

which is ν -homogeneous in the sense

$$p(\lambda^l \tau, \lambda \eta, \lambda \xi) = \lambda^{\nu} p(\tau, \eta, \xi)$$

for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $(\tau, \eta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q+n} \setminus \{0\}$ (here $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}_\tau \times \mathbb{R}^q$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$). Then we can form a classical pseudo-differential operator in \mathbb{R}^n , defined by

$$f(\tau, \eta)u(x) = \iint e^{i(x-x')\xi} p(\tau, \eta, \xi)u(x')dx'd\xi, \tag{19}$$

for every fixed $(\tau, \eta) \neq 0$. This can be regarded as an operator function

$$f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}, \mathcal{L}(H^s(\mathbb{R}^n), H^{s-\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)))$$

for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Setting $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}}u(\lambda x), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{+}$, an elementary calculation shows that

$$f(\lambda^l \tau, \lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\nu} \kappa_{\lambda} f(\tau, \eta) \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1} \tag{20}$$

holds for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and all $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}$. This motivates for general group actions the following definition.

Definition 10 A function $f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ is called anisotropic ν -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense if it satisfies

$$f(\lambda^l \tau, \lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\nu} \tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda} f(\tau, \eta) \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1} \tag{21}$$

for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and every $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}$.

We call the function $f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ anisotropic ν -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense for large $|\tau, \eta|_l$ if equation (21) holds for all $\lambda \geq 1$ and every $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ with $|\tau, \eta|_l > c$ for some constant c > 0. The smallest constant c with this property is called homogeneity constant of f.

Lemma 11 Every $a(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ which is anisotropic ν -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense for large $|\tau, \eta|_l$ belongs to $S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$.

Proof: Because of the (t,y)-independence of the function a we only have to check the estimates

$$\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)\{D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\}\kappa(\tau,\eta)\| \le C[\tau,\eta]_l^{\nu-|\beta|_l}$$
(22)

for every $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$ and $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$. But for $|\tau, \eta|_l \leq c$ we get (22) from the compactness of this anisotropic ball. For $|\tau, \eta|_l > c$, using the homogeneity, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)(D^{\beta}_{\tau,\eta}a)(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta)\| \\ & = \|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)[\tau,\eta]^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}_{l}\tilde{\kappa}(\tau,\eta)(D^{\beta}_{\tau,\eta}a)\left(\frac{\tau}{[\tau,\eta]^{l}_{l}},\frac{\eta}{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}\right)\kappa^{-1}(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta)\| \\ & = [\tau,\eta]^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}_{l} \left\| (D^{\beta}_{\tau,\eta}a)\left(\frac{\tau}{[\tau,\eta]^{l}_{l}},\frac{\eta}{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}\right) \right\| \\ & \leq C[\tau,\eta]^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}_{l}, \end{split}$$

with $C = \sup\{\|D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta} a(\tau,\eta)\| : |\tau,\eta|_l = 1\}.$

In the above estimate we used that the derivatives of homogeneous functions are again homogeneous of the corresponding diminished order. This follows immediately by differentiating equation (21). \Box

Let us now observe an analogue of Euler's homogeneity relation, cf Proposition 3, in the operator-valued set—up. First we consider the particular case (19); then we pass to the general case.

Proposition 12 Euler's homogeneity relation for $p(\tau, \eta, \xi)$, namely

$$\left(l\tau\frac{\partial}{\partial\tau} + \sum_{j=1}^{q} \eta_j \frac{\partial}{\partial\eta_j} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_k \frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_k}\right) p(\tau, \eta, \xi) = \nu p(\tau, \eta, \xi), \tag{23}$$

implies a corresponding homogeneity relation for $f(\tau, \eta)$:

$$E_{l}f(\tau,\eta) = \left(l\tau \frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{j=1}^{q} \eta_{j} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \eta_{j}}\right)(\tau,\eta) = (\nu I + H) \circ f(\tau,\eta)$$
(24)

with the operator H defined by $u(x) \mapsto Hu(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}(x_k u)(x)$. Conversely, (24) implies (23) and hence (20).

Proof: Using relation (23) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \nu f(\tau,\eta) u(x) &= \int e^{ix\xi} \nu p(\tau,\eta,\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) d\xi \\ &= \int e^{ix\xi} \left(l\tau \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{j=1}^q \eta_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_j} + \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k} \right) p(\tau,\eta,\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) d\xi \\ &= \left(l\tau \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{j=1}^q \eta_j \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_j} \right) f(\tau,\eta) u(x) + \int e^{ix\xi} \sum_{k=1}^n \xi_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k} \left(p(\tau,\eta,\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) \right) d\xi. \end{split}$$

Further we have

$$\int e^{ix\xi} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k} \left(p(\tau, \eta, \xi) \hat{u}(\xi) \right) d\xi = -\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} \left(x_k \int e^{ix\xi} p(\tau, \eta, \xi) \hat{u}(\xi) d\xi \right)$$
$$= -(H \circ f(\tau, \eta)) u(x)$$

which gives us (24). For the converse direction we use that

$$\int e^{ix\xi} a(\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) d\xi = \int e^{ix\xi} b(\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) d\xi$$

for all $u(x) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ implies $a(\xi)\hat{u}(\xi) = b(\xi)\hat{u}(\xi)$ and hence $(a(\xi) - b(\xi))v(\xi)$ for $v \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In particular, for $v(\xi) = e^{-\frac{1}{1+|\xi|^2}} \neq 0$ we obtain $a(\xi) = b(\xi)$.

Starting with (24) and using the above computation in opposite direction we get the second part of the proposition. \Box

Remark 13 Notice that the operator $\hat{H} := \sum_{k=1}^{m} \xi_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_k}$ acting on scalar symbols of the class $S^{\nu}(V \times \mathbb{R}^m)$, $V \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$ open, also plays a role in the symbol estimates that are traditionally written

$$|D_x^{\alpha} D_{\xi}^{\beta} p(x,\xi)| \le c(1+|\xi|)^{\nu-|\beta|}$$

for all $x \in K$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, $K \subset V$ arbitrary, for all multi-indices $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m$, $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^m$, with constants $c = c(\alpha, \beta, K) > 0$. An alternative description is to define $S^{\nu}(V \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ as the subspace of all $p(x, \xi) \in C^{\infty}(V \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying

$$|D_x^{\alpha} \hat{H}^k p(x,\xi)| \le c(1+|\xi|)^{\nu}$$

for all x, ξ as above and all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, with constants $c = c(\alpha, k, K) > 0$.

Remark 14 For the Fourier transform $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ acting, e.g., on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the group action $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}}u(\lambda x)$ we have

$$(\mathcal{F}\kappa_{\lambda}u)(\xi) = \int e^{-ix\xi} \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}} u(\lambda x) dx$$
$$= \int e^{-i\frac{x}{\lambda}\xi} \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}} u(x) \lambda^{-n} dx$$
$$= \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1} (\mathcal{F}u)(\xi),$$

i.e., $\kappa_{\lambda} = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}\mathcal{F}$. This relation explains, in particular, the role of the exponent λ in front of the dilations.

To illustrate the nature of the homogeneity of operator—valued functions we want to consider a further example. Let us start with a function

$$p_0(\tilde{\rho}, \tilde{\tau}, \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\tau}', \tilde{\eta}') \in C^{\infty}\left(\mathbb{R}_{\bar{\rho}} \times \mathbb{R}^{2(1+q)}_{\bar{\tau}, \bar{\eta}, \bar{\tau}', \bar{\eta}'}\right).$$

Set $p(r, \tilde{\rho}, \tilde{\tau}, \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\tau}', \tilde{\eta}') = r^{-\mu} p_0(\tilde{\rho}, \tilde{\tau}, \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\tau}', \tilde{\eta}')$ and form

$$a(\tau,\eta)u:=\int\!\!\int e^{i(r-r')\rho}p(r,r\rho,r^l\tau,r\eta,r'^l\tau,r'\eta)u(r')dr'd\rho,$$

regarded as an operator family

$$a(\tau, \eta): C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

parametrised by $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$. Setting $(\kappa_{\lambda} u)(r) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}} u(\lambda r)$ for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, it follows that

$$a(\lambda^l \tau, \lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\nu} \kappa_{\lambda} a(\tau, \eta) \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}$$

for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$. Writing

$$f(s, s', \rho, \tau, \eta) := p(s^{-1}, s^{-1}\rho, s^{-l}\tau, s^{-1}\eta, s'^{-l}\tau, s'^{-1}\eta)$$

we have $f(\lambda s, \lambda s', \lambda \rho, \lambda^l \tau, \lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\mu} f(s, s', \rho, \tau, \eta)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $s, s' \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $(\rho, \tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+1+q}$. Thus we get, cf. Proposition 3,

$$s\frac{\partial f}{\partial s} + s'\frac{\partial f}{\partial s'} + \rho\frac{\partial f}{\partial \rho} + l\tau\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{i=1}^{q} \eta_i \frac{\partial f}{\partial \eta_i} = \mu f, \tag{25}$$

and we can obtain a homogeneity relation for the operator family $a(\tau, \eta)$:

Proposition 15 The operator family $a(\tau, \eta)$ satisfies the homogeneity relation

$$E_{l}a(\tau,\eta) := \left(l\tau \frac{\partial a}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{j=1}^{q} \eta_{j} \frac{\partial a}{\partial \eta_{j}}\right)(\tau,\eta) = \mu a(\tau,\eta) + ha(\tau,\eta) - a(\tau,\eta)h$$
(26)

for the constant operator $h = r \frac{\partial}{\partial r}$.

Proof: Setting $g(s,s',\rho,\tau,\eta):=f(s^{-1},s'^{-1},\rho,\tau,\eta)$ we get from (25)

$$-s\frac{\partial g}{\partial s} - s'\frac{\partial g}{\partial s'} + \rho \frac{\partial g}{\partial \rho} + l\tau \frac{\partial g}{\partial \tau} + \sum_{i=1}^{q} \eta_i \frac{\partial g}{\partial \eta_i} = \mu g.$$
 (27)

This yields

$$\{\mu a(\tau, \eta) - E_l a(\tau, \eta)\} u(t) = \iint e^{i(s-s')\rho} \left(-s \frac{\partial}{\partial s} - s' \frac{\partial}{\partial s'} + \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho} \right) g(s, s', \rho, \tau, \eta) u(s') ds' d\rho. \tag{28}$$

Using $\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left(e^{is\rho} g \right) - i\rho e^{is\rho} g = e^{is\rho} \frac{\partial g}{\partial s}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial s'} \left(e^{-is'\rho} g \right) + i\rho e^{-is'\rho} g = e^{-is'\rho} \frac{\partial g}{\partial s'}$ the right hand side of (28) may be written

$$-s\frac{\partial}{\partial s}a(\tau,\eta)u(s)+I_1+I_2+I_3$$

for

$$I_{1} = \iint e^{i(s-s')\rho} i(s-s')\rho g u(s') ds' d\rho,$$

$$I_{2} = \iint e^{i(s-s')\rho} g \frac{\partial}{\partial s'} (s'u(s')) ds' d\rho,$$

$$I_{3} = \iint e^{i(s-s')\rho} \rho \frac{\partial g}{\partial \rho} u(s') ds' d\rho.$$

Applying $\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho} \left(e^{i(s-s')\rho} g \right) = i(s-s')\rho e^{i(s-s')\rho} g + e^{i(s-s')\rho} \rho \frac{\partial g}{\partial \rho}$ it follows that $I_3 = I_0 - I_1$ for

$$I_0 = \iint \rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho} \left(e^{i(s-s')\rho} g \right) u(s') ds' d\rho.$$

Moreover, for I_2 we obtain $I_2 = a(\tau, \eta)u(s) + a(\tau, \eta)s\frac{\partial}{\partial s}u(s)$. In I_0 we may replace $\rho\frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}$ by the operator $\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\rho$ - id. Thus

$$I_0 = -a(\tau, \eta)u(s) \int \int \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho} \rho \left(e^{i(s-s')\rho} g \right) u(s') ds' d\rho.$$

The second term of the right of the latter equation vanishes. So $I_3 = -a(\tau, \eta)u(s) - I_1$ and hence

$$I_1 + I_2 + I_3 = I_1 + a(\tau, \eta)u(s) + a(\tau, \eta)hu(s) - a(\tau, \eta)u(s) - I_1$$

= $a(\tau, \eta)hu(s)$

We thus obtained $\mu a(\tau, \eta) - E_l a(\tau, \eta) = -ha(\tau, \eta) + a(\tau, \eta)h$ which is the assertion.

The following interesting generalisation of Euler's homogeneity relation for operator-valued functions is due to Th. Krainer. Recall that we are interested in $\mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})$ -valued functions, where E and \widetilde{E} are Banach spaces endowed with group actions κ_{λ} and $\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$. By A and \widetilde{A} we denote the infinitesimal generators of the C_0 groups $Q: \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{L}(E)$ with $Q(t) = \kappa_{\exp(t)}$ and $\widetilde{Q}: \mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{L}(\widetilde{E})$ with $\widetilde{Q}(t) = \widetilde{\kappa}_{\exp(t)}$, respectively. Further let D(A) and $D(\widetilde{A})$ be the domains of A and \widetilde{A} . Then we obtain the following result.

Proposition 16 A function $f(\tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ with $f(\tau, \eta)D(A) \subseteq D(\widetilde{A})$ for all $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ is anisotropic ν -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense if and only if for every $u \in D(A)$ the differential equation

$$E_l f(\tau, \eta) u = (\nu f(\tau, \eta) + \widetilde{A} f(\tau, \eta) - f(\tau, \eta) A) u$$

 $is\ satisfied.$

Proof: Suppose first f to be anisotropic ν -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense. Then for all $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}$ we have

$$f(au,\eta) = | au,\eta|_l^
u ilde{\kappa}_{| au,\eta|_l} f\left(rac{ au}{| au,\eta|_l},rac{\eta}{| au,\eta|_l}
ight) \kappa_{| au,\eta|_l}^{-1}.$$

In anisotropic polar coordinates (ρ, σ) , cf. Proposition 3, this means

$$f(\rho,\sigma) = \rho^{\nu} \tilde{\kappa}_{\rho} f(1,\sigma) \kappa_{\rho}^{-1} = \rho^{\nu} \widetilde{Q}(\ln \rho) f(1,\sigma) Q(-\ln \rho).$$

Then for $u \in D(A)$ we can form $\frac{\partial}{\partial \rho} f(\rho, \sigma) u$ and it holds

$$\begin{split} \left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}\right) f(\rho, \sigma) u &= \rho \Big(\nu \rho^{\nu - 1} \widetilde{Q}(\ln \rho) f(1, \sigma) Q(-\ln \rho) \\ &+ \rho^{\nu - 1} \widetilde{A} \widetilde{Q}(\ln \rho) f(1, \sigma) Q(-\ln \rho) \\ &- \rho^{\nu - 1} \widetilde{Q}(\ln \rho) f(1, \sigma) Q(-\ln \rho) A \Big) u \\ &= \Big(\nu \rho^{\nu} \widetilde{\kappa}_{\rho} f(1, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho}^{-1} + \rho^{\nu} \widetilde{A} \widetilde{\kappa}_{\rho} f(1, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho}^{-1} - \rho^{\nu} \widetilde{\kappa}_{\rho} f(1, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho}^{-1} A \Big) u \\ &= (\nu f(\rho, \sigma) + \widetilde{A} f(\rho, \sigma) - f(\rho, \sigma) A) u \end{split}$$

which is the desired differential equation in polar coordinates.

On the other hand we suppose that f satisfies

$$\left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}\right) f(\rho, \sigma) u = (\nu f(\rho, \sigma) + \widetilde{A} f(\rho, \sigma) - f(\rho, \sigma) A) u \tag{29}$$

for all $u \in D(A)$. Then setting $F(\rho, \sigma) = \tilde{\kappa}_{\rho}^{-1} f(\rho, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho} = \widetilde{Q}(-\ln \rho) f(\rho, \sigma) Q(\ln \rho)$ we get

$$\left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}\right) F(\rho, \sigma) u = \left(-\widetilde{A} \widetilde{\kappa}_{\rho}^{-1} f(\rho, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho} + \widetilde{\kappa}_{\rho}^{-1} \left(\left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}\right) f(\rho, \sigma)\right) \kappa_{\rho} + \widetilde{\kappa}_{\rho}^{-1} f(\rho, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho}\right) u.$$

Therefore inserting (29) we have $\left(\rho \frac{\partial}{\partial \rho}\right) F(\rho, \sigma) u = \rho^{\nu} F(1, \sigma) u$ or $f(\rho, \sigma) = \rho^{\nu} \tilde{\kappa}_{\rho} f(1, \sigma) \kappa_{\rho}^{-1}$, and that is equivalent to the anisotropic ν -homogeneity in the operator-valued sense.

1.2 Classical symbols

We now turn the subspaces of classical anisotropic operator–valued symbols. The scalar versions of these spaces can be found in [Pi1]. Denote by $S^{(\nu),l}(\Omega\times(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}\setminus\{0\});E,\widetilde{E})$ the subspace of all operator–valued functions $f_{(\nu)}(t,y,\tau,\eta)\in C^{\infty}(\Omega\times(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}\setminus\{0\}),\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$ that are ν –homogeneous in (τ,η) for all $(t,y)\in\Omega$.

By definition we have

$$S^{(\nu),l}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}); E, \widetilde{E}) \hookrightarrow C^{\infty}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}), \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$$
(1)

and $S^{(\nu),l}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}); E, \widetilde{E})$ is a closed subspace of $C^{\infty}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}), \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ in the induced topology.

Furthermore, denote by $S^{[\nu],l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ the subspace of all operator-valued functions $f(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ that are ν -homogeneous in (τ, η) for large $|\tau, \eta|_l$. For an arbitrary excision function $\chi(\tau, \eta)$ we have

$$\chi(\tau,\eta)S^{(\nu),l}(\Omega\times(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}\setminus\{0\});E,\widetilde{E})\subset S^{[\nu],l}(\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}).$$

From Lemma 11 it follows that $S^{[\nu],l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \subset S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$.

Definition 1 Let $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\Omega = U_0 \times U$ with open $U_0 \times U \in \mathbb{R}^{p_0 + p}$ as in Definition 5. Then the space of classical anisotropic operator-valued symbols of order ν

$$S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$$
 (2)

is defined as the set of all $a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ such that there is a sequence $(a_{(\nu-j)}(t,y,\tau,\eta))_{j=0}^{\infty}$ with $a_{(\nu-j)}(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{(\nu-j),l}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q}\setminus\{0\}); E, \widetilde{E})$ for every j, satisfying the relation

$$a(t,y,\tau,\eta) - \sum_{i=0}^{N} \chi(\tau,\eta) a_{(\nu-j)}(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu-N-1,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$$

for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and for any excision function $\chi(\tau, \eta)$. Analogously to the isotropic case the function $\sigma^{\nu}_{\wedge}(a)(t, y, \tau, \eta) := a_{(\nu)}(t, y, \tau, \eta)$ is called the ν -homogeneous principal symbol of a.

Remark 2 The $(\nu - j)$ -homogeneous components $a_{(\nu - j)}(t, y, \tau, \eta)$ of an $a(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S_{cl}^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ are uniquely determined.

The notation σ_{\wedge}^{ν} for the homogeneous principal symbol is motivated by one of the main applications of the theory namely to equations on manifolds with edges. There is then an operator-valued homogeneous principal edge symbol (which is an analogue of the classical boundary symbol in boundary value problems) together with a homogeneous principal interior symbol, denoted by σ_{ψ}^{ν} . For higher singularities there are additional principal symbolic levels associated with lower-dimentional skeletons of the given configuration.

Remark 3 Every function $a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{[\nu],l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ belongs to $S^{\nu,l}_{cl}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$. Taking the uniquely determined ν -homogeneous extension $a_{(\nu)}(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{(\nu),l}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}); E, \widetilde{E})$ of $a(t,y,\tau,\eta)|_{\{[\tau,\eta]_l=K\}}$ with some constant K>0 larger than the homogeneity constant of a, we have

$$a(t, y, \tau, \eta) - \chi(\tau, \eta) a_{(\nu)}(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})))$$

for every excision function $\chi(\tau, \eta)$. In other words $a(t, y, \tau, \eta) - \chi(\tau, \eta) a_{(\nu)}(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$.

Example 4 Setting $E = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\widetilde{E} = H^{s-\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ endowed with the standard group actions $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}}u(\lambda x), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we form

$$a(\tau, \eta) = \operatorname{op}_x \left((|\xi|^l + i\tau + |\eta|^l)^{\frac{\mu}{l}} \right) = \int e^{i(x - x')\xi} (|\xi|^l + i\tau + |\eta|^l)^{\frac{\mu}{l}} u(x') dx' d\xi,$$

where the powers are defined by the branch of logarithm that is real for real arguments. Then an elementary calculation shows $\kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}a(\lambda^{l}\tau,\lambda\eta)\kappa_{\lambda}u=\lambda^{\mu}a(\tau,\eta)u$, i.e., $a(\tau,\eta)$ is anisotropic μ -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense. Thus we have $\chi(\tau,\eta)a(\tau,\eta)\in S_{cl}^{\mu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})$ for every excision function $\chi(\tau,\eta)$.

Next we want to define a Fréchet topology in the space of classical anisotropic operator-valued symbols. By definition we have a canonical embedding

$$S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \hookrightarrow S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$$
(3)

for every $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, the relation (1) induces a Fréchet topology in $S^{(\nu),l}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}); E, \widetilde{E})$. By $a \mapsto a_{(\nu-j)}$ we get a sequence of linear mappings

$$\alpha_j : S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \longrightarrow S^{(\nu-j),l}(\Omega \times (\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}); E, \widetilde{E}), \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4)

Furthermore, by $a(t, y, \tau, \eta) \mapsto \chi(\tau, \eta) \sum_{j=0}^{k} a_{(\nu-j)}(t, y, \tau, \eta)$ we get a sequence of linear mappings

$$\beta_k : S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \longrightarrow S^{\nu-k-1,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), \ k \in \mathbb{N}$$
 (5)

that is well-defined by Remark 2. Now we topologise (2) with the weakest locally convex topology such that all the mappings (3), (4) and (5) are continuous. The completeness then follows analogously to the isotropic case.

Remark 5 The assertions of 1.1 Lemma 6 and 1.1 Lemma 7 also hold in analogous form for classical symbols.

1.3 Examples and remarks

In the applications the spaces E often run over scales of Hilbert spaces $\{E^s\}_{s\in\mathbb{R}}$ analogously to the standard Sobolev spaces. In particular, we have continuous embeddings $E^{s'}\hookrightarrow E^s$, when $s'\geq s$ and $E^{\infty}:=\bigcap_{s\in\mathbb{R}}E^s$ is dense in every E^s , $s\in\mathbb{R}$. Further, there is a reference space E^0 , where the scalar product

$$(\cdot,\cdot)_{E^0}: E^\infty \times E^\infty \to \mathbb{C}$$

extends to a non-degenerate sesquilinear pairing

$$(\cdot,\cdot)_{E^0}: E^s \times E^{-s} \to \mathbb{C}$$

for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, on E^0 we have a unitary group action (i.e. κ_{λ} is an unitary operator for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$) that restricts (or extends) to a group action on E^s for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Setting $E = E^s$ and $E^{-s} = E'$ for fixed $s \geq 0$ we get Gelfand triples

$$\{E, E^0, E'; \{\kappa_\lambda\}_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+}\}\tag{1}$$

with unitary group actions. The simplest example is $E = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $E^0 = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $E' = H^{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for s > 0 and $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}}u(\lambda x)$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

More general Gelfand triples appear when we insert for E the weighted cone Sobolev spaces $\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$, $s,\gamma\in\mathbb{R}$. Here X is a closed compact C^{∞} manifold of dimension n and $X^{\wedge}=\mathbb{R}_{+}\times X$. First $\mathcal{H}^{0,0}(X^{\wedge})$ is defined as $r^{-\frac{n}{2}}L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}\times X)$, where the L^{2} space refers to the measure drdx with dx being associated with a Riemannian metric on X. Then $\mathcal{H}^{s,0}(X^{\wedge})$ for $s\in\mathbb{N}$ is the subspace of all $u\in\mathcal{H}^{0,0}(X^{\wedge})$ such that $(rD_{r})^{k}v_{1}\cdot\ldots\cdot v_{N}u\in\mathcal{H}^{0,0}(X^{\wedge})$ for every choice of vector fields v_{j} on X and arbitrary k,N with $k+N\leq s$. Then by duality with respect to $(\cdot,\cdot)_{\mathcal{H}^{0,0}(X^{\wedge})}$ we can pass to $\mathcal{H}^{s,0}(X^{\wedge})$ for $-s\in\mathbb{N}$ and finally obtain $\mathcal{H}^{s,0}(X^{\wedge})$ for arbitrary $s\in\mathbb{R}$ by interpolation.

The spaces $\mathcal{H}^{s,0}(X^{\wedge})$ now form a scale in the above sense. More generally we set $\mathcal{H}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}) = r^{\gamma}\mathcal{H}^{s,0}(X^{\wedge})$ for arbitrary $s,\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. Here s is the smoothness as before and γ is a weight as it plays a role for the conical singularities $r \to 0$.

The applications require spaces that are modelled on the usual Sobolev spaces for $r \to \infty$ that is why we pass to the $\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ spaces defined by setting

$$\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}) := [\omega]\mathcal{H}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}) + [1-\omega]H^{s}(X^{\wedge})$$

with some cut-off function $\omega(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$; here $H^s(X^{\wedge})$ is the subspace of all $u \in H^s_{loc}(X^{\wedge})$ with $(\chi_{\widetilde{V}})_*((1-\omega(r))\phi u) \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^{1+n})$ for every chart (\widetilde{V},ϕ) on X.

Here we used the (non-direct) sum G=E+F of Banach spaces E,F that are contained in a Hausdorff vector space. It consists of all g=e+f with $e\in E$ and $f\in F$. If $\Delta=\{(g,-g):g\in E\cap F\}$, then $G\cong (E\oplus F)/\Delta$ leads to a Banach structure in G. Further, if a Banach space E is a module over an algebra A, then [a]E for $a\in A$ will denote the closure of $\{ae:e\in E\}$ in E. In particular, the spaces $\mathcal{H}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ and $\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ are modules over $C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+\times X)$ as well as over the algebra of all $\phi(r,x)\in C^{\infty}(X^{\wedge})$ which vanish near r=0 and for which $1-\phi\in C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+\times X)$.

The cone Sobolev spaces $\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ are (Hilbertisable) Banach spaces and equipped with the group action $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\mathbb{R}_{+}}$ with $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(r,x)=(\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}u)(r,x)=\lambda^{\frac{n+1}{2}}u(\lambda r,x)$ for all $u(r,x)\in\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$, $n=\dim X$. Then we can define the symbol spaces $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}),\mathcal{K}^{s-\nu,\gamma-\mu}(X^{\wedge}))$.

An example is the operator M_{ϕ} of multiplication by $\phi(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$ which belongs to $S^{0,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}), \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}))$ for arbitrary $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, $M: \phi \mapsto M_{\phi}$ induces a continuous map $M: C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+) \to S^{0,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}), \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}))$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Let us now consider the case of Fréchet spaces E and \widetilde{E} . Assume that there are representations

$$E = \lim_{\stackrel{\longleftarrow}{j \in \mathbb{N}}} E_j \text{ and } \widetilde{E} = \lim_{\stackrel{\longleftarrow}{k \in \mathbb{N}}} \widetilde{E}_k$$

with projective inclusion spectra of Banach spaces $E_0 \leftrightarrow E_1 \leftrightarrow \cdots$ and $\widetilde{E}_0 \leftrightarrow \widetilde{E}_1 \leftrightarrow \cdots$ such that the associated sets $\{\kappa_{\lambda}^{(j)}\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ and $\{\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}^{(k)}\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ satisfy the compatibility conditions $\kappa_{\lambda}^{(j)}|_{E_{j+1}} = \kappa_{\lambda}^{(j+1)}$ and $\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}^{(k)}|_{\widetilde{E}_{k+1}} = \tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}^{(k+1)}$ for all $j,k \in \mathbb{N}$. Without loss of generality we also assume that the corresponding norms q_j in E_j and \tilde{q}_k in \widetilde{E}_k are ordered norm systems in E and \widetilde{E} , respectively.

Definition 1 Under the above assumptions we define for $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ and an open set $\Omega = U_0 \times U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{p_0+p}$ the space $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ of anisotropic symbols of order ν as the set of all functions $a(t, y, \tau, \eta)$ with values in $\mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})$ such that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there is some $j = j(k) \in \mathbb{N}$ with $a(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E_j, \widetilde{E}_k)$.

The subspaces of classical anisotropic symbols $S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ are defined by the condition $S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E_j, \widetilde{E}_k)$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with some $j = j(k) \in \mathbb{N}$.

Remark 2 The assertions of 1.1 Lemma 7 are also valid for Fréchet spaces E and \widetilde{E} .

Example 3 Let us describe a class of concrete Fréchet spaces which are necessary in the theory of parabolic operators on manifolds with conical and edge singularities, cf. [BS]. Fix a weight γ and a weight interval $\Theta = (\theta, 0], -\infty \le \theta < 0$, and set

$$\mathcal{K}_{\Theta}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}) = \lim_{\substack{\longleftarrow \\ j \in \mathbb{N}}} \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma-\theta-\frac{1}{j+1}}(X^{\wedge})$$

in the Fréchet topology of the projective limit. Denote by $\operatorname{As}(\gamma,\Theta)$ the set of all sequences, so–called asymptotic types, $P=\{(p_j,m_j,L_j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ for N=N(P) when θ is finite, $P=\{(p_j,m_j,L_j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ when θ is infinite, where $p_j\in\mathbb{C}$, $\frac{n+1}{2}-\gamma+\theta\leq\operatorname{Re}\,p_j\leq\frac{n+1}{2}-\gamma$ for all j, $\operatorname{Re}\,p_j\to\infty$ for $j\to\infty$ in the infinite case, $m_j\in\mathbb{N}$ and the L_j are finite–dimensional subspaces of $C^\infty(X)$ for all j.

Then $\mathcal{K}_{P}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ for $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $P \in \mathrm{As}(\gamma,\Theta)$ is defined as the subspace of all $u \in \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ for which there are coefficients $c_{jk} = c_{jk}(u) \in L - j$, $0 \le k \le m_j$, such that

$$u_N(r, x) = u(r, x) + \omega(r) \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{k=0}^{m_j} c_{jk} r^{-p_j} \log^k r \in \mathcal{K}^{s, \gamma}_{\Theta}(X^{\wedge})$$

holds for N=N(P), when θ is finite, $u_N\in\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}_{(\beta,0]}(X^\wedge)$ for each $\beta<0$ and all $N\geq N(\beta)$ for some $N(\beta)\in\mathbb{N}$ in the infinite case. Here $\omega(r)$ is an arbitrary cut-off function. The spaces $\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}_P(X^\wedge)$ are Fréchet in a natural way, and we then have for arbitrary $P\in\mathrm{As}(\gamma,\Theta)$ and $Q\in\mathrm{As}(\delta,\Theta)$ the symbol spaces $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}_P(X^\wedge),\mathcal{K}^{r,\delta}_Q(X^\wedge))$ for $s,r\in\mathbb{R}$.

2 Pseudo-differential operators

We now pass to anisotropic pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols. As in the previous section we first fix Banach spaces E and \widetilde{E} and associated strongly continuous groups κ_{λ} and $\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$, respectively.

Local operators and distributional kernels

Let $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) = \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}) \widehat{\otimes}_{\pi} E$ be the Schwartz space of rapidely decreasing E-valued functions. We then define the Fourier transform

$$\mathcal{F}: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \to \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$$

by $\mathcal{F} = F \otimes \mathrm{id}_E$, where F denotes the standard scalar Fourier transform. Setting

$$\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) := \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}), E)$$

we define for any $T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{t,y}), E)$ the Fourier transform $\mathcal{F}T = T \circ F \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{\tau,\eta}), E)$. Then we get the inverse Fourier transform by $\mathcal{F}^{-1}S = S \circ F^{-1}$ for $S \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{\tau,\eta}), E)$. We then obviously obtain $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\mathcal{F}T=T$. Since $\mathcal{F}=F$ and $\mathcal{F}^{-1}=F^{-1}$ for $E=\mathbb{C}$ we use the same letter for the Fourier transform of vector-valued distributions and scalar ones.

Definition 1 Let $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ with a given open set $\Omega = U_0 \times U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$. Then we define

$$Op(a)u(t,y) = \mathcal{F}_{(\tau,\eta)\to(t,y)}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{(t',y')\to(\tau,\eta)} \{ a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta)u(t',y') \}
= \iint e^{i(t-t')\tau+i(y-y')\eta} a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta)u(t',y')dt' dy' d\tau d\eta$$
(1)

for $u(t', y') \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, E)$.

We denote by $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega;E,\widetilde{E})$ the Fréchet space of all operators $\operatorname{Op}(a)$ with $a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2)$ \mathbb{R}^{1+q} ; E, \widetilde{E}). Furthermore, we write $\Psi_{cl}^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ for the subspace of all $\mathrm{Op}(a)$ with classical symbols and call the elements of $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega;E,\widetilde{E})$ anisotropic pseudo-differential operators, those in $\Psi^{\nu,l}_{cl}(\Omega;E,\widetilde{E})$ classical anisotropic pseudo-differential operators of order ν .

Remark 2 Similarly to the scalar theory each $A \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ is continuous as operator

$$\operatorname{Op}(a): C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, E) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega, \widetilde{E}).$$

Analogously to the isotropic theory we use the notation

$$\Psi^{\infty,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}) = \bigcup_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}} \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}), \qquad (2)$$

$$\Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}) = \bigcap_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}} \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}). \qquad (3)$$

$$\Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}) = \bigcap_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}} \Psi^{\nu, l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}). \tag{3}$$

The space $\Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ is isomorphic to the space of all integral operators with kernel in $C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R})$ Ω), $\mathcal{L}(E, E)$).

Note that in (1) we can also use operator-valued symbols depending only on $(t,y) \in \Omega$ or $(t',y') \in \Omega$. In this case we will call them left or right symbol, respectively. In the next section we will show, that it is possible to choose a left or right symbol as representative modulo smoothing operators for an arbitrary symbol, i.e., for every $a = a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta)$ belonging to $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ there exist $a_l = a_l(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ and $a_r = a_r(t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ such that $\operatorname{Op}(a_l) + G_l = \operatorname{Op}(a) = \operatorname{Op}(a_r) + G_r$ with G_l, G_r belonging to $\Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$. Notice that a_l or a_r by

Next we discuss the distributional kernels of operators in $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega;E,\widetilde{E})$. In view of Remark 2 every $A = \operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\infty,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ has a kernel $K_A \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega^2, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$, i.e., we have $Au = \langle K_A, u \rangle$ for all $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, E)$.

Let us write

$$\operatorname{Op}(a)u(t,y) := \int K(a)(t,y,t',y',t-t',y-y')u(t',y')dt'\,dy'$$

with

$$K(a)(t, y, t', y', \rho, \sigma) := \int e^{i(\rho\tau + \sigma\eta)} a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) d\tau d\eta. \tag{4}$$

These integrals exist in the classical sense for sufficiently negative order ν , otherwise in the distributional sense. Because of 1.1 Lemma 6 we can describe K(a) first for symbols with constant coefficients. The case of variable coefficients is then an easy generalisation. For constant coefficients we have $K(a)(\rho,\sigma) = \int e^{i(\rho\tau+\sigma\eta)}a(\tau,\eta)d\tau\,d\eta$. Because of $S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}) \subset S'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$ we can write $K(a)(\rho,\sigma) = \mathcal{F}^{-1}_{(\tau,\eta)\to(\rho,\sigma)}\{a(\tau,\eta)\}$, and hence K(a) belongs to $S'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$. For $a(\tau,\eta) \in S^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}) = S(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$ the distribution K(a) is even a regular distribution belonging to $S(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$. Using that the inverse Fourier transform induces an isomorphism $\mathcal{F}^{-1}: S^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}) \to S(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$ we define the space $T^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}) := \mathcal{F}^{-1}_{(\tau,\eta)\to(\rho,\sigma)}\left(S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})\right)$ with constant coefficients; in the general case we set

$$T^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E}):=\mathcal{F}^{-1}_{(\tau,\eta)\to(\rho,\sigma)}\left(S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})\right).$$

We topologise these spaces with the Fréchet topology induced from the symbol spaces by the inverse Fourier transform. Analogously to 1.1 Lemma 6 we obtain

$$T^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) = C^{\infty}(\Omega^2, T^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})) = C^{\infty}(\Omega^2) \widehat{\otimes}_{\pi} T^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}). \tag{5}$$

For any $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ we then get the kernel $K_{\mathrm{Op}(a)}$ of the corresponding pseudo-differential operator by the formula

$$K_{\mathrm{Op}(a)}(t, y, t', y') = K(a)(t, y, t', y', \rho, \sigma)|_{(\rho, \sigma) = (t - t', y - y')}$$

Denote by $S'_0(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ the subspace of all $f(\rho, \sigma) \in S'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ with $\chi(\rho, \sigma) f(\rho, \sigma) \in S(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ for every (ρ, σ) -excision function $\chi(\rho, \sigma)$.

Proposition 3 For every $a(\tau, \eta) \in S^{\infty, l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ we have $K(a) \in \mathcal{S}'_0(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$.

Proof: By definition there is a $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ with $a(\tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ for every $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$. We have to show

$$q_{\alpha,\beta}(\chi K(a)) := \sup_{(\rho,\sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}} \left\| (\rho,\sigma)^{\beta} D_{\rho,\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\chi(\rho,\sigma) K(a)(\rho,\sigma) \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} < \infty$$

for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$, for an arbitrary excision function $\chi(\rho, \sigma)$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $|\rho| \geq 1$. Then it follows that

$$\left\| (\rho,\sigma)^\beta D^\alpha_{\rho,\sigma} \left(\chi(\rho,\sigma) K(a)(\rho,\sigma) \right) \right\| \leq \left\| \rho^F(\rho,\sigma)^\beta D^\alpha_{\rho,\sigma} \left(\chi(\rho,\sigma) K(a)(\rho,\sigma) \right) \right\|$$

for some $1 \leq F \in \mathbb{N}$. But then we obtain

$$\begin{split} q_{\alpha,\beta}(\chi K(a)) &\leq \sup_{(\rho,\sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}} \left\| \rho^F(\rho,\sigma)^\beta D_{\rho,\sigma}^\alpha \left(\chi(\rho,\sigma) \int e^{i(\rho\tau+\sigma\eta)} a(\tau,\eta) d\tau d\eta \right) \right\| \\ &= \sup_{(\rho,\sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}} \left\| \int \rho^F(\rho,\sigma)^\beta \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} \binom{\alpha}{\gamma} \left(D_{\rho,\sigma}^{\alpha-\gamma} \chi(\rho,\sigma) \right) \left(D_{\rho,\sigma}^{\gamma} e^{i(\rho\tau+\sigma\eta)} \right) a(\tau,\eta) d\tau d\eta \right\| \\ &\leq \sup_{(\rho,\sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} c_\gamma \left\| \int (\tau,\eta)^\gamma \left(D_\tau^F D_{\tau,\eta}^\beta e^{i(\rho\tau+\sigma\eta)} \right) a(\tau,\eta) d\tau d\eta \right\| \\ &\leq \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} \tilde{c}_\gamma \int |\tau,\eta|^{|\gamma|} \left\| D_\tau^F D_{\tau,\eta}^\beta a(\tau,\eta) \right\| d\tau d\eta \\ &\leq \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} C_\gamma \int [\tau,\eta]_l^{l|\gamma|+M+\widetilde{M}+\nu-|\beta|_l-lF} d\tau d\eta < \infty \end{split}$$

with $lF + |\beta|_l > l|\alpha| + M + \widetilde{M} + \nu + 1 + q$ where M and \widetilde{M} are the constants from (1.1.10) for κ_{λ} and $\widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$, respectively, which completes the proof.

Corollary 4 Anisotropic pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols are pseudo-local, i.e., sing supp $Au \subseteq \text{sing supp } u$ is satisfied for all $u(t,y) \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega,E)$ and every $A \in \Psi^{\infty,l}(\Omega;E,\widetilde{E})$.

In fact, equation (5) allows us to restrict the considerations to symbols with constant coefficients. The above Proposition 3 then gives sing supp $K(a)(\rho,\sigma) \subseteq \{0\}$ and hence sing supp $K_A(t,y,t',y') \subseteq \{(t,y)=(t',y')\}$, $A=\operatorname{Op}(a)$, $a(\tau,\eta) \in S^{\infty,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})$. But then the assertion follows from

sing supp
$$Au \subseteq \pi(\text{sing supp } K_A(t, y, t', y') \cap (\mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{t,y} \times \text{sing supp } u)),$$

where $\pi: \mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{t,y} \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{t',y'} \to \mathbb{R}^{1+q}_{t,y}$ denotes the projection to the (t,y)-coordinates.

Proposition 5 Let $\phi(\rho, \sigma) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$ and $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$, and set

$$(h(\phi)a)(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta):=\mathcal{F}_{(\rho,\sigma)\to(\tau,\eta)}\phi(\rho,\sigma)\mathcal{F}_{(\tau,\eta)\to(\rho,\sigma)}^{-1}a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta).$$

Then we get a continuous operator

$$h(\phi) : S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \to S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}).$$

Moreover, for fixed $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ the map $\phi \mapsto h(\phi)a$ is a continuous operator $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}) \to S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$.

Proof: It suffices to consider symbols with constant coefficients; the (t, y, t', y')-dependent case can be treated in an analogous manner. We shall prove the symbol estimates

$$\|\widetilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}(h(\phi)a)(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} \leq c_{\beta}(\phi)[\tau,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}$$

for arbitrary fixed group actions κ_{λ} , $\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$, where $c_{\beta}(\phi)$ is some constant continuously depending on $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$.

We have

$$\begin{split} D^{\beta}_{\tau,\eta}(h(\phi)a)(\tau,\eta) &= D^{\beta}_{\tau,\eta}(\hat{\phi}*a)(\tau,\eta) \\ &= D^{\beta}_{\tau,\eta} \int \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta')a(\tau',\eta')\,d\tau'd\eta' \\ &= \int \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta')D^{\beta}_{\tau',\eta'}a(\tau',\eta')\,d\tau'd\eta', \end{split}$$

and hence

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta) D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}(h(\phi)a)(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta) \right\| \\ & = \left\| \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta) \int \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta') D_{\tau',\eta'}^{\beta}a(\tau',\eta') \, d\tau' d\eta' \kappa(\tau,\eta) \right\| \\ & \leq c_{1} \int \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta') \right| \left\| \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta) D_{\tau',\eta'}^{\beta}a(\tau',\eta')\kappa(\tau,\eta) \right\| \, d\tau' d\eta' \\ & \leq c_{1} c_{\beta} \int \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta') \right| \left\| \tilde{\kappa}_{\frac{[\tau',\eta']_{l}}{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}} \left\| [\tau',\eta']_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}} \right\| \kappa_{\frac{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}{[\tau',\eta']_{l}}} \left\| d\tau' d\eta' \right\| \\ & \leq c_{2} c_{\beta} \int \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta') \right| \left[\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta' \right]_{l}^{\widetilde{M}+M} \left[\tau',\eta' \right]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}} \, d\tau' d\eta' \\ & \leq c_{2} c_{\beta} c^{|\nu-|\beta|_{l}} \left[\tau,\eta \right]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}} \int \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta') \right| \left[\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta' \right]_{l}^{\widetilde{M}+M+|\nu-|\beta|_{l}} \, d\tau' d\eta' \\ & \leq c_{\beta} (\phi) [\tau,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}. \end{split} \tag{6}$$

For the estimate (6) we used the inequality (1.1.11) and for (7) Peetre's inequality (1.1.8) with $s = \nu - |\beta|_l$. As desired the constant $c_{\beta}(\phi)$ depends continuously on ϕ .

Remark 6 Proposition 5 extends to the case when ϕ depends as a rapidely decreasing function only on one variable or on a group of variables. Let, for instance, $\phi = \phi(\rho) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ be given. Then we obtain $(h(\phi)a)(\tau,\eta) = \int\limits_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{\phi}(\tau-\tau')a(\tau',\eta)\,d\tau'$ and hence as above

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau, \eta) D_{\tau, \eta}^{\beta}(h(\phi)a)(\tau, \eta) \kappa(\tau, \eta) \right\| \\ & = \left\| \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau, \eta) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{\phi}(\tau - \tau') D_{\tau', \eta}^{\beta} a(\tau', \eta) \, d\tau' \kappa(\tau, \eta) \right\| \\ & \leq c_{1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau - \tau') \right| \left\| \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau, \eta) D_{\tau', \eta}^{\beta} a(\tau', \eta) \kappa(\tau, \eta) \right\| \, d\tau' \\ & \leq c_{1} c_{\beta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau - \tau') \right| \left\| \tilde{\kappa}_{\frac{[\tau', \eta]_{l}}{[\tau, \eta]_{l}}} \right\| [\tau', \eta]_{l}^{\nu - |\beta|_{l}} \left\| \kappa_{\frac{[\tau, \eta]_{l}}{[\tau', \eta]_{l}}} \right\| \, d\tau' \\ & \leq c_{2} c_{\beta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau - \tau') \right| [\tau - \tau', \eta - \eta]_{l}^{\widetilde{M} + M} [\tau', \eta]_{l}^{\nu - |\beta|_{l}} \, d\tau' \\ & \leq c_{2} c_{\beta} c^{|\nu - |\beta|_{l}} [\tau, \eta]_{l}^{\nu - |\beta|_{l}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \hat{\phi}(\tau - \tau') \right| [\tau - \tau', 0]_{l}^{\widetilde{M} + M + |\nu - |\beta|_{l}} \, d\tau' \\ & \leq c_{\beta} (\phi) [\tau, \eta]_{l}^{\nu - |\beta|_{l}}. \end{split}$$

Thus $(h(\phi)a)(\tau,\eta)$ belongs to the space $S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})$.

Example 7 Let $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$ be a (ρ, σ) -cut-off function with $\psi(\rho, \sigma) = 1$ in a neighbourhood of $(\rho, \sigma) = 0$. In this case the operator $h(\psi)$ is called a kernel cut-off operator. It satisfies the relation

$$h(\psi)a - a \in S^{-\infty}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}). \tag{9}$$

In order to verify (9) we write h(1)a = a which implies

$$a - h(\psi)a = h(1 - \psi)a$$

= $\mathcal{F}_{(\rho,\sigma)\to(\tau,\eta)}(1 - \psi)K(a)(t, y, t', y', \rho, \sigma).$

The right hand side of this equation is the Fourier transform of a rapidely decreasing function and hence rapidely decreasing itself which yields the assertion.

Definition 8 The operator $A = \operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ with operator-valued symbol is called properly supported if the corresponding distributional kernel $K_A(t, y, t', y')$ is properly supported in $\Omega \times \Omega$, i.e., if $\pi_j : \Omega \times \Omega \to \Omega$ denotes the projection to the j-th component, $\pi_j^{-1}(C) \cap \operatorname{supp} K_A$ is compact for every compact set $C \subset \Omega$, j = 1, 2.

Remark 9 From the definition it follows immediately that each properly supported pseudo–differential operator $A \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ induces continuous operators

$$A: C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, E) \to C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \widetilde{E}), \quad A: C^{\infty}(\Omega, E) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega, \widetilde{E}) \text{ as well as}$$
$$A: C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})), \quad A: C^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})).$$

Proposition 10 Every pseudo-differential operator $A = \operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ possesses a decomposition $A = A_0 + A_1$ with a properly supported $A_0 \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ and a smoothing operator $A_1 \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$.

In fact, it suffices to set $A_0 := \operatorname{Op}(\omega a)$ and $A_1 := \operatorname{Op}((1 - \omega)a)$ where $\omega(t, y, t', y') \in C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega)$ is a properly supported function which equals 1 in a neighbourhood of diag $\Omega \times \Omega$.

19 2.2 The algebra

2.2The algebra

We call $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta)$ asymptotic sum of a sequence $a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu_j, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), j \in \mathbb{N}$, of anisotropic operator–valued symbols with $\nu_j \to -\infty$ for $j \to \infty$, if for every $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ there is an $N_\mu \in \mathbb{N}$

$$a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) - \sum_{i=0}^{N} a_{j}(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\mu, l}(\Omega^{2} \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), \tag{1}$$

holds for all $N \geq N_{\mu}$. In this case we write $a \sim \sum a_{j}$.

Proposition 1 Let $a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu_j, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), j \in \mathbb{N}$, be any sequence of anisotropic

operator-valued symbols with $\nu_j \to -\infty$ for $j \to \infty$.

Then $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta)$ and $\tilde{a}(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta)$ implies $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) = \tilde{a}(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \mod S^{-\infty}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}).$

Proof: Since $a \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ and $\tilde{a} \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j$ for given $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ there are constants N_0 and \tilde{N}_0 such that $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) - \sum_{i=0}^{N} a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta)$ as well as $\tilde{a}(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) - \sum_{i=0}^{N} a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta)$ belongs to the space $S^{\mu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ for all $N \geq \max\{N_0, \widetilde{N}_0\}$. Thus we obtain for all $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$

$$(a - \tilde{a})(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) = (a - \sum_{j=0}^{N} a_j - \tilde{a} + \sum_{j=0}^{N} a_j)(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\mu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$$

and hence $(a - \tilde{a})(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{-\infty}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}).$

In the sequel the notation $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j$ will always be used in the sense of a choice of a representative in the class of all symbols that are equal modulo someone of order $-\infty$. All calculations below will be independent of the particular choice, modulo corresponding smoothing remainders.

Theorem 2 Let $a_j(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu_j, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), j = 0, 1, ..., be any sequence of an$ isotropic operator-valued symbols and suppose $\nu_j \to -\infty$ for $j \to \infty$. Then for every cut-off function $\omega(
ho,\sigma)$ there exists a sequence $\{c_j\}_{j=0}^\infty$ of constants such that the sum

$$K(a)(t, y, t', y', \rho, \sigma) := \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \omega(c_j \rho, c_j \sigma) K(a_j)(t, y, t', y', \rho, \sigma)$$
(2)

converges in $T^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}), \ \nu = \max\{\nu_j : j \in \mathbb{N}\}.$

Setting $a:=\mathcal{F}_{(\rho,\sigma)\to(\tau,\eta)}K(a)$ we have $a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta)\in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})$ and $a\sim\sum\limits_{i=0}^{\infty}a_i$ holds.

Proof: Assuming the convergence of (2) within the space $T^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ and fixing any order $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ we may find $N_{\mu} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$K\left(a - \sum_{j=0}^{N} a_j\right) = K(a) - \sum_{j=0}^{N} K(a_j) = \sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} K(a_j)$$

belongs for all $N > N_{\mu}$ to $T^{\bar{\nu}_{N_{\mu}},l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$. But this implies

$$a - \sum_{j=0}^{N} a_j \in S^{\tilde{\nu}_{N_{\mu}}, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \subset S^{\mu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$$

for all $N > N_{\mu}$ such that we get $a \sim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_{j}$.

For any fixed semi-norm π in $T^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ we have to find an index $j_0 = j_0(\pi)$ such that $\pi(\omega(c\rho, c\sigma)K(a_j)(t, y, t', y', \rho, \sigma)) \to 0$ for all $j \geq j_0$ as $c \to \infty$. Without loss of generality we choose an ordered system of semi-norms $\{\pi_k\}$ in the Fréchet space $T^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$. We will find constants $c_{jk} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\pi_k(\omega(c_{jk}\rho,c_{jk}\sigma)K(a_j)(t,x,\rho,\sigma))<2^{-j}$$

holds for all $j, k \in \mathbb{N}$. But then with $c_i := c_{ij}$ we obtain

$$\pi_k(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\omega(c_j\rho,c_j\sigma)K(a_j)) \leq \pi_k(\sum_{j=0}^{k-1}\omega(c_j\rho,c_j\sigma)K(a_j)) + \pi_k(\sum_{j=k}^{\infty}\omega(c_j\rho,c_j\sigma)K(a_j))$$

$$\leq \pi_k(\sum_{j=0}^{k-1}\omega(c_j\rho,c_j\sigma)K(a_j)) + \sum_{j=k}^{\infty}\pi_k(\omega(c_j\rho,c_j\sigma)K(a_j))$$

$$\leq \pi_k(\sum_{j=0}^{k-1}\omega(c_j\rho,c_j\sigma)K(a_j)) + \sum_{j=k}^{\infty}2^j < \infty,$$

and hence (2) converges.

Up to now we considered symbols with constant coefficients. The (t,y,t',y',τ,η) -dependent case can be treated in an analogous manner. For the case of constant coefficients the symbol estimates are of the form $\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} \leq c_{\beta}[\tau,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}$. Because of $\sup_{(\tau,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}} [\tau,\eta]_{l}^{-\nu+|\beta|_{l}} \|\tilde{\kappa}(\tau,\eta)D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta)\| \leq \sup_{(\tau,\eta)\in\mathbb{R}} [\tau,\eta]_{l}^{-(\nu-\widetilde{M}-M)+|\beta|_{l}} \|D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\|, \text{ cf. (1.1.10), we can set } \kappa_{\lambda} = \mathrm{id}_{E} \text{ and } \tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda} = \mathrm{id}_{\widetilde{E}} \text{ for all } \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{+} \text{ up to a fixed loss of order. Here and later on we write simply } \|\cdot\| := \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})}.$

In view of

$$\begin{split} \|(\tau,\eta)^{\alpha}D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\| &\leq |(\tau,\eta)|^{|\alpha|}\|D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\| \\ &\leq c[\tau,\eta]_{l}^{l|\alpha|}c_{\beta}[\tau,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}} \\ &\leq \tilde{c}[\tau,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}+l|\alpha|}, \end{split}$$

i.e., $\|(\tau,\eta)^{\alpha}D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta}a(\tau,\eta)\| \leq \tilde{c}[\tau,\eta]_l^{\nu+\mu}$ for $\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$ with $\mu+|\beta|_l \geq l|\alpha|$, we can pass to a system of semi–norms of the form

$$a \mapsto \sup_{(\tau,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}} \| (\tau,\eta)^{\alpha} D_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta} a(\tau,\eta) \| \tag{3}$$

for $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$ with $|\beta|_l - \nu \ge l|\alpha|$. This may be replaced by the system of semi-norms

$$a \mapsto \left\{ \int \|(\rho, \sigma)^{\bar{\alpha}} D_{\rho, \sigma}^{\bar{\beta}} K(a)(\rho, \sigma)\|^2 d\rho d\sigma \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

which is stronger than (3), up to a loss of order only depending on n.

Summing up we have to check

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \int \|(\rho, \sigma)^{\bar{\alpha}} D_{\rho, \sigma}^{\bar{\beta}} \omega(c\rho, c\sigma) K(a_j)(\rho, \sigma)\|^2 d\rho d\sigma = 0.$$

For $|\tilde{\beta}| = 0$, c > 1 und arbitrary $F \in \mathbb{N}$ we obtain

$$(\rho, \sigma)^{\bar{\alpha}} \omega(c\rho, c\sigma) K(a_j)(\rho, \sigma) = \omega(\rho, \sigma)(\rho, \sigma)^{\bar{\alpha}} \rho^{-F} \omega(c\rho, c\sigma) K(a_j)(\rho, \sigma) \rho^F$$
$$= K_j(\rho, \sigma) \omega(c\rho, c\sigma) \rho^F$$

with $K_j(\rho,\sigma) := \omega(\rho,\sigma)(\rho,\sigma)^{\bar{\alpha}}\rho^{-F}K(a_j)(\rho,\sigma)$. Furthermore, since $\nu_j \to -\infty$ for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, there is a j_0 such that $K(a_j)(\rho,\sigma) \in C^m(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$ holds for all $j \geq j_0$. Subtracting a finite Taylor expansion at $\rho = 0$ we see that the remainder becomes flat of order m at $\rho = 0$, where the Taylor expansion together

2.2 The algebra 21

with the above cut-off factor is a Schwartz function which corresponds on symbol side to an error of order $-\infty$. Thus, after this change we may assume that $K(a_i)(\rho, \sigma)$ is flat of order m at $\rho = 0$.

Since $\nu_j \to -\infty$, we get an $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ so that the functions $K_j(\rho, \sigma)$ are continuous with compact support and hence bounded for all $j \geq j_0$. But then we have

$$\int \|K_j(\rho,\sigma)\omega(c\rho,c\sigma)\rho^F\|^2 d\rho d\sigma \le \sup_{(\rho,\sigma)\in\mathbb{R}^{1+q}} \|K_j(\rho,\sigma)\|^2 \int |\omega(c\rho,c\sigma)\rho^F|^2 d\rho d\sigma.$$

This implies

$$\int |\omega(c\rho, c\sigma)\rho^F|^2 d\rho d\sigma = \int |\omega(\rho, \sigma)\rho^F c^{-F}|^2 c^{-1-q} d\rho d\sigma$$
$$= c^{-2F-1-q} \int |\omega(\rho, \sigma)\rho^F|^2 d\rho d\sigma \to 0$$

for $c \to \infty$ which is the desired behaviour. For $|\tilde{\beta}| \neq 0$ we can argue in an analogous manner, where the powers of c arising in the differentiation will be compensated by a suitable choice of F.

So it remains to prove that (4) gives a topology stronger than (3). For that reason we consider the operator-valued function $f(\tau, \eta) := (\tau, \eta)^{\alpha} D_{\tau, \eta}^{\beta} a(\tau, \eta)$. Note that by choosing $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough we may assume f as fastly decreasing as we want. Then from $\|\mathcal{F}f\|_{\infty} \leq \|f\|_1$ it follows that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\infty} & \leq \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}f\|_{1} \\ & \leq \int \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}f(\rho,\sigma)\| d\rho d\sigma \\ & \leq \int \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}f(\rho,\sigma)\| (1+\rho^{2}+|\sigma|^{2l})^{N} (1+\rho^{2}+|\sigma|^{2l})^{-N} d\rho d\sigma \\ & \leq \left\{ \int \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}f(\rho,\sigma)\|^{2} (1+\rho^{2}+|\sigma|^{2l})^{2N} d\rho d\sigma \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \int (1+\rho^{2}+|\sigma|^{2l})^{-2N} d\rho d\sigma \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \leq c \left\{ \int \|(\rho,\sigma)^{\bar{\alpha}} D_{\rho,\sigma}^{\bar{\beta}} K(a)(\rho,\sigma)\|^{2} d\rho d\sigma \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \end{split}$$

where the latter integral has the form (4) which completes the proof.

Now we are able to check the standard algebra properties for anisotropic pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols.

Proposition 3 For every symbol $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ there exists a left symbol $\underline{a}(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ such that

$$\operatorname{Op}(a) - \operatorname{Op}(\underline{a}) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$$

holds. Moreover, for \underline{a} we have the asymptotic expansion

$$\underline{a}(t,y,\tau,\eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\alpha!} D^{\alpha}_{t',y'} \partial^{\alpha}_{\tau,\eta} a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta)|_{(t',y')=(t,y)}.$$

For classical a the resulting \underline{a} is again classical.

The proof is completely analogous to the isotropic case; so it will be left to the reader.

Corollary 4 For every right symbol $a(t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ exists a left symbol $\tilde{a}(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ such that

$$\operatorname{Op}(a) - \operatorname{Op}(\tilde{a}) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$$

holds. Moreover, for \tilde{a} we have the asymptotic expansion

$$\tilde{a}(t,y,\tau,\eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\alpha!} D^{\alpha}_{t',y'} (-\partial_{\tau,\eta})^{\alpha} a(t',y',\tau,\eta)|_{(t',y')=(t,y)}.$$

For classical a the resulting \tilde{a} is again classical.

Remark 5 The above left and right symbols satisfy the relation

$$(\mathcal{F}_{(t,y)\to(\tau,\eta)}\operatorname{Op}(a)u)(\tau,\eta) = \mathcal{F}_{(t',y')\to(\tau,\eta)}(\tilde{a}u)(\tau,\eta) + \mathcal{F}_{(t,y)\to(\tau,\eta)}Ru(\tau,\eta)$$

for all $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, E)$ with remainder $R \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$.

Our next result is also analogous to the isotropic theory, namely that the symbol of the composition Op(a)Op(b) of two pseudo-differential operator is the Leibniz product a # b, given by the rule

$$(a \# b)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \partial_{\tau, \eta}^{\alpha} a(t, y, \tau, \eta) D_{t, y}^{\alpha} b(t, y, \tau, \eta). \tag{5}$$

Here $a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; F, \widetilde{E})$ and $b(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, F)$ implies $(a \# b)(t,y,\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu+\mu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$, cf. 1.1 Remark 7 and Theorem 2. If further a and b are classical then a # b is again classical.

For $r(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, E)$ we can also form powers with respect to the Leibniz product. In this case we write $r^{k\#} := \underbrace{r \# \cdots \# r}_{k-times}$ as well as $r^{0\#} := 1$, where 1 means the operator-valued function having the corresponding identity as constant value.

Proposition 6 Let $A = \operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; F, \widetilde{E})$ and $B = \operatorname{Op}(b) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(\Omega; E, F)$ with A or B properly supported be given. Then $AB \in \Psi^{\nu+\mu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ and

$$AB - \operatorname{Op}(a \# b) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$$

For classical A and B is AB again classical.

Proof: Since A or B is properly supported the composition gives a map $AB: C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, E) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega, \widetilde{E})$. We prove the symbolic rule. In view of Remark 5 we have

$$(\mathcal{F}Bu)(\tau,\eta) = \int e^{-i(\tau t' + \eta y')} \tilde{b}(t',y',\tau,\eta) u(t',y') dt' dy' + (\mathcal{F}Ru)$$

with some $R \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, F)$. But then AB is given by

$$(ABu)(t,y) = \int \int e^{i(\tau(t-t')+\eta(y-y'))} a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \tilde{b}(t',y',\tau,\eta) u(t',y') dt' dy' d\tau d\eta$$

modulo smoothing operators and hence $AB = \operatorname{Op}(c)$ with $c(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) = a(t, y, \tau, \eta)\tilde{b}(t', y', \tau, \eta)$. Using Proposition 3 we get $AB = \operatorname{Op}(\underline{c})$ mod $\Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$, and in view of Corollary 4 we have

$$\underline{c}(t,y,\tau,\eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \left(D_{t',y'}^{\alpha} \partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\alpha} \left(a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \tilde{b}(t',y',\tau,\eta) \right) \right) \Big|_{(t',y')=(t,y)}$$

$$\sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \sum_{\beta+\gamma=\alpha} \frac{\alpha!}{\beta!\gamma!} \left(\partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta} a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \right) \left(D_{t',y'}^{\alpha} \partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\gamma} \tilde{b}(t',y',\tau,\eta) \right) \Big|_{(t',y')=(t,y)}$$

$$\sim \sum_{\beta,\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\beta!\gamma!} \left(\partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta} a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \right) \sum_{\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} (-1)^{|\delta|} \left(D_{t,y}^{\beta+\gamma+\delta} \partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\gamma+\delta} b(t,y,\tau,\eta) \right)$$

$$\sim \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}} \frac{1}{\beta!} \left(\partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\beta} a(t,y,\tau,\eta) \right) \sum_{\gamma+\delta=\lambda} \frac{(-1)^{|\delta|}}{\gamma!\delta!} \left(D_{t,y}^{\beta+\lambda} \partial_{\tau,\eta}^{\lambda} b(t,y,\tau,\eta) \right).$$

Set $m_0 = (1, ..., 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$, then for arbitrary multi-indices $\gamma, \delta, \lambda \in \mathbb{N}^{1+q}$ we have

$$\sum_{\gamma+\delta=\lambda} \frac{(-1)^{|\delta|}}{\gamma!\delta!} = \frac{1}{\lambda!} \sum_{\delta < \lambda} (-1)^{|\delta|} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda \\ \delta \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\lambda!} (m_0 - m_0)^{\lambda} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ for } |\lambda| = 0 \\ 0 \text{ for } |\lambda| \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

and hence $\underline{c}(t, y, \tau, \eta) = (a \# b)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu + \mu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, E)$, i.e., $AB = \operatorname{Op}(a \# b) \operatorname{mod} \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ as desired.

Finally, since the Leibniz product of classical symbols is classical we obtain the second part of the assertion. \Box

Let us now characterise the invertible elements with respect to the Leibniz product.

Proposition 7 Let $a(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ and assume that there is a $p_0(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, E)$ satisfying

$$(a \circ p_0 - 1)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-1, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}), \tag{6}$$

$$(p_0 \circ a - 1)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-1, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, E).$$
 (7)

Then there exists a Leibniz inverse $p(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-\nu, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, E)$ in the sense

$$(a \# p - 1)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}), \tag{8}$$

$$(p \# a - 1)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, E). \tag{9}$$

Proof: We will constuct p in terms of p_0 . Using (6) we first get a symbol p_r satisfying (8). Analogously from (7) we get an element p_l satisfying (9). Then we obtain $p_r = p_r(ap_l) = (p_r a)p_l = p_l \mod S^{-\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, E)$, such that we can omit the subscripts r and l modulo smoothing remainders.

Using the definition of the Leibniz product it follows immediately from (6)

$$-(a \# p_0 - 1)(t, y, \tau, \eta) \sim r(t, y, \tau, \eta) \in S^{-1, l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E})$$

We now form (1-r) # $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r^{k^{\#}}$ and check the relation $1 \sim (1-r)$ # $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r^{k^{\#}}$ (\sim indicates equality modulo symbols of order $-\infty$).

For every $M \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$1 - (1 - r) # \sum_{k=0}^{M} r^{k\#} \in S^{-M-1,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E})$$

which follows from

$$\begin{split} 1 - (1 - r) \ \# \ \sum_{k=0}^{M} r^{k\#} \ = \ 1 - \sum_{k=0}^{M} r^{k\#} + \sum_{k=0}^{M} r^{k+1\#} \\ = \ - \sum_{k=1}^{M} r^{k\#} + \sum_{k=1}^{M} r^{k\#} + r^{M+1\#} \\ = \ r^{M+1\#} \in S^{-M-1,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}). \end{split}$$

But then we also get $1 \sim a \# p_0 \# \sum_{k=0}^M r^{k\#}$, and hence $p = p_0 \# \sum_{k=0}^M r^{k\#}$ belongs to $S^{-\nu,l}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; \widetilde{E}, E)$ which is the desired Leibniz inverse.

2.3 Global operators

Next we are going to globalise the anisotropic pseudo—differential operators with operator—valued symbols with respect to the spatial variables. To this end we have to check the behaviour of the symbols under changing coordinates.

Let $\chi_1: U \to \widetilde{U}$ be a diffeomorphism between open sets U, \widetilde{U} in \mathbb{R}^q and define

$$\chi: \mathbb{R} \times U \to \mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}. \tag{1}$$

by $\chi(t,y) := (t,\chi_1(y))$. Consider the pull-back

$$\chi^* : C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U, E),$$

 $(\chi^*u)(t,y) := u(\chi(t,y)) = u(t,\chi_1(y))$ which restricts to a mapping

$$\chi^*: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E) \to C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U, E).$$

For an operator

$$A: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U, E) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U, \widetilde{E})$$

we then get the operator push-forward

$$\chi_* A : C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E) \to C^\infty(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, \widetilde{E}),$$

defined by $(\chi_* A) u = (\chi^*)^{-1} (A(\chi^* u))$. As in the isotropic case, cf. [ES], we obtain the following result.

Proposition 1 The operator push-forward $\widetilde{A} := \chi_* A$ of $A = \operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times U; E, \widetilde{E})$ with respect to (1) belongs to $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}; E, \widetilde{E})$. Moreover, we have $\widetilde{A} = \operatorname{Op}(\widetilde{a}) \mod \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}; E, \widetilde{E})$ where \widetilde{a} is given by the asymptotic expansion

$$\tilde{a}(t,\chi_1(y),\tau,\tilde{\eta}) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^q} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \varphi_\alpha(y,\tilde{\eta}) \left(\partial_\eta^\alpha a \right) (t,y,\tau,{}^t d\chi_1(y)\tilde{\eta}), \tag{2}$$

where $\varphi_{\alpha}(y, \tilde{\eta})$ is polynomial in $\tilde{\eta}$ of order $\leq \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$ and $\varphi_0 \equiv 1$.

Remark 2 Note that (1) only concerns the spatial variables such that the anisotropic behaviour in the time direction does not play any role in the arguments. It would also be possible to treat diffeomorphisms in the time variable but it is our goal to investigate pseudo-differential operators on cylinders in space-time, where the base of the cylinder is a spatial manifold with singularities such that it suffices to take diffeomorphisms of the form (1).

The smoothing elements of the pseudo-differential algebra in question are given by the following definition.

Definition 3 Let Y be a closed compact (Riemannian) C^{∞} manifold of dimension q without boundary. Then the space $\Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ is the set of all integral operators C on $\mathbb{R} \times Y$ with kernels $C(t, y, t', y') \in C^{\infty}((\mathbb{R} \times Y) \times (\mathbb{R} \times Y), \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$.

We call the elements of $\Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ smoothing operators, although they are not necessarily smoothing on the level of spaces E, \widetilde{E} , i.e., in case of scales (E^s) and (\widetilde{E}^t) (cf. Section 1.3).

For the definition of the global operators on Y we form N-tuples of triples $\{((\tilde{U}_j, \tilde{\chi}_j), \phi_j, \psi_j)\}_{j=1}^N$. Such an N-tuple is a finite atlas $\{(\tilde{U}_j, \tilde{\chi}_j)\}_{j=1}^N$ on Y endowed with a partition of unity $\{\phi_j\}_{j=1}^N$ and an N-tuple of functions $\{\psi_j \in C_0^{\infty}(\tilde{U}_j)\}_{j=1}^N$ with $\phi_j \psi_j = \phi_j$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, N$.

Definition 4 We denote by $\Psi^{\nu,l}_{(cl)}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E})$ the space of all operators $A:C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)\to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,\widetilde{E})$, of the form

$$A = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \left\{ \left(\chi_j^{-1} \right)_* \operatorname{Op}(a_j) \right\} \psi_j + C$$
(3)

with $\{a_j(t,y,\tau,\eta)\in S^{\nu,l}_{(cl)}(\mathbb{R}\times U_j\times\mathbb{R}^{1+q};E,\widetilde{E})\}_{j=1}^N$, $U_j=\tilde{\chi}_j(\widetilde{U}_j)$, and C belonging to $\Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E})$. Here $\left(\chi_j^{-1}\right)_*$ is the operator push-forward with respect to the inverse diffeomorphism χ_j^{-1} of $\chi_j:\mathbb{R}\times\widetilde{U}_j\to\mathbb{R}\times U_j$, $\chi_j(t,y)=(t,\tilde{\chi}_j(y))$.

The spaces $\Psi_{(cl)}^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E})$ are independent of the particular choice of $\{((\widetilde{U}_j,\widetilde{\chi}_j),\phi_j,\psi_j)\}_{j=1}^N$.

Remark 5 In Definition 4 we may assume that the complete symbols are invariant modulo symbols of order $-\infty$ with respect to the symbol push–forward of Proposition 1 under $\chi_{jk} : \mathbb{R} \times \tilde{\chi}_j(\widetilde{U}_j \cap \widetilde{U}_k) \to \mathbb{R} \times \tilde{\chi}_k(\widetilde{U}_j \cap \widetilde{U}_k)$.

Then, when the atlas is fixed, the operator (3) is independent (up to a smoothing one) of the choice of the functions ϕ_i, ψ_i .

We shortly write

$$\Psi^{\infty,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E}):=\bigcup_{\nu\in\mathbb{R}}\Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E})$$

for the set of all global anisotropic pseudo-differential operators with $\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})$ -valued symbols on Y. Analogously to the scalar theory every $A \in \Psi^{\infty,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ represents an operator

$$A: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E}).$$

If A is properly supported we obtain continuous maps $A: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E})$, $A: C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E})$. Furthermore, we have $AB \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ for $A \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; F, \widetilde{E})$ and $B \in \Psi^{\infty,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, F)$ or $A \in \Psi^{\infty,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; F, \widetilde{E})$ and $B \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, F)$, provided the composition exists.

Example 6 The operator M_f of multiplication by a function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y)$ represents an anisotropic pseudo-differential operator in $\Psi^{0,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, E)$ for each E.

Proposition 7 For all $f, g \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y)$ satisfying $fg \equiv 0$ we have

$$M_f\left(\Psi^{\infty,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E})\right)M_g\subseteq \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E}).$$

Proof: Let us fix $\{((\widetilde{U}_j, \widetilde{\chi}_j), \phi_j, \psi_j)\}_{j=1}^N$. Then the operator $M_f A M_g$ for $A \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ has a representation

$$M_f A M_g = M_f \left(\sum_{j=1}^N \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j \psi_j \right) M_g + M_f C M_g$$

with $\widetilde{A}_j = A|_{\widetilde{U}_j} = \left(\chi_j^{-1}\right)_* \operatorname{Op}(a_j)$. Here the second item is smoothing such that we only have to look at the first one. Moreover, it suffices to consider the action on functions u belonging to $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}_j, E)$ for some fixed j. Then with $\widetilde{f}_j = f|_{\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}_j}$ and $\widetilde{g}_j = g|_{\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}_j}$ we have locally

$$\phi_j \tilde{f}_j \tilde{A}_j \tilde{g}_j \psi_j = \phi_j \left(\chi_j^{-1} \right)_* A_j \psi_j,$$

where $A_i: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U_i; E) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U_i, \widetilde{E}), U_i = \tilde{\chi}_i(\widetilde{U}_i)$ has the distributional kernel

$$K_j(t, y, t', y', t - t', y - y') = f_j(t, y)K(a_j)(t, y, t', y', t - t', y - y')g_j(t', y')$$

for $f_j = (\chi_j^{-1})^* \tilde{f}_j$ and $g_j = (\chi_j^{-1})^* \tilde{g}_j$ which implies $f_j g_j \equiv 0$.

Because of $f_j \equiv 0$ on supp g_j there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $f_j(t,y)g_j(t',y') = 0$ for all t,y,t',y' with $|(t,y)-(t',y')| < \varepsilon$. But then there also exists an excision function $\chi(\rho,\sigma)$ with $\chi \equiv 0$ near $(\rho,\sigma) = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ and $\chi \equiv 1$ for $|\rho,\sigma| \geq \varepsilon$. Thus

$$\chi(t-t',y-y')K_i(t,y,t',y',t-t',y-y') = K_i(t,y,t',y',t-t',y-y').$$

But in view of 2.1 Proposition 3 the left hand side belongs to $C^{\infty}((\mathbb{R} \times U_j) \times (\mathbb{R} \times U_j), \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ which yields after globalisation the assertion.

Let us now turn to the composition of global operators. Remember, that the involved Banach spaces E, \widetilde{E}, F are assumed to be associated with corresponding group actions.

Theorem 8 $A \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; F, \widetilde{E})$ and $B \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, F)$ and A or B properly supported implies $AB \in \Psi^{\nu+\mu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$. If A and B are classical pseudo-differential operators, then the composition AB is also classical.

Moreover, for any fixed data as above

$$A = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_{j} \left\{ \left(\chi_{j}^{-1} \right)_{*} \operatorname{Op}(a_{j}) \right\} \psi_{j} + C_{A} \quad and \quad B = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_{j} \left\{ \left(\chi_{j}^{-1} \right)_{*} \operatorname{Op}(b_{j}) \right\} \psi_{j} + C_{B}$$

imply for AB a representation

$$AB = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \left\{ \left(\chi_j^{-1} \right)_* \operatorname{Op}(a_j \# b_j) \right\} \psi_j + C, \tag{4}$$

 $C \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E}).$

Proof: Since A or B is properly supported, we have $AB: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E})$ such that we only have to derive (4).

To this end we fix $\{((\widetilde{U}_j,\widetilde{\chi}_j),\phi_j,\psi_j)\}_{j=1}^N$. Furthermore, we fix an N-tuple of functions $\{\widetilde{\psi}_j\in C_0^\infty(\widetilde{U}_j)\}_{j=1}^N$ satisfying $\psi_j\widetilde{\psi}_j=\widetilde{\psi}_j$ and $\phi_j\widetilde{\psi}_j=\phi_j$ for all $j=1,\ldots,N$. Setting $\widetilde{A}_j=A\big|_{\widetilde{U}_j}$ and $\widetilde{B}_j=B\big|_{\widetilde{U}_j}$ we have

$$AB = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\phi_j \widetilde{A}_j \widetilde{\psi}_j \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j + \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j + \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j \widetilde{\psi}_j \widetilde{B}_j (1 - \psi_j) + \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) \widetilde{B}_j (1 - \psi_j) \right)$$

where $\sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\phi_j \widetilde{A}_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j + \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j \widetilde{\psi}_j \widetilde{B}_j (1 - \psi_j) + \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) \widetilde{B}_j (1 - \psi_j) \right) \text{ is smoothing since } \phi_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}) = 0 = \widetilde{\psi}_j (1 - \psi_j). \text{ Moreover,}$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j \widetilde{\psi}_j \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\phi_j \widetilde{A}_j \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j - \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j \right),$$

where $\sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \widetilde{A}_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) \widetilde{B}_j \psi_j$ is smoothing because of $\phi_j (1 - \widetilde{\psi}_j) = 0$. But locally in \widetilde{U}_j we have

$$\widetilde{A}_j\widetilde{B}_j = \left(\chi_j^{-1}\right)_*\operatorname{Op}(b_j)\left(\chi_j^{-1}\right)_*\operatorname{Op}(a_j) = \left(\chi_j^{-1}\right)_*\left(\operatorname{Op}(a_j)\operatorname{Op}(b_j)\right) = \left(\chi_j^{-1}\right)_*\operatorname{Op}(a_j \ \# \ b_j)$$

which gives the desired relation (4).

3 Abstract wedge Sobolev spaces

In this section we will introduce a scale of Sobolev spaces of E-valued distributions. It is our goal to prove the corresponding mapping property, i.e., the pseudo-differential operators of the last section should extend to continuous mappings between the corresponding Sobolev spaces, where the order of the operator describes the loss of smoothness of the distribution.

3.1 Definition and basic properties

Let a Banach space E and an associated group action κ_{λ} be given. Then we can introduce anisotropic abstract wedge Sobolev spaces of E-valued distributions.

Definition 1 For every $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $l \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, we get by

$$u \mapsto \|u\|_{s,l} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{1+q}} [\tau, \eta]_l^{2s} \|\kappa^{-1}(\tau, \eta) \mathcal{F} u(\tau, \eta)\|_E^2 d\tau d\eta \right)^{1/2} \tag{1}$$

a norm in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$. The abstract anisotropic wedge Sobolev space $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ of smoothness s is defined as the completion of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ with respect to the norm (1).

Recall that the smoothed anisotropic norm function $[\tau, \eta]_l$ was given by

$$[\tau, \eta]_l = \omega(|\tau, \eta|_l) + (1 - \omega(|\tau, \eta|_l))|\tau, \eta|_l$$

with the anisotropic norm function $|\tau, \eta|_l = (|\tau|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{1/2l}$, where $\omega(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+)$ was supposed to be a cut-off function, cf. (1.1.3).

Replacing $[\tau, \eta]_l$ by equivalent functions we obtain equivalent norms on $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$, so, for instance, we will use the functions $(\tau, \eta) \mapsto \langle \tau, \eta \rangle_l := (1 + |\tau|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{1/2l}$ or $(\tau, \eta) \mapsto ([\tau]^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{1/2l}$ with $[\tau] = \omega(|\tau|) + (1 - \omega(|\tau|))|\tau|$. Moreover, if q = 0, i.e., the spatial wedge has dimension 0, then we have obviously

$$\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}_t, E) = \mathcal{W}^{s/l}(\mathbb{R}_t, E).$$

Note that the anisotropic wedge Sobolev spaces are Banach spaces. As usually we write $H^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ if we have $\kappa_{\lambda} = \mathrm{id}_E$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$. With $E = \mathbb{C}$ we get the scalar version of anisotropic Sobolev spaces, which we denote by $H^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$.

Remark 2 The isotropic case l=1 is contained in our considerations. We will also need this special case here especially for distributions depending only on spatial or only on time variables. Then we will omit the index l in the notation, that means we write, for instance, $\mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}_t, E) = \mathcal{W}^{s,1}(\mathbb{R}_t, E)$. This notation meets the original one introduced by Schulze [Su1].

Remark 3 Analogously to the isotropic case (cf. [Su1], Section 3.1), the operator $T = \mathcal{F}_{(\tau,\eta)\to(t,y)}^{-1} \kappa^{-1}(\tau,\eta) \mathcal{F}_{(t,y)\to(\tau,\eta)}$ extends by continuity to an isometry

$$T: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \to H^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E).$$
 (2)

This gives us the possibility to define $W^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{V})$ for subspaces $\mathcal{V} \subset E$ which are not necessary preserved under κ_{λ} by $W^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{V}) := T^{-1}H^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{V})$.

Lemma 4 For all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ the space $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ is dense in $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$.

Proof: By definition we only have to prove, that $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ is dense with respect to the norm (1) in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$. The isotropic case l = 1 was treated, for instance, in [Su1], so that we have to show the assertion for l > 1.

Using the inequality $[\tau, \eta]_l \leq c[\tau, \eta]_1$ we have $||u||_{s,l} \leq ||u||_{s,1}$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and every $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$. Thus the isotropic case implies the anisotropic case.

Example 5 In our applications we are dealing with the case of $\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})$ -valued distributions. As in Section 1.3 we take $\kappa_{\lambda}u(r) = \lambda^{\frac{n+1}{2}}u(\lambda r)$ as associated group action. Then we have from Definition 1 the Banach spaces $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}))$. Setting $s = \gamma = 0$ we get the Hilbert space $\mathcal{W}^{0,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^{0,0}(X^{\wedge})) = \mathcal{W}^0(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^0(X^{\wedge}))$, which is independent of the anisotropy l. The corresponding scalar product is given by

$$(u,v)_0 = \int (\mathcal{F}u(\tau,\eta), \mathcal{F}v(\tau,\eta))_{\mathcal{K}^0(X^{\wedge})} d\tau d\eta.$$

Of course, the space $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, C_0^{\infty}(X^{\wedge})) = C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \times X^{\wedge})$ is dense in $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge}))$ for every $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, such that the form $(\cdot, \cdot)_0 : C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \times X^{\wedge}) \times C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q} \times X^{\wedge}) \to \mathbb{C}$ extends to a non–degenerate sesquilinear form

$$(\cdot,\cdot): \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})) \times \mathcal{W}^{-s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^{-s,-\gamma}(X^{\wedge})) \to \mathbb{C}$$

for all $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and all $l \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. This allows us to introduce formal adjoints A^* of operators

$$A: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{K}^{s,\gamma}(X^{\wedge})) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \mathcal{K}^{s-\nu,\gamma-\mu}(X^{\wedge}))$$

that are continuous operators

$$A^*: \mathcal{W}^{-s+\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^{-s+\nu,-\gamma+\mu}(X^{\wedge})) \to \mathcal{W}^{-s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\mathcal{K}^{-s,-\gamma}(X^{\wedge}))$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Remark 6 As in the isotropic case, cf. [Hi1], there exists a canonical embedding $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ given by $\langle u, \phi \rangle = \int u(t, y) \phi(t, y) dt dy$ with $u(t, y) \in \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ and $\phi(t, y) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$.

Corollary 7 An E-valued tempered distribution u(t,y) belongs to the anisotropic wedge Sobolev space $W^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},E)$ iff $\mathcal{F}u(\tau,\eta)$ is measurable and $||u||_{s,l} < \infty$.

The next theorem is central for anisotropic wedge Sobolev spaces, because it shows, that an anisotropic space may be viewed as an isotropic space with values in another isotropic space. Therefore it allows us to generalise the properties of isotropic spaces to anisotropic ones.

Lemma 8 Let E be a Banach space with group action κ_{λ} . Then for each $l \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ we get by

$$\chi_{\lambda} u(y) = \kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}} \lambda^{q/2l} u(\lambda^{1/l} y), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

a group action on $W^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, if κ_{λ} is unitary on E^0 then the resulting χ_{λ} is unitary on $W^0(\mathbb{R}^q, E^0)$.

Proof: Let us first note $\mathcal{F}_{y\to\eta}\{\chi_{\lambda}u(y)\}=\mathcal{F}_{y\to\eta}\{\kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}}\lambda^{q/2l}u(\lambda^{1/l}y)\}=\kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}}\lambda^{-q/2l}\mathcal{F}_{y\to\eta}u(\lambda^{-1/l}\eta)$. This gives

$$\begin{split} \|\chi_{\lambda}u\|_{\mathcal{W}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{q},E)}^{2} &= \int [\eta]^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} \{\chi_{\lambda}u(y)\}\|_{E}^{2} d\eta \\ &= \int [\eta]^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1} \kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}} \lambda^{-q/2l} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} u(\lambda^{-1/l} \eta)\|_{E}^{2} d\eta \\ &= \int [\lambda^{1/l} \eta]^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\lambda^{1/l} \eta]}^{-1} \kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} u(\eta)\|_{E}^{2} d\eta. \end{split}$$

This shows that χ_{λ} is unitary on $\mathcal{W}^0(\mathbb{R}^q, E^0)$ if κ_{λ} is unitary on E^0 . In order to prove that χ_{λ} is a group action on $\mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)$ we show $\|u - \chi_{\lambda}u\|_{\mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)} \to 0$ for $\lambda \to 1$. To this end we use Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem. Of course,

$$[\eta]^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta}(u - \chi_{\lambda} u)(\eta)\|_{E}^{2} = [\eta]^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1} (\mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} u(\eta) - \kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}} \lambda^{-q/2l} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} u(\lambda^{-1/l} \eta))\|_{E}^{2s}$$

tends to zero for $\lambda \to 1$, since κ_{λ} is a group action. Moreover, we have

$$\|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1}(\mathcal{F}u(\eta) - \kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}}\lambda^{-q/2l}\mathcal{F}u(\lambda^{-1/l}\eta))\|_{E} \leq \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1}\mathcal{F}u(\eta)\|_{E} + \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1}\kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}}\lambda^{-q/2l}\mathcal{F}u(\lambda^{-1/l}\eta))\|_{E},$$

such that it remains to check that $[\eta]^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\eta]}^{-1} \kappa_{\lambda^{1/l}} \lambda^{-q/2l} \mathcal{F} u(\lambda^{-1/l} \eta))\|_E^2$ is L_1 for $\lambda \in [\frac{1}{2}, 2]$. But this holds, since $\frac{[\eta] \lambda^{1/l}}{[\lambda^{1/l} \eta]}$ is bounded and bounded away from zero.

Theorem 9 Let us associate to $W^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)$ the group action χ_{λ} given in Lemma 8. Then we have $W^{s/l}(\mathbb{R}, W^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)) = W^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$.

Proof: Since $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^q, E) = \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^q, E))$ we only have to check the equivalence of the corresponding norms. Let $U(t) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^q, E))$ be given as (U(t))(y) = u(t, y) with $u(t, y) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$. Then we have

$$||u||_{s,l} \sim \left\{ \int \int (|\tau|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{s/l} ||\kappa_{([\tau]^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{1/2l}}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{(t,y) \to (\tau,\eta)} u(\tau,\eta)||_E^2 d\tau d\eta \right\}^{1/2},$$

where \sim means equivalence of norms. Moreover, for the corresponding U we have

$$||U||_{s/l} \sim \left\{ \int [\tau]^{2s/l} ||\chi_{[\tau]}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{t \to \tau} U(\tau)||_{\mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)}^2 d\tau \right\}^{1/2}$$

Now with $\langle \eta \rangle := (1 + |\eta|^{2l})^{1/2l}$ we compute

$$\begin{split} \|U\|_{s/l}^{2} &\sim \int [\tau]^{2s/l} \int \langle \eta \rangle^{2s} \|\kappa_{\langle \eta \rangle}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} \{\chi_{[\tau]}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{t \to \tau} u(\tau, y)\}\|_{E}^{2} d\eta d\tau \\ &= \int \int ([\tau]^{2} + [\tau]^{2} |\eta|^{2l})^{s/l} \|\kappa_{\langle \eta \rangle}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{y \to \eta} \{\kappa_{[\tau]^{1/l}}^{-1} [\tau]^{-q/2l} \mathcal{F}_{t \to \tau} u(\tau, [\tau]^{-1/l} y)\}\|_{E}^{2} d\eta d\tau \\ &= \int \int ([\tau]^{2} + ([\tau]^{1/l} |\eta|)^{2l})^{s/l} \|\kappa_{\langle \eta \rangle}^{-1} [\tau]^{q/2l} \mathcal{F}_{(t,y) \to (\tau,\eta)} u(\tau, [\tau]^{1/l} \eta)\|_{E}^{2} d\eta d\tau \\ &= \int \int ([\tau]^{2} + |\eta|^{2l})^{s/l} \|\kappa_{([\tau]^{2} + |\eta|^{2l})^{1/2l}}^{-1} \mathcal{F}_{(t,y) \to (\tau,\eta)} u(\tau, \eta)\|_{E}^{2} d\eta d\tau \sim \|u\|_{s,l}^{2}, \end{split}$$

which is the desired equivalence.

Corollary 10 Let E be a Banach space with group action κ_{λ} and assumme that E' is a continuously embedded subspace of E connected with the group action $\kappa'_{\lambda} = \kappa_{\lambda}|_{E'}$. Then there are continuous embeddings

$$\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{s',l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E')$$

for all $s' \geq s$.

Proof: The isotropic case is proven, for instance, in [Su11] Proposition 1.3.30. Using this twice we get first continuous emmbeddings

$$\mathcal{W}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{q}, E) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^{q}, E')$$

and then

$$\mathcal{W}^{s/l}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{W}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{q}, E)) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{s'/l}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{W}^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^{q}, E'))$$

for all $s' \geq s$. But then the assertion follows from Theorem 9.

Definition 11 Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ be open and $K \subset\subset \Omega$ be compact. Then we define

$$\mathcal{W}_{K}^{s,l}(\Omega,E) := \{ u \in \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},E) : \text{supp } u \subseteq K \},$$

$$\mathcal{W}_{comp}^{s,l}(\Omega,E) := \bigcup_{K \subset \subset \Omega} \mathcal{W}_{K}^{s,l}(\Omega,E),$$

$$\mathcal{W}_{loc}^{s,l}(\Omega,E) := \{ u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},E) : \omega u \in \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},E) \text{ for all } \omega \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega) \}.$$

3.2 Mapping properties

Theorem 1 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ be an open set and $a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{q+1};E,\widetilde{E})$ be an anisotropic operator-valued symbol of order $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega;E,\widetilde{E})$ the associated pseudo-differential operator. Then $\operatorname{Op}(a) : \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\Omega,E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}_{loc}(\Omega,\widetilde{E})$ is continuous for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

The proof will be given in terms of a tensor product argument using the two following lemmata.

Lemma 2 For every $v \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$ the operator $M: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \ni \phi \mapsto v\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ has a unique continuous extension to $M: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$. Furthermore, the map $M: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}) \ni v \mapsto M \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E))$ is continuous for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof: Let $v(t,y) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$ and $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$, then (1.1.8) and (1.1.11) imply

$$\begin{split} \|M_{v}\phi\|_{s,l}^{2} &= \int [\tau,\eta]_{l}^{2s} \left\|\kappa_{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}^{-1} \mathcal{F}(v\phi)(\tau,\eta)\right\|_{E}^{2} d\tau d\eta \\ &= \int [\tau,\eta]_{l}^{2s} \left\|\kappa_{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}^{-1} \int \mathcal{F}v(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta') \mathcal{F}\phi(\tau',\eta') d\tau' d\eta'\right\|_{E}^{2} d\tau d\eta \\ &\leq c_{1} \int \int [\tau,\eta]_{l}^{2s} \left\|\kappa_{\frac{[\tau',\eta']_{l}}{[\tau,\eta]_{l}}}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(E)}^{2} |\mathcal{F}v(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta')|^{2} \left\|\kappa_{[\tau',\eta']_{l}}^{-1} \mathcal{F}\phi(\tau',\eta')\right\|_{E}^{2} d\tau' d\eta' d\tau d\eta \\ &\leq c^{2|s|} c_{2} \int \int [\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta']_{l}^{2(M+|s|)} |\mathcal{F}v(\tau-\tau',\eta-\eta')|^{2} d\tau d\eta [\tau',\eta']_{l}^{2s} \left\|\kappa_{[\tau',\eta']_{l}}^{-1} \mathcal{F}\phi(\tau',\eta')\right\|_{E}^{2} d\tau' d\eta' \\ &\leq C_{v} c^{|2s|} c_{2} \int [\tau',\eta']_{l}^{2s} \left\|\kappa_{[\tau',\eta']_{l}}^{-1} \mathcal{F}\phi(\tau',\eta')\right\|_{E}^{2} d\tau' d\eta' = C \|\phi\|_{s,l}^{2}, \end{split}$$

and hence also the extension $M_v: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ is continuous. Moreover, $C_v \to 0$ for $v \to 0$ within $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$ which gives the second part of the lemma.

Lemma 3 Let $a(\tau,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ be an anisotropic operator-valued symbol with constant coefficients of order $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\operatorname{Op}(a) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ the associated pseudo-differential operator. Then $\operatorname{Op}(a) : \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \widetilde{E})$ is a continuous map for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, and we have $\|\operatorname{Op}(a)\| \leq \sup_{(\tau,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}} [\tau,\eta]_l^{-\nu} \|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\tau,\eta)a(\tau,\eta)\kappa(\tau,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} =: p_{0,0}^{(\nu)}(a).$

Proof: Since $(\operatorname{Op}(a)u)(t,y)$ belongs to $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},\widetilde{E})$ for all $u \in \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},E)$ we only have to check $\|\operatorname{Op}(a)u\|_{s-\nu,l} \leq p_{0,0}^{(\nu)}(a)$. But the symbol estimates yields

$$\begin{split} \|\mathrm{Op}(a)u\|_{s-\nu,l}^2 &= \int [\tau,\eta]_l^{2(s-\nu)} \|\tilde{\kappa}_{[\tau,\eta]_l}^{-1} a(\tau,\eta) \mathcal{F} u(\tau,\eta)\|_{\widetilde{E}}^2 \, d\tau \, d\eta \\ &= \int [\tau,\eta]_l^{2(s-\nu)} \|\tilde{\kappa}_{[\tau,\eta]_l}^{-1} a(\tau,\eta) \kappa_{[\tau,\eta]_l} \kappa_{[\tau,\eta]_l}^{-1} \mathcal{F} u(\tau,\eta)\|_{\widetilde{E}}^2 \, d\tau \, d\eta \\ &\leq \int (p_{0,0}^{(\nu)}(a))^2 [\tau,\eta]_l^{2s} \|\kappa_{[\tau,\eta]_l}^{-1} \mathcal{F} u(\tau,\eta)\|_E^2 \, d\tau \, d\eta \\ &= (p_{0,0}^{(\nu)}(a))^2 \|u\|_{s,l}^2 \end{split}$$

as desired.

Proof: (of Theorem 1) For every $K \subset\subset \Omega$ there exists a function $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ such that $\phi(t,y) \equiv 1$ in a neighbourhood of K. We want to prove that for every fixed $K \subset\subset \Omega$ with such a $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and arbitrary $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ the operator

$$M_{\psi}\operatorname{Op}(a)M_{\phi}: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, \widetilde{E})$$
 (1)

is continuous for all $a(t, y, t', y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{q+1}; E, \widetilde{E})$

Because of $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) = C^{\infty}(\Omega) \widehat{\otimes}_{\pi} S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \widehat{\otimes}_{\pi} C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ we have the representation $a(t,y,t',y',\tau,\eta) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \lambda_j b_j(t,y) a_j(\tau,\eta) d_j(t',y')$, where $b_j \to 0$ and $d_j \to 0$ in $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$, $a_j \to 0$ in $S^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^{q+1}; E, \widetilde{E})$ and $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \in l_1$.

Thus we obtain

$$M_{\psi}\mathrm{Op}(a)M_{\phi} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{j} M_{\psi b_{j}} \mathrm{Op}(a_{j}) M_{\phi d_{j}},$$

3.3 Global spaces 31

where $\psi b_j \to 0$ and $\phi d_j \to 0$ in $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Therefore, we get by Lemma 2 and Lemma 3

$$\begin{split} \|M_{\psi}\operatorname{Op}(a)M_{\phi}u\|_{s-\nu,l} &= \|\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\lambda_{j}M_{\psi b_{j}}\operatorname{Op}(a_{j})M_{\phi d_{j}}u\|_{s-\nu,l} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty}|\lambda_{j}|\,\|M_{\psi b_{j}}\|\,\|\operatorname{Op}(a_{j})\|\,\|M_{\phi d_{j}}\|\,\|u\|_{s,l} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty}|\lambda_{j}|c_{\psi b_{j}}p_{0,0}^{(\nu)}(a_{j})c_{\phi d_{j}}\|u\|_{s,l}. \end{split}$$

The convergence of $\{c_{\psi b_j}\}$, $\{c_{\phi d_j}\}$ and $\{p_{0,0}^{(\nu)}(a_j)\}$ implies, in particular, boundedness, which gives the continuity of (1).

Like in Section 1.3 we deal with the case of Fréchet spaces E and \widetilde{E} , which have representations as projective limits of Banach spaces, where the associated group actions satisfy the corresponding compatibility conditions.

In this case we also set $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}) := \operatorname{Op}(S^{\nu,l}(\Omega^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E}))$ for arbitrary open $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ and define $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) = \lim_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E_k)$ as well as

$$\mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\Omega, E) = \lim_{\substack{\longleftarrow \\ k \in \mathbb{N}}} \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\Omega, E_k) \text{ and } \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{loc}(\Omega, E) = \lim_{\substack{\longleftarrow \\ k \in \mathbb{N}}} \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{loc}(\Omega, E_k).$$

We then obtain the following mapping property for pseudo-differential operators with symbols that have values in $\mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})$.

Theorem 4 If E and \widetilde{E} are Fréchet spaces with above properties, then every $A \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E})$ has a unique extension to a linear continuous operator $A: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\Omega, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}_{loc}(\Omega, \widetilde{E})$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

3.3 Global spaces

Let us now form the global abstract wedge Sobolev spaces in the anisotropic set—up. To this end we assume that we have a Hilbert space E and a Hilbert space E^0 equipped with a unitary group action $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}\in\mathbb{R}_+}$. Moreover, we suppose $E\subseteq E^0$ or $E^0\subseteq E$ and κ_{λ} restricts or extends to a group action on E. For this pair of spaces we further assume the existence of an isomorphism $a:E\to E^0$ such that the map $\lambda\mapsto\kappa_{\lambda}a\kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}$ belongs to $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathcal{L}(E,E^0))$.

As before (cf. 2.3) we start with a diffeomorphism $\chi_1: U \to \widetilde{U}$ that induces by $\chi(t,y) = (t,\chi_1(y))$ a diffeomorphism $\chi: \mathbb{R} \times U \to \mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}$. Then the pull-back of E-valued distributions

$$\chi^* : \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E) \to \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R} \times U, E)$$
 (1)

is given by $\langle \chi^* u, \varphi \rangle = \langle u, (\chi*)^{-1} \varphi \rangle$ for $u \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E)$ and $\varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R} \times U)$.

These relations allow us to state the following proposition that can be proven completely analogous in the isotropic case (cf. [Su10]).

Proposition 1 The pull-back (1) of E-valued distributions (1) restricts to continuous mappings

$$\chi^*: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\mathbb{R} \times U, E)$$
$$\chi^*: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{loc}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{loc}(\mathbb{R} \times U, E)$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Next, we fix on the smooth compact manifold Y a finite atlas $\{\widetilde{U}_j, \widetilde{\chi}_j\}_{j=1}^N$ with charts $\widetilde{\chi}_j : \widetilde{U}_j \to U_j \subset \mathbb{R}^q$ and a subordinate partition of unity $\{\phi_j\}_{j=1}^N$. With

$$u \mapsto \|u\|_{\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E)} := \sum_{i=1}^{N} \| (\chi_j^*)^{-1} (\phi_j u) \|_{s,l}$$
 (2)

we then get a norm in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E)$. Here χ_j^* is the pull-back with respect to $\chi_j: \mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U} \to \mathbb{R} \times U$ defined by $\chi_j(t,y) = (t, \widetilde{\chi}_j(y))$. In the sequel we will also write $\|\cdot\|_{s,l}$ instead of $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E)}$.

Definition 2 The global abstract anisotropic wedge Sobolev space $W^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y, E)$ of smoothness $s \in \mathbb{R}$ is the completion of $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}\times Y, E)$ with respect to (2).

From Proposition 1 it follows that another choice of data $\widetilde{U}_j, \chi_j, \phi_j$ yields an equivalent norm on $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E)$.

Of course, we have $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)\subset \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)$ for all $s\in\mathbb{R}$. The space $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)$ is then the subspace of all distributios $u\in\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)$ with compact support in $\mathbb{R}\times Y$; and $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)$ is the space of all $u\in\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)$ with $\varphi u\in\mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\mathbb{R}\times Y,E)$ for all $\varphi\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}\times Y)$.

Proposition 3 Every $A \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ extends for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$ to a continuous map $A : \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}_{loc}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E}).$

Proof: By definition we have a representation

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \phi_j ((\chi_j)_*^{-1} A_j) \psi_j + C$$

with $A_j \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times U_j; E, \widetilde{E})$ for all j = 1, ..., N and $C \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ (cf. 2.3 Definition 4). Since C is smoothing, we can restrict the consideration to the first part of the sum. But for this part we can use Proposition 1 and the local mapping property 3.2 Theorem 1 to check the commutativity of the diagram

$$\mathcal{W}_{comp}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}_{j}, E) \xrightarrow{(\chi_{j})_{*}^{-1}} A_{j} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{W}_{loc}^{s-\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{U}_{j}, \widetilde{E})} \\
(\chi_{j}^{*})^{-1} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \chi_{j}^{*} \uparrow \\
\mathcal{W}_{comp}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times U_{j}, E) \xrightarrow{A_{j}} \mathcal{W}_{loc}^{s-\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times U_{j}, \widetilde{E})$$

for every j = 1, ..., N, and this gives the assertion.

4 Parameter-dependent ellipticity

4.1 Parameter-dependent pseudo-differential operators

The definitions and results from the preceding sections have a parameter-dependent variant, where the covariables $(\tau, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ in the operator-valued symbols are to be replaced by (ζ, η) with $\zeta = \tau + i\vartheta \in \mathbb{C}$, and $\vartheta = \text{Im } \zeta$ plays the role of a further anisotropic parameter.

Recall that for $(\zeta, \eta) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}$ we also have an anisotropic norm function

$$|\zeta,\eta|_l = (|\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}},$$

and the corresponding smoothed version is given by

$$[\zeta, \eta]_l := \omega(|\zeta, \eta|_l) + (1 - \omega(|\zeta, \eta|_l))|\zeta, \eta|_l.$$

Here $\omega(r)$ is a cut-off function, cf. (1.1.3). As above we set $\kappa(\zeta, \eta) = \kappa_{[\zeta, \eta]_l}$ for a group κ_{λ} , $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, acting in some Banach space E.

Definition 1 Let $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$, $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^p$ be open and $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- := \{ \zeta = \tau + i\vartheta \in \mathbb{C} : \vartheta \leq 0 \}$. Then the space

$$S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, \widetilde{E}) \tag{1}$$

is defined as the set of all $a(y,\zeta,\eta) \in C^{\infty}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, \mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E}))$ satisfying

$$\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)\{D_{y}^{\alpha}D_{\eta}^{\beta'}D_{\tau}^{\beta_{01}}D_{\vartheta}^{\beta_{02}}a(y,\zeta,\eta)\}\kappa(\zeta,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} \le c[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-|\beta|_{l}}$$
(2)

for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^p$, $\beta = (\beta_{01}, \beta_{02}, \beta') \in \mathbb{N}^2 \times \mathbb{N}^q$ and all $y \in K$ for arbitrary compact $K \subset\subset U$ and all $(\zeta, \eta) \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q$ with constants $c = c(\alpha, \beta, K) \geq 0$; here $|\beta|_l = l(\beta_{01} + \beta_{02}) + |\beta'|$ for $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{2+q}$.

The elements of $S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ are called parameter-dependent symbols (or amplidude functions) with parameter $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$. There is a trivial modification of Definition 1 leading to time-dependent amplitude functions denoted by $S^{\nu,l}(\Omega \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{p_0} \times \mathbb{R}^p$ is an open set, cf. 1.1 Definition 5.

We will not repeat here the standard properties of these symbol spaces, that are analogous to those of Section 1.1. In particular, we have the corresponding versions of 1.1 Lemma 6, 1.1 Lemma 7 and 1.1 Remark 9. Moreover, the symbol estimates (2) give

$$S^{-\infty}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}) := S^{-\infty, l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}) = C^{\infty}(U, \mathcal{S}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))),$$

where $\mathcal{S}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ denotes the space of restrictions of elements of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}^q, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ to $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q$. Note that the substitution $\varsigma = \varsigma^l$ allows us to replace the parameter space $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ by $\Sigma = \{\varsigma = \varrho e^{i\varphi} \in \mathbb{C} : 0 \le \varphi \le \pi/l\}$ as it was done in [AV]. For instance, the symbol estimates (2) then take the form

$$\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\varsigma,\eta)\{D_y^\alpha D_{\mathrm{Re}\ \varsigma,\mathrm{Im}\ \varsigma,\eta}^\beta a(y,\varsigma,\eta)\}\kappa(\varsigma,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} \leq c[\varsigma,\eta]^{\nu-|\beta|}$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^p$, $\beta = (\beta_0, \beta') \in \mathbb{N}^2 \times \mathbb{N}^q$ and all $y \in K$ for arbitrary compact $K \subset\subset U$ and all $(\varsigma, \eta) \in \Sigma \times \mathbb{R}^q$ with constants $c = c(\alpha, \beta, K) \geq 0$; here $[\varsigma, \eta] := [\varsigma, \eta]_1$ which is also involved in $\kappa(\varsigma, \eta)$ and $\tilde{\kappa}(\varsigma, \eta)$, respectively.

In the anisotropic parameter-dependent setting we also have an analogue of homogeneity in the operator-valued sense namely

$$f(\lambda^l \zeta, \lambda \eta) = \lambda^{\nu} \tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda} f(\zeta, \eta) \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}$$

for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and all $(\zeta, \eta) \in (\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q) \setminus \{0\}$. We then get a natural notion of classical symbols in (ζ, η) . An element $a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ is called classical if there exists a sequence $a_{(\nu-j)}(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in C^{\infty}(U \times U \times (\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q) \setminus \{0\}; \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})), \ j \in \mathbb{N}$, satisfying

$$a_{(\nu-j)}(y,y',\lambda^l\zeta,\lambda\eta) = \lambda^{\nu-j} \tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda} a_{(\nu-j)}(y,y',\zeta,\eta) \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}$$

for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, all $(y, y') \in U \times U$ and all $(\zeta, \eta) \in (\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q) \setminus \{0\}$, such that

$$a(y,y',\zeta,\eta) - \sum_{i=0}^{N} \chi(\zeta,\eta) a_{(\nu-j)}(y,y',\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\nu-(N+1),l}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, \widetilde{E})$$

for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\chi(\zeta, \eta)$ is an arbitrary excision function. The $a_{(\nu-j)}(y, y', \zeta, \eta)$, called anisotropic $(\nu-j)$ -homogeneous components, are uniquely determined by the symbol $a(y, y', \zeta, \eta)$. In particular, we set $\sigma_{\wedge}^{\nu}(a)(y, y', \zeta, \eta) := a_{(\nu)}(y, y', \zeta, \eta)$ for the operator-valued principal symbol. The subspace of all classical symbols will be denoted by $S_{cl}^{\nu,l}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$. Analogously to 1.2 Remark 3 we obtain, that smooth operator-valued functions that are anisotropic homogeneous in the operator-valued sense for large $[\zeta, \eta]_l$ are classical parameter-dependent symbols.

Let us now introduce the associated parameter-dependent pseudo-differential operators, first in local form and with time-independent symbols. For open $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^q$ every $a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{C}_+)$

 \mathbb{R}^q ; E, \widetilde{E}) gives a ζ -dependent family of symbols in $S^{\nu}(U \times U \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$. This allows us to form the corresponding parameter-dependent pseudo-differential operators $\operatorname{Op}_u(a)(\zeta)$

$$\left(\operatorname{Op}_{y}(a)(\zeta)\right)u(y) = \int \int e^{i(y-y')\eta}a(y,y',\zeta,\eta)u(y')dy'd\eta \tag{3}$$

for $u(y) \in C_0^{\infty}(U, E)$ which defines a family of mappings

$$\operatorname{Op}_{u}(a)(\zeta): C_{0}^{\infty}(U, E) \to C^{\infty}(U, \widetilde{E})$$

that can be extended in the standard way to a family of operators between suitable vector—valued Sobolev spaces.

Denote by $\Psi^{\nu,l}_{(cl)}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ the space of parameter–dependent pseudo–differential operators which is the set of all $\operatorname{Op}_{y}(a)(\zeta)$, cf. formula (3), for arbitrary $a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}_{(cl)}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, \widetilde{E})$. Furthermore, we set

$$\begin{split} \Psi^{-\infty}(U;E,\widetilde{E};\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}) &:= \bigcap_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}} \Psi^{\nu,l}(U;E,\widetilde{E};\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}) \\ &= \mathcal{S}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-};\Psi^{-\infty}(U;E,\widetilde{E})) \\ &= \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{C};\Psi^{-\infty}(U;E,\widetilde{E}))|_{\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}}, \end{split}$$

with \mathbb{C} identified with $\mathbb{R}^2 \ni (\tau, \vartheta)$.

Similarly as above we can introduce the spaces of operator–valued distributions

$$T^{\nu,l}(U\times U\times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-\times \mathbb{R}^q;E,\widetilde{E}):=\mathcal{F}_{\eta\to\sigma}^{-1}\left(S^{\nu,l}(U\times U\times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-\times \mathbb{R}^q;E,\widetilde{E})\right).$$

In other words, $T^{\nu,l}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ consists of all elements

$$K(a)(y, y', \zeta, \sigma) := \int e^{i\sigma\eta} a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) d\eta, \tag{4}$$

for arbitrary $a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(U \times U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, \widetilde{E})$, and

$$K_{\text{Op}}(a)(\zeta)(y, y', \zeta) = K(a)(y, y', \zeta, \sigma)|_{\sigma = y - y'}$$

is then the ζ -dependent family of (operator-valued) distributional kernels of $\operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta)$. The singular support of $K_{\operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta)}$ is contained in $\operatorname{diag}(U\times U)$ for all ζ , cf. 2.1 Proposition 3.

Definition 2 A family $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ of pseudo-differential operators is called properly supported if it is properly supported for every $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}$, and for every compact set $C \subset U$ there exists a compact set $M \subset U \times U$ with

$$(\pi_j^{-1}(C)\times\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)\cap \mathrm{supp}\ K_{\mathrm{Op}_y(a)(\zeta)}\subseteq M\times\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$$

for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}$. Here $K(a)(\zeta)$ denotes the distributional kernel of $A(\zeta)$ and $\pi_j : U \times U \to U$ means the projection to the j-th component, j = 1, 2.

Analogously to the case of anisotropic pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols we obtain the following result.

Proposition 3 Every family $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ has a decomposition $A(\zeta) = A_0(\zeta) + A_1(\zeta)$ with a properly supported $A_0(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ and an $A_1(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$.

Remark 4 Let $\phi(y), \psi(y) \in C^{\infty}(U)$ and suppose supp $\phi \cap$ supp $\psi = \emptyset$. Then $\phi A(\zeta)\psi \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ for every $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$.

Remark 5 Notice that it also makes sense to consider a real anisotropic parameter $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ instead of $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$. Also in this case we are interested in symbols $a(y, y', \tau, \eta) \in S^{\nu, l}(\mathbb{R} \times U \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$, and we get

$$\operatorname{Op}(a)u(t,y) = \operatorname{Op}_t(\operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\tau))u(t,y) := \mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1}\operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\tau)\mathcal{F}_{t' \to \tau}u(t,y),$$

first for $u(t,y) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times U, E)$ and then extended to the corresponding wedge Sobolev spaces.

Regarding the imargenary part of the parameter ζ as a further covariable we can repeat the arguments of Section 2.2 to see the algebra properties also for the parameter—dependent calculus, i.e., we have the following results.

Theorem 6 Let $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^q$ be any open set and set $U^2 = U \times U$. Then we have the following properties.

(i) Let $a_j(y,y',\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\nu_j,l}(U^2 \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}), \ j=0,1,\ldots,$ be any sequence of parameter-dependent symbols and suppose $\nu_j \to -\infty$ for $j \to \infty$. Then there exists an symbol $a(y,y',\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U^2 \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}), \ \nu := \max \nu_j, \ such \ that \ for \ every \ \mu \in \mathbb{R} \ there \ is \ an \ N(\mu) \in \mathbb{N} \ with$

$$a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) - \sum_{i=0}^{N} a_j(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\mu, l}(U^2 \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$$

for all $N \geq N(\mu)$, and a is unique modulo $S^{-\infty}(U^2 \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$,

We then write $a \sim \sum a_i$.

(ii) For every $a(y, y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U^2 \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ There exists an $\underline{a}(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ such that

$$\operatorname{Op}(a) - \operatorname{Op}(\underline{a}) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$$

holds. For \underline{a} we have the asymptotic expansion

$$\underline{a}(y,\zeta,\eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^q} \frac{1}{\alpha!} D_{y'}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} a(y,y',\zeta,\eta)|_{y'=y}.$$

(iii) For every $a(y', \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ there exists an $\tilde{a}(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ such that

$$\operatorname{Op}(a) - \operatorname{Op}(\tilde{a}) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$$

holds. For \tilde{a} we have the asymptotic expansion

$$\tilde{a}(y,\zeta,\eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^q} \frac{1}{\alpha!} D_{y'}^{\alpha} (-\partial_{\eta})^{\alpha} a(y',\zeta,\eta)|_{y'=y}.$$

(iv) Let parameter-dependent operators $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; F, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ and $B(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_y(b)(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(U; E, F; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ with $A(\zeta)$ or $B(\zeta)$ properly supported be given. Then the pointwise (in ζ) composition $AB(\zeta) = A(\zeta)B(\zeta)$ belongs to $\Psi^{\nu+\mu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ and

$$AB(\zeta) - \operatorname{Op}_{y}(a \#_{y} b)(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(\Omega; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}).$$

Here and in the sequel we set

$$(a \#_y b)(y,\zeta,\eta) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_q} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} a(y,\zeta,\eta) D_y^{\alpha} b(y,\zeta,\eta).$$

(v) An element $a(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ has a Leibniz inverse $p(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{-\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, E)$, i.e.,

$$(a \#_y p - 1)(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{-\infty}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}),$$

$$(p \#_y a - 1)(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{-\infty}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, E),$$

exactly when there exists a $b(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{-\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E},E)$ satisfying

$$(a \circ b - 1)(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{-1,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}),$$

$$(b \circ a - 1)(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{-1,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, E).$$

(vi) Let $U, \widetilde{U} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^q$ be open sets and let $\chi: U \to \widetilde{U}$ be a diffeomorphism. Then the operator push-forward $\widetilde{A}(\zeta) := \chi_* A(\zeta)$ of $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ belongs to $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\widetilde{U}; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$, and we have $\widetilde{A}(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}(\widetilde{a})(\zeta) \mod \Psi^{-\infty}(\widetilde{U}; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$, where \widetilde{a} has the asymptotic expansion

$$\tilde{a}(\chi(y), \zeta, \tilde{\eta}) \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^q} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \varphi_{\alpha}(y, \tilde{\eta}) \left(\partial_{\eta}^{\alpha} a \right) (y, \zeta, {}^t d\chi(y) \tilde{\eta})$$

where $\varphi_{\alpha}(y,\tilde{\eta})$ is polynomial in $\tilde{\eta}$ of order $\leq \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$ and $\varphi_0 \equiv 1$.

Remark 7 Note that the diffeomorphism χ in Theorem 6,(vi) does not concern the parameter such that the anisotropic behaviour plays no role in the arguments.

We will employ the parameter–dependent pseudo–differential operators in global form along the (isotropic) edge Y, where Y is a closed compact C^{∞} manifold. Notice that here was assumed that E is a Hilbert space.

First we have the global (isotropic) Sobolev spaces $W^s(Y, E)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$. The details of the precise definition can easily be red off from the above anisotropic construction by setting l=1 and replacing the involved variables by y. The time-variable varying along \mathbb{R} can be omitted. The spaces $W^s(Y, E)$ may be found in the monograph [Su10]. We also have the spaces of (isotropic) pseudo-differential operators $\Psi^{\nu}_{(cl)}(Y; E, \widetilde{E})$, $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$, with respect to pairs $\{E, \kappa_{\lambda}\}$, $\{\widetilde{E}, \widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}\}$ of Hilbert spaces with fixed strongly continuous groups of isomorphisms. Also this can easily be derived from the above definitions by omitting the time direction such that the anisotropy disappears. Note, in particular, that

$$\Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}) \cong C^{\infty}(Y \times Y; \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$$

which is independent of the particular group actions.

Theorem 8 Every $A \in \Psi^{\nu}(Y; E, \widetilde{E})$, first regarded as a continuous operator

$$A: C^{\infty}(Y, E) \to C^{\infty}(Y, \widetilde{E}),$$

extends to a continuous operator

$$W^s(Y,E) \to W^{s-\nu}(Y,\widetilde{E})$$

for each $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

This result can be proved by analogous methods as above in the more complicated anisotropic case. To introduce the global parameter–dependent pseudo–differential operators with anisotropic dependence on the parameters (τ, ϑ) we set

$$\Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}) = \mathcal{S}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}; \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, \widetilde{E})) = \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{C}; \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}))|_{\overline{\mathbb{C}}},$$

where $\Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ is endowed with its natural Fréchet topology.

Recall (cf. Section 2.3) that in order to formulate global operators on a closed compact C^{∞} manifold Y we fix an N-tuple of triples $\{((\tilde{U}_j,\chi_j),\phi_j,\psi_j)\}_{j=1}^N$, where $\{(\tilde{U}_j,\chi_j)\}_{j=1}^N$ is a fixed atlas on Y, $\{\phi_j\}_{j=1}^N$ is a subordinate partition of unity and $\{\psi_j \in C_0^{\infty}(\tilde{U}_j)\}_{j=1}^N$ N-tuple of functions satisfying $\phi_j \psi_j = \phi_j$ for all j.

Definition 9 The space $\Psi^{\nu,l}_{(cl)}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ is defined as the set of all ζ -dependent operator families that take the form

$$A(\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \left\{ \left(\chi_j^{-1} \right)_* \operatorname{Op}_y(a_j)(\zeta) \right\} \psi_j + C(\zeta), \tag{5}$$

where $a_j(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\nu,l}_{(cl)}(U_j \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}), \ U_j = \chi_j(\widetilde{U}_j), \ j = 1,\ldots,N, \ and \ C(\zeta) \ belongs \ to$ $\Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-).$

Remark 10 Again, without loss of generality we may assume the following compatibility conditions of the tuple of symbols $a_j(y,\zeta,\eta)$ in Definition 9. If $\chi_{jk}:U_k\cap\chi_k(\widetilde{U}_j\cap\widetilde{U}_k)\to U_j\cap\chi_j(\widetilde{U}_j\cap\widetilde{U}_k)$ is the system of transition diffeomorphisms to the above charts, then for the symbol push–forward of the complete symbols we have

$$a_j|_{U_j \cap \chi_j(\widetilde{U}_j \cap \widetilde{U}_k)} = (\chi_{jk})_* a_k|_{U_k \cap \chi_k(\widetilde{U}_j \cap \widetilde{U}_k)}$$

modulo $S^{-\infty}(U_j \cap \chi_j(\widetilde{U}_j \cap \widetilde{U}_k) \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ for all $j, k \in 1, \ldots, N$.

Due to Theorem 6 (ii) and (iii) we get the same classes of operators if the local amplitude functions depend on (y, y', ζ, η) or (y', ζ, η) , respectively. Moreover, it is clear that $A(\zeta_0)$ belongs to $\Psi^{\nu}_{(cl)}(Y; E, \widetilde{E})$ for every $\zeta_0 \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$.

Theorem 11 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ and $\nu, \mu \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\mu \geq \nu$ be given and set $\rho = \max\{\nu, \nu - \mu\}$. Then the inequality

$$||A(\zeta)||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y,E),\mathcal{W}^{s-\mu}(Y,\widetilde{E}))} \le c(s,\nu,A)(1+|\zeta|^{2})^{(M+\widetilde{M}+\rho)/2l}$$
(6)

holds for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$. Here M and \widetilde{M} are the constants associated to κ_{λ} and $\tilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$, respectively, according to (1.1.10).

Proof: Because of the compactness of Y it suffices to check the norm estimate (6) locally. Moreover, by construction every local operator family $A_j(\zeta)$ is uniformly (in ζ) compactly supported with respect to (y, y'), i.e., there is a compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^{2q}$ such that the support of the kernel of $A_j(\zeta)$ lies in K. Thus we only need to look at the case of (y, y')-independent symbols and the general case then follows by standard tensor product arguments, cf. [Su10] Theorem 1.2.19.

Now let $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op} - y(a)(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-), \ a(\zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E}).$ Then with $\langle \eta \rangle = (1 + |\eta|^2)^{1/2}$ we have

$$\begin{split} \|A(\zeta)u\|_{s-\mu}^2 &= \int \langle \eta \rangle^{2(s-\mu)} \|\tilde{\kappa}_{\langle \eta \rangle}^{-1} (\mathcal{F}A(\zeta)u)(\eta)\|_{\widetilde{E}}^2 d\eta \\ &\leq \int \langle \eta \rangle^{2(s-\mu)} \left\|\tilde{\kappa}_{\frac{[\zeta,\eta]_l}{\langle \eta \rangle}}\right\|^2 \left\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1} (\zeta,\eta)a(\zeta,\eta)\kappa(\zeta,\eta)\right\|^2 \left\|\kappa_{\frac{\langle \eta \rangle}{[\zeta,\eta]_l}}\right\|^2 \|\kappa_{\langle \eta \rangle}^{-1} (\mathcal{F}u)(\eta)\|_E^2 d\eta. \end{split}$$

Using $\|\tilde{\kappa}_{[\zeta,\eta]_l/\langle\eta\rangle}\| \leq c \left([\zeta,\eta]_l/\langle\eta\rangle\right)^{\widetilde{M}}$ and $\|\kappa_{\langle\eta\rangle/[\zeta,\eta]_l}\| \leq c \left([\zeta,\eta]_l/\langle\eta\rangle\right)^{M}$ and the symbol estimate $\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)a(\zeta,\eta)\kappa(\zeta,\eta)\| \leq c(a)[\zeta,\eta]_l^{\nu}$ we obtain

$$||A(\zeta)u||_{s-\mu}^2 \le \int \frac{[\zeta,\eta]_l^{2(M+\widetilde{M}+\nu)}}{\langle \eta \rangle^{2(M+\widetilde{M}+\mu)}} \langle \eta \rangle^{2s} ||\tilde{\kappa}_{\langle \eta \rangle}^{-1}(\mathcal{F}u)(\eta)||_E^2 d\eta.$$

But then we get the desired norm estimate, since the assumptions concerning μ, ν and ρ imply the inequality

$$[\zeta, \eta]_l^{M+\widetilde{M}+\nu} \le c\langle \eta \rangle^{M+\widetilde{M}+\mu} (1+|\zeta|^2)^{(M+\widetilde{M}+\rho)/2l}. \tag{7}$$

In order to see (7) we consider the inequality

$$\langle \zeta, \eta \rangle_l^{\bar{\nu}} \le c \langle \eta \rangle^{\bar{\mu}} \langle \zeta \rangle^{\frac{\bar{\rho}}{l}} \tag{8}$$

where $\tilde{\mu}, \tilde{\nu} \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tilde{\mu} \geq \tilde{\nu}$, $\tilde{\rho} = \max\{\tilde{\nu}, \tilde{\nu} - \tilde{\mu}\}$, and $\langle \zeta, \eta \rangle_l = (1 + |\zeta|^2 + |\eta|^{2l})^{\frac{1}{2l}}$. Since $\langle \zeta, \eta \rangle_l \sim [\zeta, \eta]_l$ the inequality (8) is equivalent to (7). But for $\tilde{\mu} \geq 0$, where $\tilde{\rho} = \tilde{\nu}$, we have

$$\langle \eta \rangle^{l\bar{\mu}} \langle \zeta \rangle^{\bar{\nu}} \ge \langle \eta \rangle^{l\bar{\nu}} \langle \zeta \rangle^{\bar{\nu}} \ge c \langle \zeta, \eta \rangle^{l\bar{\nu}}_{l},$$

and for $\tilde{\mu} < 0$, where $\tilde{\rho} = \tilde{\nu} - \tilde{\mu} \leq 0$, we have

$$\langle \eta \rangle^{-l\bar{\mu}} \langle \zeta \rangle^{-\bar{\rho}} = \langle \eta \rangle^{-l\bar{\mu}} \langle \zeta \rangle^{-(\bar{\nu}-\bar{\mu})} \leq c \langle \zeta, \eta \rangle_l^{-l\bar{\mu}} \langle \zeta, \eta \rangle_l^{-l(\bar{\nu}-\bar{\mu})} = c \langle \zeta, \eta \rangle_l^{-l\bar{\nu}}$$

which yields (8).

Corollary 12 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{0,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ be given and assume that the corresponding group actions κ_{λ} and $\widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$ associated to E and \widetilde{E} , respectively, are unitary. Then inserting $M = \widetilde{M} = 0$ in the above estimate (6) it follows that for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ there is a constant c = c(s) > 0 such that we have

$$||A(\zeta)||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^s(Y,E),\mathcal{W}^s(Y,\widetilde{E}))} \le c$$

for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}$.

Theorem 11 allows a further essential application. In the process of inverting a pseudo-differential operator under certain conditions we arrive at families of smoothing operators. Then it remains to invert $I+C(\zeta)$ for some $C(\zeta)\in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y;E,E;\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$. Here and in the sequel we denote by I the corresponding identity. We will invert $I+C(\zeta)$ using a Neumann series argument, such that we have to ensure that the norm of $C(\zeta)$ is sufficiently small. This will be reached by enlarging $|\zeta|$, since for $\nu<-(M+\widetilde{M}+|\mu|)$ the right hand side of (6) decreases for increasing $|\zeta|$.

Proposition 13 For every $C(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ and every $s \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists a constant c = c(s) > 0 such that the mapping

$$I + C(\zeta) : \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E)$$

is invertible for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ with $|\zeta| \geq c(s)$. Moreover, there exists an operator family $G(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ with $(I + C(\zeta))(I + G(\zeta)) = I + H(\zeta)$ with $H(\zeta) = 0$ for $|\zeta| \geq c(s)$.

Proof: We first construct $I + G_0(\zeta)$ as point—wise inverse of $I + C(\zeta)$ for sufficiently large $|\zeta|$ as a Neumann series. This is possible, since Theorem 11 yields $||C(\zeta)||_{s,s} < 1$ if $|\zeta| \ge c_0$ for some constant $c_0 = c_0(s) > 0$. Then we set $G(\zeta) = \left(1 - \omega\left(\frac{|\zeta|}{c_0}\right)\right) G_0(\zeta)$ with a cut—off function $\omega(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, [0, 1])$ with

$$\omega(r) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } 0 \le r \le 1, \\ 0 & \text{for } r \ge 2 \end{cases} . \tag{9}$$

It is obvious that $G(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E)$ for $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ and $(I + C(\zeta))(I + G(\zeta)) = I + H(\zeta)$ with $H(\zeta) = 0$ for $|\zeta| \geq c(s) = 2c_0(s)$. Moreover, we have to verify that $G(\zeta)$ is rapidely decreasing. This follows by induction, since every derivative $G^{(k)}(\zeta) = \frac{d^k}{d\zeta^k}G(\zeta)$ may be written as a sum of products of bounded functions, where at least one factor is rapidely decreasing.

Indeed, for k = 0 we have $G = -(I + C)^{-1}C$, where $C(\zeta)$ is rapidely decreasing and $(I + C(\zeta))^{-1} = I + G_0(\zeta)$ is uniformly bounded for large $|\zeta|$. This gives us

$$G^{(1)}(\zeta) = -(I + C(\zeta))^{-1}C^{(1)}(\zeta)(I + C(\zeta))^{-1} = -(I + G_0(\zeta))C^{(1)}(\zeta)(I + G_0(\zeta)).$$

By induction we then obtain that $G^{(k)}(\zeta)$ is a linear combination of compositions of $I+G_0(\zeta)$, $I+C(\zeta)$ and $C^{(n)}(\zeta)$, $n \leq k$, where every summand contains at least one factor $C^{(n)}(\zeta)$ which is rapidely decreasing.

Proposition 14 Let $C(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ be an arbitrary element and assume that

$$I + C(\zeta) : \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E)$$
 (10)

is invertible for some $s=s_0\in\mathbb{R}$ and all $\zeta\in\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$. Then (10) is invertible for all $s\in\mathbb{R}$ and all $\zeta\in\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$, and the inverse has the form $I+G(\zeta)$ with $G(\zeta)\in\Psi^{-\infty}(Y;E,E;\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$.

An analogous result holds if (10) is invertible for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ with $|\zeta| \geq c$ with some constant c > 0.

Proof: We only prove the first statement. The second one is easier, since we only have to check that the constant c(s) in Proposition 13 may be chosen uniformly for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

In order to prove the first part we set

$$G(\zeta) := -C(\zeta) + C(\zeta)(I + C(\zeta))^{-1}C(\zeta).$$

Then an easy calculation shows $(I + G(\zeta))(I + C(\zeta)) = (I + G(\zeta))(I + C(\zeta)) = I$.

Moreover, for each ζ we have to show that $G(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^r(Y,E) \to \mathcal{W}^\infty(Y,E)$ is continuous for every $r \in \mathbb{R}$. Since this is known for $C(\zeta)$ it suffices to look at $G(\zeta) + C(\zeta)$ which is the composition of $C(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^r(Y,E) \to \mathcal{W}^\infty(Y,E) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{W}^{s_0}(Y,E)$, $(I+C(\zeta))^{-1}: \mathcal{W}^{s_0}(Y,E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s_0}(Y,E)$ and $C(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^{s_0}(Y,E) \to \mathcal{W}^\infty(Y,E)$. This gives point—wise $G(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y;E,E)$. The simple arguments for $G(\zeta) \in C^\infty(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-, \Psi^{-\infty}(Y;E,E))$ will be omitted.

In a last step we have to check $G(\zeta) \in \mathcal{S}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-, \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E))$. But this follows from Proposition 13, since the uniqueness of the inverse implies that for large $|\zeta|$ the family $G(\zeta)$ equals that of Proposition 13, and we proved there that it is rapidely decreasing.

4.2 Ellipticity, parametrix construction and invertibility

We now turn to the parameter–dependent ellipticity in the class $\Psi^{\mu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}), \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}$, for open $U \subset \mathbb{R}^{q}$.

Definition 1 An element $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ is called anisotropic parameter-dependent elliptic of order $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ if for any representation of $A(\zeta)$ in the form $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_{y}(a)(\zeta) + C(\zeta)$, cf. (4.1.3), for some $a(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ and $C(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ the symbol a satisfies the following

Condition E: For every $K \subset\subset U$ there are constants R, c > 0 such that

$$a(y,\zeta,\eta)|_{U\times\{|\zeta,\eta|_I>R\}}:E\to \widetilde{E}$$

is a family of isomorphisms satisfying the inequality

$$\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)a(y,\zeta,\eta)\kappa(\zeta,\eta)u\|_{\widetilde{E}} \ge c[\zeta,\eta]_l^{\mu}\|u\|_E \tag{1}$$

for all $u \in E$, all $y \in K$ and all $(\zeta, \eta) \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q$ with $|\zeta, \eta|_l > R$.

Proposition 2 Let $a(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ be given. Then Condition E is equivalent to the existence of an element $b(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{-\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, E)$ with

$$a(y,\zeta,\eta)b(y,\zeta,\eta) - 1 \in S^{-1,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}),$$
 (2)

$$b(y,\zeta,\eta)a(y,\zeta,\eta) - 1 \in S^{-1,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, E).$$
(3)

Here 1 is the identity as constant operator-valued function and $a(y, \zeta, \eta)b(y, \zeta, \eta)$ means the point-wise composition of the operator-valued functions.

Proof: Condition E gives a point—wise inverse $(a(y,\zeta,\eta))^{-1}$ for $|\zeta,\eta|_l > R$ and we set

$$b(y,\zeta,\eta) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } |\zeta,\eta|_l \le R, \\ \chi(|\zeta,\eta|_l)(a(y,\zeta,\eta))^{-1} & \text{for } |\zeta,\eta|_l > R, \end{cases}$$

where $\chi(r) \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, [0, 1])$ is an excision function satisfying

$$\chi(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } r \le R, \\ 1 & \text{for } r \ge 2R. \end{cases}$$

Then $b(y,\zeta,\eta)$ belongs to $C^{\infty}(U\times\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}\times\mathbb{R}^{q},\mathcal{L}(\widetilde{E},E))$. It only remains to check the symbol estimates. Outside the compact set $B_{2R}^{l}:=\{|\zeta,\eta|_{l}\leq 2R\}$ we have

$$\kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)b(y,\zeta,\eta)\tilde{\kappa}(\zeta,\eta) = \kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)(a(y,\zeta,\eta))^{-1}\tilde{\kappa}(\zeta,\eta) = (\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)a(y,\zeta,\eta)\kappa(\zeta,\eta))^{-1}.$$

Let $T := \tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta, \eta) a(y, \zeta, \eta) \kappa(\zeta, \eta)$; then (1) corresponds to

$$||Tu||_{\widetilde{E}} \le c[\zeta, \eta]_l^{\mu} ||u||_E$$

for all $u \in E$. But this implies

$$\|T^{-1}v\|_{E} \leq c^{-1}[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{-\mu}\|TT^{-1}v\|_{\widetilde{E}} = c^{-1}[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{-\mu}\|v\|_{\widetilde{E}}$$

for any $v \in \widetilde{E}$ and hence

$$\|\kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)b(y,\zeta,\eta)\tilde{\kappa}(\zeta,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,\widetilde{E})} \le c^{-1}[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{-\mu}.$$
(4)

The symbol estimates for $\alpha, \beta \neq 0$ then follow by induction from (4) and the symbol estimates for $a(y, \zeta, \eta)$.

This implies $b(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{-\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, E)$. Note that differentiation with respect to τ or ϑ reduces the order of the symbol by l instead of 1. We obtain

$$ba-1=(\chi-1)1\in C^{\infty}(U,C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}\times\mathbb{R}^q,\mathcal{L}(E,E)))\subset S^{-1,l}(U\times\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}\times\mathbb{R}^q;E,E)$$

and

$$ab-1=(\chi-1)\mathbf{1}\in C^{\infty}(U,C_{0}^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}\times\mathbb{R}^{q},\mathcal{L}(\widetilde{E},\widetilde{E})))\subset S^{-1,l}(U\times\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}\times\mathbb{R}^{q};\widetilde{E},\widetilde{E}),$$

as desired.

Conversely, if there exists for the given symbol $a(y,\zeta,\eta)$ an element $b(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{-\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, E)$ with (3) we get

$$r(y,\zeta,\eta) := b(y,\zeta,\eta)a(y,\zeta,\eta) - 1 \in S^{-1,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, E)$$

such that there is a constant R_1 with $||r(y,\zeta,\eta)||_{\mathcal{L}(E,E)} < 1$ for $|\zeta,\eta|_l \geq R_1$. But then there exists $(1+r(y,\zeta,\eta))^{-1}$ point—wise as a Neumann series and $1=(1+r)^{-1}(1+r)=(1+r)^{-1}ba$ yields a left inverse of $a(y,\zeta,\eta)$ for $|\zeta,\eta|_l \geq R_1$. Analogously (2) gives the existence of a point—wise right inverse

of $a(y,\zeta,\eta)$ for $|\zeta,\eta|_l \geq R_2$ with a constant R_2 . Thus $a(y,\zeta,\eta): E \to \widetilde{E}$ is an isomorphism for $|\zeta,\eta|_l \geq \max\{R_1,R_2\}$.

Moreover, for every $K \subset\subset U$ we obtain an R = R(K) > 0 such that $\|\kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)(1+r(y,\zeta,\eta))\kappa(\zeta,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(E,E)} > c > 0$ holds for all $(y,\zeta,\eta) \in K \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q$ with $|\zeta,\eta|_l \geq R$. This implies for every $u \in E$

$$\begin{split} c\|u\|_{E} &\leq \|\kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)(1+r(y,\zeta,\eta))\kappa(\zeta,\eta)u\|_{E} \\ &= \|\kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{\mu}b(y,\zeta,\eta)\tilde{\kappa}(\zeta,\eta)\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{-\mu}a(y,\zeta,\eta))\kappa(\zeta,\eta)u\|_{E} \\ &\leq \|\kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{\mu}b(y,\zeta,\eta)\tilde{\kappa}(\zeta,\eta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\widetilde{E},E)}\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{-\mu}a(y,\zeta,\eta))\kappa(\zeta,\eta)u\|_{\widetilde{E}} \\ &\leq C\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{-\mu}a(y,\zeta,\eta))\kappa(\zeta,\eta)u\|_{\widetilde{E}}, \end{split}$$

and hence $\|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)[\zeta,\eta]_l^{-\mu}a(y,\zeta,\eta))\kappa(\zeta,\eta)u\|_{\widetilde{E}} \geq c/C\|u\|_E$. Thus Condition E is verified for $a(y,\zeta,\eta)$. \square

Corollary 3 It follows immediately from Proposition 2 that if $a = a_{\mu} + a_{\mu-1}$ is a decomposition of the given symbol a into a symbol a_{μ} of order μ and a symbol $a_{\mu-1}$ of order $\mu-1$ then a is parameter-dependent anisotropic elliptic if and only if a_{μ} has this property. Especially, the notion of parameter-dependent anisotropic ellipticity of $A(\zeta)$ is independent of the representation $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta) + C(\zeta)$.

Corollary 3 allows us to characterise parameter—dependent ellipticity of classical families of pseudo—differential operators by means of the anisotropic homogeneous principal symbol.

Proposition 4 A classical family of pseudo-differential operators $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta) + C(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}_{cl}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ is parameter-dependent elliptic if and only if the corresponding μ -homogeneous principal symbol $\sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(a)(y,\zeta,\eta) : E \to \widetilde{E}$ is invertible for all $y \in U$ and all $(\zeta,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{1+q} \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof: From the definition of classical families we have $a(y,\zeta,\eta)=\chi(\zeta,\eta)\sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(A)(y,\zeta,\eta)+a_{\mu-1}(y,\zeta,\eta)$ for an arbitrary excision function $\chi(\zeta,\eta)$ and a remainder $a_{\mu-1}(y,\zeta,\eta)\in S^{\mu-1,l}_{cl}(U\times\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-\times\mathbb{R}^q;E,\widetilde{E})$. Hence in view of Corollary 3 the ellipticity of $a(y,\zeta,\eta)$ is equivalent to the ellipticity of $a_{\mu}(y,\zeta,\eta):=\chi(\zeta,\eta)\sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(A)(y,\zeta,\eta)$.

On one hand the invertibility of $\sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(A)(y,\zeta,\eta)$ for $(\zeta,\eta) \neq 0$ implies that the operator function $a_{\mu}(y,\zeta,\eta)$ takes values in isomorphisms for $[\zeta,\eta]_l > R$ and all $y \in U$ with some constant R > 0 depending only upon the excision function χ . Moreover, the homogeneity of $a_{\mu}(y,\zeta,\eta)$ in the operator-valued sense for large $[\zeta,\eta]_l$ yields (1) for all $u \in E$, all y belonging to some compact set K and all $(\zeta,\eta) \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ with $|\zeta,\eta|_l \geq R$. Hence the highest order part a_{μ} satisfies Condition E.

On the other hand if Condition E holds for $a_{\mu}(y,\zeta,\eta)$, then the operator-valued function $\sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(A)(y,\zeta,\eta)$ consists of isomorphisms for all $(y,\zeta,\eta) \in U \times S_R$, where $S_R = (\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q) \cap \{|\zeta,\eta|_l = R\}$ denotes the anisotropic half-sphere. Choosing R large enough, we get $a_{\mu}(y,\zeta,\eta)|_{S_R^l} \equiv \sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(A)(y,\zeta,\eta)|_{S_R^l}$ such that the corresponding extension by homogeneity produces the μ -homogeneous principal symbol $\sigma^{\mu}_{\wedge}(A)(y,\zeta,\eta)$, and it is an isomorphism for all $(\zeta,\eta) \neq 0$ and arbitrary $y \in U$.

Definition 5 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ and $P(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\mu,l}(U; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ be given and assume that $A(\zeta)$ or $P(\zeta)$ is properly supported in the sense of 4.1 Definition 2. Then $P(\zeta)$ is called a parameter–dependent parametrix of $A(\zeta)$ if

$$A(\zeta)P(\zeta) - I \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}), \quad P(\zeta)A(\zeta) - I \in \Psi^{-\infty}(U; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}).$$

Proposition 6 For any $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ which is anisotropic parameter-dependent elliptic of order μ there exists a (properly supported) parametrix $P(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\mu,l}(U; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$; it is classical when $A(\zeta)$ is classical.

Proof: Without loss of generality we may assume $A(\zeta) = \operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta)$ for some $a(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ satisfying Condition E. Let $b(y,\zeta,\eta) \in S^{-\mu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; \widetilde{E}, E)$ be the symbol from Proposition 2. Then we can apply 4.1 Theorem 6,(v) and pass to a Leibniz inverse $p(y,\zeta,\eta)$ of $a(y,\zeta,\eta)$ with parameter ζ . Now applying 4.1 Proposition 3 to $\operatorname{Op}_y(p)(\zeta)$ we find the required properly supported parametrix $P(\zeta)$.

We now formulate ellipticity and parametrices for a closed compact C^{∞} manifold Y of dimension $q \in \mathbb{N}$.

Definition 7 An $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ is called anisotropic parameter-dependent elliptic of order $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ if for any representation of $A(\zeta)$ in the form (4.1.5) the local symbols a_j , $j = 1, \ldots, N$, satisfy Condition E.

Moreover, an operator family $P(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ is called a parameter-dependent parametrix of $A(\zeta)$ if

$$A(\zeta)P(\zeta) - I \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; \widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}), \quad P(\zeta)A(\zeta) - I \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}).$$

Theorem 8 For any $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ which is anisotropic parameter-dependent elliptic of order μ there exists a parametrix $P(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$.

Proof: By definition $A(\zeta)$ can be written in the form

$$A(\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \left\{ \left(\chi_j^{-1} \right)_* \operatorname{Op}_y(a_j)(\zeta) \right\} \psi_j + C(\zeta),$$

cf. 4.1 Definition 9, where we may assume $C(\zeta) = 0$. In addition we may assume the compatibility of the local symbols a_j in the sense of 4.1 Remark 10. Let us form the Leibniz inverse p_j of a_j for every j in the sense of Proposition 6. Then also the symbols p_j satisfy the corresponding compatibility condition, cf. 4.1 Theorem 6,(vi). Thus defining

$$P(\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \left\{ \left(\chi_j^{-1} \right)_* \operatorname{Op}_y(p_j)(\zeta) \right\} \psi_j,$$

we just obtain a parameter–dependent parametrix of $A(\zeta)$, which belongs to the space $\Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$, cf. analogously 2.2 Theorem 8, where we employ 4.1 Remark 4.

Let us set $T_{-i\gamma}A(\zeta) = A(\zeta - i\gamma)$ and define

$$\Psi^{\nu,l}(Y;E,\widetilde{E};\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}) := \{ T_{-i\gamma}A(\zeta) : A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(Y;E,\widetilde{E};\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}) \}.$$

Then $\Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-(\gamma+\rho)}) = \{T_{-i\rho}B(\zeta) : B(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma})\}$, and moreover, we will shortly write $\Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}) = T_{-i\gamma}\Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$.

$$\textbf{Proposition 9} \ \ A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(Y;E,\widetilde{E};\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}) \ \ \textit{implies} \ \ A(\zeta)|_{\mathrm{Im} \ \zeta \leq -\gamma} \in T_{-i\gamma}\Psi^{\nu,l}(Y;E,\widetilde{E};\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}).$$

Proof: Since every translation maps smoothing operators to smoothing operators it suffices to check the symbol estimates for the symbols of the local operators. Let an arbitrary local operator family $\operatorname{Op}_y(a)(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(U; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-), \ U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^q$, with symbol $a(y, \zeta, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$ be given. Then we have to show $T_{-i\gamma}a(y, \zeta, \eta) = a(y, \zeta - i\gamma, \eta) \in S^{\nu,l}(U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$.

It is clear that $a(y, \zeta - i\gamma, \eta)$ is a smooth $\mathcal{L}(E, \tilde{E})$ -valued function on $U \times \overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q$, such that it remains to check the symbol estimates. For lucidity we will only use (y, η) -independent symbols, the general case then follows analogously.

But then for $\zeta = \tau + i\vartheta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ and arbitrary $\beta_{01}, \beta_{02} \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)D_{\tau}^{\beta_{01}}D_{\vartheta}^{\beta_{02}}T_{-i\gamma}a(\zeta)\kappa(\zeta,\eta)\| &= \|\tilde{\kappa}^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)D_{\tau}^{\beta_{01}}D_{\vartheta}^{\beta_{02}}a(\zeta-i\gamma)\kappa(\zeta,\eta)\| \\ &= \|\tilde{\kappa}_{\frac{[\zeta-i\gamma,\eta]_{l}}{[\zeta,\eta]_{l}}}\tilde{\kappa}_{\frac{[\zeta-i\gamma,\eta]_{l}}{[\zeta,\eta]_{l}}}^{-1}D_{\tau}^{\beta_{01}}D_{\vartheta}^{\beta_{02}}a(\zeta-i\gamma)\kappa_{[\zeta-i\gamma,\eta]_{l}}\kappa_{\frac{[\zeta,\eta]_{l}}{[\zeta-i\gamma,\eta]_{l}}}\| \\ &\leq c[\gamma,0]_{l}^{M+\widetilde{M}}[\zeta-i\gamma,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-l(\beta_{01}+\beta_{02})} \\ &< C\gamma^{(M+\widetilde{M}+|\nu-l(\beta_{01}+\beta_{02})|)/l}[\zeta,\eta]_{l}^{\nu-l(\beta_{01}+\beta_{02})} \end{split}$$

by (1.1.11) and Peetre's inequality (1.1.8).

Theorem 10 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ be anisotropic parameter-dependent elliptic of order μ . Then there exists a constant $\gamma > 0$ such that

$$A(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\mu}(Y, \widetilde{E})$$
 (5)

is invertible for all $|\zeta| \geq \gamma$ and all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof: Applying Theorem 8 we find a parametrix $P(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ to $A(\zeta)$. This gives us

$$P(\zeta)A(\zeta) = I + C(\zeta) \tag{6}$$

for $C(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$. From 4.1 Proposition 13 we conclude that $I + C(\zeta)$ is invertible as operator in $\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y, E)$ for a fixed $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $|\zeta| \geq \gamma(s)$. Then by 4.1 Proposition 14 we get invertibility for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and γ independent upon s, and there exists a $G(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ such that $(I + G(\zeta))(I + C(\zeta)) = I$ for all $|\zeta| \geq \gamma$. Then (6) implies $(I + G(\zeta))P(\zeta)A(\zeta) = I$ for all $|\zeta| \geq \gamma$, in other words $A(\zeta)$ is invertible in $\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y, E)$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $B(\zeta) = (I + G(\zeta))P(\zeta)$ belongs to $\Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ and equals $A^{-1}(\zeta)$ for $|\zeta| \geq \gamma$.

Remark 11 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ satisfy the conditions of Theorem 10 and γ be the corresponding constant. Then $(A(\zeta)|_{\operatorname{Im}} \zeta \leq -\gamma)^{-1} \in T_{-i\gamma}\Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$.

In the sequel we assume, that we have a Hilbert space E and a Hilbert space E^0 associated with an unitary group action $\{\kappa_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}\in\mathbb{R}_+}$. Moreover, we assume $E\subseteq E^0$ or $E^0\subseteq E$ and κ_{λ} restricts or extends to a group action on E. For such a pair of spaces we define the following condition.

Condition R: There exists an isomorphism $a: E \to E^0$ with the property $\kappa_{\lambda} a \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{L}(E, E^0))$.

Remark 12 Set $a(\lambda) = \kappa_{\lambda} a \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}$ for some $a : E \to E^0$ from Condition R. Then the family of the (point–wise) inverses $a^{-1}(\lambda) = \kappa_{\lambda} a^{-1} \kappa_{\lambda}^{-1}$ belongs to $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{L}(E^0, E))$.

In fact, to see this we use that $a(\lambda)a^{-1}(\lambda) = \mathrm{id}_{E^0}$ implies

$$\frac{d^n}{d\lambda^n}a^{-1}(\lambda) = -a^{-1}(\lambda)\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}\binom{n}{k}\left(\frac{d^k}{d\lambda^k}a(\lambda)\right)\left(\frac{d^{n-k}}{d\lambda^{n-k}}a^{-1}(\lambda)\right) + \left(\frac{d^n}{d\lambda^n}a(\lambda)\right)a^{-1}(\lambda)\right).$$

Thus the smoothness of $a^{-1}(\lambda)$ follows by induction from the smoothness of $a(\lambda)$ and the continuity of $a^{-1}(\lambda)$. In order to show the continuity of $a^{-1}(\lambda)$ we write

$$a(\lambda) = a(\lambda_0)(1 - a^{-1}(\lambda_0)(a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda)))$$

which is possible for all $\lambda, \lambda_0 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ since $a(\lambda)$ is a family of isomorphisms. Moreover,

$$||a^{-1}(\lambda_0)(a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda))|| < ||a^{-1}(\lambda_0)|| ||a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda)||$$

is small for small $|\lambda_0 - \lambda|$ by the continuity of $a(\lambda)$. Hence we can invert $a(\lambda)$ using the corresponding Neumann series for $1 - a^{-1}(\lambda_0)(a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda))$ and obtain

$$a^{-1}(\lambda) = \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(a^{-1}(\lambda_0)(a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda))\right)^j\right) a^{-1}(\lambda_0)$$
$$= a^{-1}(\lambda_0) + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(a^{-1}(\lambda_0)(a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda))\right)^j\right) a^{-1}(\lambda_0).$$

But then we have

$$||a^{-1}(\lambda) - a^{-1}(\lambda_0)|| \leq \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(a^{-1}(\lambda_0) (a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda)) \right)^j \right\| ||a^{-1}(\lambda_0)||$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\| a^{-1}(\lambda_0) (a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda)) \right\|^j ||a^{-1}(\lambda_0)||$$

$$= \frac{\left\| a^{-1}(\lambda_0) (a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda)) \right\| ||a^{-1}(\lambda_0)||}{1 - ||a^{-1}(\lambda_0) (a(\lambda_0) - a(\lambda))||}$$

$$\leq C(\lambda_0) ||a(\lambda) - a(\lambda_0)||$$

with some constant $C(\lambda_0) > 0$ which gives the continuity of a^{-1} .

Example 13 Let us set $E^0 = L^2(\mathbb{R}^m)$, $E = H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$ for some fixed $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{m/2}u(\lambda x)$. Then Condition R is satisfied, since we can take $a = \operatorname{op}_x(p)$ for the symbol $p(\xi) = (1 + |\xi|^2)^{s/2}$. In fact, an easy calculation shows $\kappa_{\lambda}\operatorname{op}_x(p)\kappa_{\lambda}^{-1} = \operatorname{op}_x(p_{\lambda})$ with $p_{\lambda}(\xi) = p\left(\frac{\xi}{\lambda}\right)$. It is clear that thean $\frac{\partial^k}{\partial \lambda^k}p_{\lambda}$ is also a symbol of order s.

Lemma 14 Assume E, E^0 are Hilbert spaces with a group action κ_{λ} satisfying Condition R. Then for every $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ there exist an parameter-dependent operator-valued symbol $a^{\mu}(\zeta, \eta) \in S_{cl}^{\mu,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}; E, E^{0})$ that gives isomorphisms $a^{\mu}(\zeta, \eta) : E \to E^{0}$ for all $(\zeta, \eta) \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}$.

Proof: Set $a^{\mu}(\zeta,\eta) = [\zeta,\eta]_l^{\mu} \kappa(\zeta,\eta) a \kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)$ which belongs to $C^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q; \mathcal{L}(E,E^0))$ in view of Condition R . Of course, $a^{\mu}(\zeta,\eta)$ is an isomorphism for every fixed $(\zeta,\eta) \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q$ with inverse $[\zeta,\eta]_l^{-\mu} \kappa(\zeta,\eta) a^{-1} \kappa^{-1}(\zeta,\eta)$. Moreover, an easy calculation shows, that it is anisotropic μ -homogeneous in the operator-valued sense for large $|\zeta,\eta|_l$, which yields $a^{\mu}(\zeta,\eta) \in S_{cl}^{\mu,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, E^0)$.

Corollary 15 Under the conditions of Lemma 14 for every order $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists an anisotropic parameter-dependent elliptic operator $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, E^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ such that

$$A(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\mu}(Y, E^0)$$

is an isomorphism for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}$.

Moreover, the (point-wise for all ζ) inverse $A^{-1}(\zeta)$ is of analogous structure of order $-\mu$.

Indeed, defining $A_0(\zeta)$ locally as $\operatorname{Op}_y(a)$ with $a(\zeta,\eta)$ given as in Lemma 14 and globalising with respect to Y we obtain an operator family that satisfies the conditions of Theorem 10. Hence $A(\zeta) = A_0(\zeta - i\gamma)$ is an operator family with the desired properties.

Let us fix an order $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and choose a parameter–dependent elliptic element $R^s(\zeta) \in \Psi^{s,l}(Y;E,E^0;\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ with the properties of Corollary 15. Then we can define a parameter–dependent norm in the space $\mathcal{W}^s(Y,E)$ of the form

$$||u||_{\mathcal{W}^s(Y,E)_{\mathcal{L}}} := ||R^s(\zeta)u||_{\mathcal{W}^0(Y,E^0)}$$

 $W^s(Y, E)$ endowed with this parameter–dependent norm will be denoted by $W^s(Y, E)_{\zeta}$. It is clear that for every fixed $\zeta = \zeta_0$ we have

$$||u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y,E)_{\zeta_{0}}} \sim ||u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y,E)}$$

(where \sim means equivalence of norms). Moreover, the parameter–dependent norms are independent of the particular choice of $R^s(\zeta)$. In other words, if $\widetilde{R}^s(\zeta)$ is another order reducing family with the above properties, we have for suitable constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$

$$c_1 \| R^s(\zeta) u \|_{\mathcal{W}^0(Y, E^0)} \le \| \widetilde{R}^s(\zeta) u \|_{\mathcal{W}^0(Y, E^0)} \le c_2 \| R^s(\zeta) u \|_{\mathcal{W}^0(Y, E^0)}$$

for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$. In fact,

$$\begin{split} \|\widetilde{R}^{s}(\zeta)u\|_{\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0})} &= \|\widetilde{R}^{s}(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)R^{s}(\zeta)u\|_{\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0})} \\ &\leq \|\widetilde{R}^{s}(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0}))} \|R^{s}(\zeta)u\|_{\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0})}. \end{split}$$

But now we can apply 4.1 Corollary 12 which implies $\|\widetilde{R}^s(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^0(Y,E^0))} \leq c$ for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ with some constant c > 0.

Theorem 16 Let E, E^0 and $\widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}^0$ be Hilbert spaces with group actions κ_{λ} and $\widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda}$, respectively, and suppose that Condition R is satisfied. Then every $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ induces a family of continuous operators

$$A(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu}(Y, \widetilde{E}),$$

 $s \in \mathbb{R}$, satisfying

$$||A(\zeta)u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s-\nu}(Y,\widetilde{E})_{\zeta}} \le C||u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y,E)_{\zeta}}$$

for all $u \in W^s(Y, E)$ with a constant C independent of ζ .

Proof: We only have to check the boundedness of $A(\zeta)$ with respect to the parameter-dependent norm. But this follows from

$$\begin{split} \left\|A(\zeta)u\right\|_{\mathcal{W}^{s-\nu}(Y,\widetilde{E})_{\zeta}} &= \left\|\widetilde{R}^{s-\nu}(\zeta)A(\zeta)u\right\|_{\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,\widetilde{E}^{0})} \\ &= \left\|\widetilde{R}(\zeta)^{s-\nu}A(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)R^{s}(\zeta)u\right\|_{\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,\widetilde{E}^{0})} \\ &\leq \left\|\widetilde{R}(\zeta)^{s-\nu}A(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0}),\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,\widetilde{E}^{0}))} \left\|R^{s}(\zeta)u\right\|_{\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0})} \\ &\leq C\|u\|_{\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y,E)_{\zeta}}. \end{split}$$

Here we used that in view of 4.1 Theorem 6,(iv) $\widetilde{R}(\zeta)^{s-\nu}A(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)$ belongs to $\Psi^{0,l}(Y;E^0,\widetilde{E}^0;\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ and is uniformly bounded with respect to ζ , cf. 4.1 Corollary 12.

Proposition 17 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ be parameter-dependent anisotropic elliptic. Then for arbitrary $s \in \mathbb{R}$ there are constants $c, \gamma > 0$ such that the estimate

$$||u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s+\mu}(Y,E)_{\zeta}} \le c||A(\zeta)u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s}(Y,\widetilde{E})_{\zeta}}$$

holds for all $|\zeta| \geq \gamma$.

Proof: Applying Theorem 10 the anisotropic parameter–dependent ellipticity implies the existence of an element $B(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\mu,l}(\widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ which equals $A^{-1}(\zeta)$ for $|\zeta| > \gamma$ for some $\gamma > 0$. But then for any $u \in \mathcal{W}^{s+\mu}(Y, E)_{\zeta}, |\zeta| > \gamma$, the assertion follows from $||u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s+\mu}(Y, E)_{\zeta}} = ||B(\zeta)A(\zeta)u||_{\mathcal{W}^{s+\mu}(Y, E)_{\zeta}}$.

For the scalar case, i.e., when $E = \widetilde{E} = \mathbb{C}$, our results generalise corresponding observations in the paper [AV]. Consider a closed compact C^{∞} manifold X and let $\Psi^{\mu,l}(X,\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ be the anisotropic parameter–dependent class of pseudo–differential operators on X of order μ . The Sobolev spaces are

here the standard ones, namely $H^s(X)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$. It is then well known that for every $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists an element $R(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(X,\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ such that

$$R(\zeta): H^s(X) \to H^{s-\mu}(X)$$

is an isomorphism for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$. This allows us to introduce parameter dependent norms within the Sobolev spaces, namely

$$||u||_{H^s(X)_{\zeta}} = ||R^s(\zeta)u||_{H^0(X)}.$$

Again we denote the corresponding spaces by $H^s(X)_{\zeta}$ and it is clear that the norm is independent of the choice of $R^s(\zeta)$ up to equivalence.

Agranovič, Višik [AV] used on $H^s(X)$ for $s \in \mathbb{N}$ the parameter–dependent norm $u \mapsto ||u||_{H^s(X)} + |\zeta|^s ||u||_{H^0(X)}$. We shall show that this norm is equivalent to that defined in this section.

Lemma 18 For all $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$ ther are constants c, C > 0 such that we have

$$c||u||_{H^{s}(X)_{\mathcal{L}}} \le ||u||_{H^{s}(X)} + |\zeta|^{s}||u||_{H^{0}(X)} \le C||u||_{H^{s}(X)_{\mathcal{L}}} \tag{7}$$

Proof: The first part is nothing else than the mapping property of the corresponding order reduction. To see the second we obtain for $0 \le s' \le s$

$$||u||_{H^{s'}(X)_{\zeta}} = ||R^{s'}(\zeta)u||_{H^{0}(X)} = ||R^{s'}(\zeta)R^{-s}(\zeta)R^{s}(\zeta)u||_{H^{0}(X)}$$

$$\leq ||R^{s'-s}(\zeta)||_{\mathcal{L}(H^{0}(X))}||R^{s}(\zeta)u||_{H^{0}(X)}$$

$$\leq C_{s',s}(1+|\zeta|)^{s'-s}||R^{s}(\zeta)u||_{H^{0}(X)}$$

$$\leq C_{s',s}(1+|\zeta|)^{s'-s}||u||_{H^{s}(X)_{\zeta}}, \tag{8}$$

which follows from 4.1 Theorem 11 for $E = \tilde{E} = \mathbb{C}$ and l = 1, since $R^{s'-s}(\zeta)$ gives by definition a continuous mapping

$$R^{s'-s}(\zeta): H^0(X) \to H^{s-s'}(X) \hookrightarrow H^0(X).$$

Using $||u||_{H^s(X)} \le c_s ||u||_{H^s(X)_{\zeta}}$ and (8) for s' = 0 we get

$$||u||_{H^{s}(X)} + (1 + |\zeta|)^{s} ||u||_{H^{0}(X)} \leq c_{s} ||u||_{H^{s}(X)_{\zeta}} + C_{0,s} ||u||_{H^{s}(X)_{\zeta}}$$

$$\leq C ||u||_{H^{s}(X)_{\zeta}},$$

which is the right hand side of (7).

Note that (8) implies the often used interpolation inequality

$$|\zeta|^{s-s'} ||u||_{H^{s'}(X)} \le C_{s',s} (||u||_{H^s(X)} + |\zeta|^s ||u||_{H^0(X)})$$

for $0 \le s' \le s$; but here s and s' need not to be natural numbers.

4.3 Application to parabolic differential operators

In this section we shall apply the parameter–dependent calculus of the previous sections to treat parabolic differential operators on infinite cylinders $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y$, $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ = [0, \infty)$, where Y is a closed compact q–dimensional C^{∞} manifold without boundary. In local coordinates the differential operator A in consideration will have the form

$$A(y, D_t, D_y) = a_0 D_t - \sum_{|\alpha| \le l} a_\alpha(y) D_y^\alpha$$

$$\tag{1}$$

where $a_0 \in \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})$ and $a_{\alpha}(y) \in C^{\infty}(Y, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ are given such that the corresponding symbol

$$a(y, \tau, \eta) = a_0 \tau - \sum_{|\alpha| < l} a_{\alpha}(y) \eta^{\alpha}$$

belongs to $S^{l,l}(\mathbb{R}^q \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ (even classical) with Hilbert spaces $E, \ \widetilde{E}$ belonging to Gelfand triples $(E, E^0, E'; \kappa_{\lambda})$ and $(\widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}^0, \widetilde{E}'; \widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda})$ with unitary group actions, respectively, given as above, cf. 1.3.

Then the operator A belongs to the space $\Psi_{cl}^{l,l}(\mathbb{R}\times Y;E,\widetilde{E})$ but its symbol does not depend on the time variable $t\in\mathbb{R}$, and in view of Section 3.3 A extends to a continuous operator

$$A: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{comp}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-l,l}_{loc}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E})$$

for arbitrary $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Note that because of the compactness of Y the subscripts comp and loc only refer to the time variable. Moreover, since the coefficients of the operator do not depend on t we can extend A to an operator

$$A: \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-l,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, \widetilde{E}).$$

In order to specify the mapping properties with respect to the infinite time cylinder $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y$ we introduce anisotropic Sobolev spaces with some weight $\gamma > 0$ describing the behaviour of the corresponding distribution for t tending to infinity.

To this end, we form $\mathcal{W}_0^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ as the subspace of all distributions in $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q$ and topologise this space with the induced Banach topology.

Lemma 1 For all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ we have:

- (i) The space $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ is dense in $\mathcal{W}_0^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$.
- $(ii) \ \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E) \ is \ a \ closed \ subspace \ of \ \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E).$

Proof: To (i): For given $u(t,y) \in \mathcal{W}_0^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ and any $\delta > 0$ we set $u_{\delta}(t,y) := u(t-\delta,y)$. Then we have supp $u_{\delta} \subseteq [\delta, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^q$ and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem yields $||u-u_{\delta}||_{s,l} \to 0$ for $\delta \to 0$. Next, in view of 3.1 Lemma 4 we approximate u_{δ} as element of $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ with a sequence of smooth functions with compact support. Since $u_{\delta} \equiv 0$ for $t < \delta$ we can choose a subsequence supported in \mathbb{R}_+ that approximates u_{δ} and this gives the assertion.

To (ii): Let $\{u_n\} \subset \mathcal{W}_0^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ and $u \in \mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ with $||u - u_n||_{s,l} \to 0$ for $n \to \infty$ be given. We have to check supp $u \subseteq \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q$.

In view of (i) we have sequences $\{\phi_k^n\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \subset C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ with $\phi_k^n \to u_n$ for $k \to \infty$. Then an easy diagonal argument gives a sequence $\{\phi_{k(n)}^n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ tending to u within $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$. Remember that the elements of $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ belong to $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E) = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}), E)$. Then our convergence means

$$u(\psi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int \phi_{k(n)}^n(t, y) \psi(t, y) dt dy$$

for every $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$.

But then choosing some arbitrary $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q})$ with supp $\psi \subset (-\infty,0) \times \mathbb{R}^q$ we get

$$\int \phi_{k(n)}^{n}(t,y)\psi(t,y)dtdy = 0$$

for every n and hence $u(\psi) = 0$ that is the desired property.

In order to use the results of Sections 4.1 and 4.2 we convert the time–dependent operator via Fourier–Laplace transformation \mathcal{L} into a parameter–dependent pseudo–differential operator. This transformation is given by the formula

$$\mathcal{L}_{t\to\zeta}u(\zeta,y):=\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}e^{-it\zeta}u(t,y)dt.$$

Proposition 2 For any Banach space F let $S_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+,F)$ be the subspace of all elements in $S(\mathbb{R},F)$ supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$. Then $\hat{u}(\zeta)$ is the Fourier-Laplace transform of $u(t) \in S_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+,F)$ if and only if $\hat{u}(\zeta)$ is holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_- , smooth in $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$, and for all $m,k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a constant C = C(m,k) > 0 such that the inequality

$$(1+|\zeta|)^m ||D_{\zeta}^k u(\zeta)||_F \le C$$

holds for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}$.

The proof is completely analogous to the scalar case treated in [Es1] and will be omitted here.

Using the Fourier-Laplace transformation we can form pseudo-differential operators with symbols where the covariable corresponding to the time runs over subsets of the complex plane. Remember that in view of the Paley-Wiener theorem the Fourier transform of a smooth function with compact support may be extended analytically into the complex plane and for functions supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$ this is nothing else than its Fourier-Laplace transform. Multiplying the resulting function by some convenient symbol and transforming back gives a pseudo-differential operation. In order to do that we need a further condition concerning the order reduction.

Condition H: For every $s \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists an element $r(\zeta, \eta) \in S^{s,l}_{cl}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, E^0)$ which is holomorphic for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_-$ and parameter–dependent anisotropic elliptic.

Corollary 3 Condition H implies the existence of an order reduction $R^s(\zeta) \in \Psi^{s,l}(Y; E, E^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ that is holomorphic for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_-$.

In fact, according to the notation of (4.1.5) we can form

$$R^{s}(\zeta) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \phi_{j} \left\{ \left(\chi_{j}^{-1} \right)_{*} \operatorname{Op}_{y}(r_{j})(\zeta + i\gamma_{0}) \right\} \psi_{j} + C(\zeta)$$

for $\gamma_0 \geq 0$ which is parameter—dependent elliptic with parameter $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ and holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_- . Then applying 4.2 Corollary 15 the operator

$$R^s(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^0(Y, E^0)$$

is an isomorphism for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}$ as soon as γ_0 is sufficiently large.

In the sequel we allways assume that we have Gelfand triples $(E, E^0, E', \kappa_{\lambda})$ and $(\widetilde{E}, \widetilde{E}^0, \widetilde{E}', \widetilde{\kappa}_{\lambda})$, respectively, satisfying the Condition H with resulting order reductions $R^s(\zeta)$ and $\widetilde{R}^s(\zeta)$.

Lemma 4 Let $R^s(\zeta) \in \Psi^{s,l}(Y; E, E^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ be an order reduction following from Condition H. Then $D^j_{\zeta}R^s(\zeta) \in \Psi^{s-jl,l}(Y; E, E^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$, and there are constants c, M > 0 such that for $\rho = \max\{s - jl, 0\}$

$$||D_{\zeta}^{j}R^{s}(\zeta)||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{W}^{s-jl,l}(Y,E),\mathcal{W}^{0}(Y,E^{0}))} \le c(1+|\zeta|^{2})^{(\rho+M)/2l}$$
(2)

holds for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof: Since $R^s(\zeta)$ is holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_- we can form $D^j_{\zeta}R^s(\zeta)$ and it belongs to $\Psi^{s-jl,l}(Y;E,E^0;\overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$. This follows immediately from the symbol estimates. The norm estimate (2) follows from 4.1 Theorem 11. Here we set $\mu = s - jl$ and $\widetilde{M} = 0$ since κ_{λ} is supposed to be unitary on E^0 .

Example 5 Setting $E = H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\widetilde{E} = H^{s-\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ endowed with the standard group actions $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{\frac{n}{2}}u(\lambda x), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we form $R^{\mu}(\zeta)$ according to the notation of 4.1 Definition 9 as

$$R^{\mu}(\zeta) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \phi_j \left\{ (\chi_j^{-1})_* \operatorname{Op}_y(r_j)(\zeta) \right\} \psi_j$$

with

$$r_j(\zeta, \eta) = \text{op}_x \left((1 + i\zeta + |\xi|^l + |\eta|^l + |\beta|)^{\frac{\mu}{l}} \right)$$

where $\beta \in \mathbb{R}^b$ is an extra parameter that will be chosen below. The powers are defined by the branch of the logarithm in $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ which is real for real arguments.

We then obtain an operator family

$$R^{\mu}(\zeta): \mathcal{W}^{s}(Y, H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\mu}(Y, H^{s-\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))$$

that becomes an isomorphism for sufficiently large $|\beta|$, for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ and all $s \in \mathbb{R}$. After fixing this β we get $R^{\mu}(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y, H^s(\mathbb{R}^n), H^{s-\mu}(\mathbb{R}^n); \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ for all s. In particular, inserting $\mu = s$ we obtain an order reduction in the sense of Condition H.

Proposition 6 The operator $\operatorname{Op}_t(R^s) := \mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1} R^s(\tau) \mathcal{F}_{t \to \tau}$ gives an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Op}_{t}(R^{s}): \mathcal{W}_{0}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}_{0}^{0}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E^{0})$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof: It suffices to invert the order reduction locally since then it remains to invert $I + C(\zeta)$ with some $C(\zeta) \in \Psi^{-\infty}(Y; E, E^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ which can be done with the help of 4.1 Proposition 14. For simplicity we will denote for the moment the local order reduction also by $R^s(\zeta)$.

We have $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^q, E) = \mathcal{W}^{s/l}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E))$ such that $\operatorname{Op}_t(R^s)$ at least extends to a continuous map $\operatorname{Op}_t(R^s): \mathcal{W}^{s/l}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)) \to \mathcal{W}^{0/l}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{W}^0(\mathbb{R}^q, E^0)) = \mathcal{W}^0(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^q, E^0)$ since it is an anisotropic pseudo-differential operator of order s with coefficients independent of $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore it remains to prove that $\operatorname{Op}_t(R^s)$ maps distributions supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$ to distributions supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$. Since in view of Lemma 1 the space $\mathcal{S}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, \mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E))$ is dense in $\mathcal{W}_0^{s/l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, \mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E))$ we can restrict our considerations to $\mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E)$ -valued rapidely decreasing functions supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$.

Using Proposition 2 we obtain that the Fourier transform $\hat{u}(\tau)$ of an element $u(t) \in \mathcal{S}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, \mathcal{W}^s(\mathbb{R}^q, E))$ possesses an analytic extension $\hat{u}(\zeta)$ into the lower complex half–plane that satisfies

$$||D_{\zeta}^{\bar{k}}u(\zeta)||_{F} \le C_{\bar{k},\bar{m}}(1+|\zeta|)^{-\bar{m}}$$
(3)

for all $\tilde{k}, \tilde{m} \in \mathbb{N}$ with some constant $C_{\bar{k},\bar{m}} > 0$.

Because of Condition H and the $(\zeta$ -wise) mapping property of R^s the function $\hat{v}(\zeta) := R^s(\zeta)\hat{u}(\zeta)$ is analytic in the lower complex half-plane and takes values in $\mathcal{W}^0(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^q, E^0)$. So by Proposition 2 $\mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1}\hat{v}|_{\mathrm{Im}\ \zeta=0} = \mathrm{Op}_t(R^s)u$ belongs to $\mathcal{S}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+, \mathcal{W}^0(\mathbb{R}^q, E^0))$ if the inequality

$$(1+|\zeta|)^m \|D_{\zeta}^k \hat{v}(\zeta)\|_F \le C \tag{4}$$

holds for all $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-}$ and arbitrary $m, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

To check this inequality we only have to remark that $D_{\zeta}^k \hat{v}(\zeta) = D_{\zeta}^k(R^s(\zeta)\hat{u}(\zeta))$ is a finite linear combination of terms of the form $D_{\zeta}^j R^s(\zeta) D_{\zeta}^{k-j} \hat{u}(\zeta)$. But in view of (2) and (3) and choosing \tilde{m} sufficiently large we get (4).

Finally recall that an order reduction is a family of isomorphisms. Hence we can form $(R^s(\zeta))^{-1}$ (for every $\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$) which is also an analytic family of isomorphisms. Therefore $\operatorname{Op}_t((R^s)^{-1})$ is the inverse operator of $\operatorname{Op}_t(R^s)$ which completes the proof.

Definition 7 For any weight $\gamma > 0$ we define the abstract weighted Sobolev space

$$\mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+}\times\mathbb{R}^{q},E)$$

on the half-space $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q$ as the set of all $u(t,y) \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}, E)$ such that $e^{-\gamma t}u(t,y)$ belongs to $\mathcal{W}_0^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$. We endow $\mathcal{T}_{\gamma}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{s,l;\gamma}$ given by

$$||u||_{s,l;\gamma} := ||e^{-\gamma t}u||_{s,l} = \left\{ \int [\tau,\eta]_l^{2s} ||\kappa^{-1}(\tau,\eta) \mathcal{F}\{e^{-\gamma t}u\}(\tau,\eta)||_E^2 d\tau d\eta \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (5)

Lemma 8 For all $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, $\gamma > 0$, we have:

- (i) The space $\mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ is a Banach space, that is Hilbertisable.
- (ii) The space $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$ is dense in $\mathcal{T}_{\gamma}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^q, E)$.

Proof: To (i): The completeness of $\mathcal{T}_{\gamma}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$ follows immediately from the completeness of $\mathcal{W}_{0}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$. In order to obtain a scalar product we set

$$(u, v)_{s,l;\gamma} := (e^{-\gamma t}u, e^{-\gamma t}v)_{s,l}$$

where $(\cdot,\cdot)_{s,l}$ denotes the scalar product in $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q},E)$.

To (ii): For arbitrary $u \in \mathcal{T}_{\gamma}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$ we set $v := e^{-\gamma t}u$. Then v belongs to $\mathcal{W}_{0}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$ and $\|u\|_{s,l;\gamma} = \|v\|_{s,l}$. Using (i) of Lemma 1, namely the density of $C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$ in $\mathcal{W}_{0}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$, there is e sequence $(\phi_{n}) \subset C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$ such that $\|\phi_{n} - v\|_{s,l} \to 0$ for $n \to \infty$. But then setting $\psi_{n} = e^{\gamma t}\phi_{n}$ we obtain $\psi_{n} \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{q}, E)$ and $\|\psi_{n} - u\|_{s,l;\gamma} = \|e^{-\gamma t}(\psi_{n} - u)\|_{s,l} = \|\phi_{n} - v\|_{s,l} \to 0$ for $n \to \infty$.

Furthermore, we have for the smooth compact C^{∞} manifold Y the spaces $\mathcal{W}^{s,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y, E)$ as well as $\mathcal{W}_0^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E)$ such that we can form the anisotropic abstract weighted Sobolev spaces

$$\mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E) := e^{\gamma t} \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E)$$

on the infinite time cylinder $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y$ with base Y.

Notice that supposing E^0 as Hilbert space the above definitions give

$$\mathcal{T}_0^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E^0) = \mathcal{W}_0^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E^0) = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+ \times Y, E^0),$$

since the corresponding group action is unitary, and the Fourier-Laplace transform of some function belonging to this space is nothing else than the analytic extension of its Fourier transform into the lower complex half-plane. So there should be an analogue of the Paley-Wiener theorem, which is our next goal.

Definition 9 For $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\gamma \geq 0$ the space $\mathbb{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \times Y, E)$ consists of all $\hat{u}(\zeta) : \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \to \mathcal{W}^s(Y, E)$ holomorphic for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_{-\gamma}$ such that

$$||u||_{\mathcal{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}\times Y,E)}:=\sup_{\vartheta\leq -\gamma}\left\{\int ||\hat{u}(\tau+i\vartheta)||^2_{\mathcal{W}^s(Y,E)_{\zeta}}d\tau\right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}<\infty.$$

holds. Here we set $\mathbb{C}_{-\gamma} = \{\zeta \in \mathbb{C} : \text{Im } \zeta < -\gamma\}$ and $\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}$ is the corresponding closure.

With this definition we obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 10 For all $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, $\gamma \geq 0$, the space $\mathcal{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \times Y, E)$ is isometric to $\mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E)$ and the isomorphism is given by the Fourier-Laplace transformation.

Corollary 11 Theorem 10 implies that $\mathbb{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \times Y, E)$ is Banach and since E is a Hilbert space, even Hilbertsable. Moreover, the space $\mathcal{L}(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times Y), E)$ is dense in $\mathbb{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \times Y, E)$.

In order to prove Theorem 10 we need as a proposition the following vector-valued version of the Paley-Wiener theorem. It characterises the set of Fourier transforms of all L^2 -functions supported in \mathbb{R}_+ . We follow here the proof of Rudin in [Ru] Theorem 19.2, where it was shown for scalar L^2 -functions.

Proposition 12 Let H be an arbitrary Hilbert space. Then $\mathcal{F}(L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, H))$ is the space of all H-valued functions $\hat{u}(\tau)$ with the following conditions:

- (i) \hat{u} possesses an analytic extension into \mathbb{C}_{-} .
- (ii) There is a constant C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{\vartheta < 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\hat{u}(\tau + i\vartheta)\|_{H}^{2} d\tau \le C \tag{6}$$

holds.

Proof: Remember that $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, H)$ denotes the subspace of all functions $u(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)$ supported in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$. For all such functions and $\zeta = \tau + i\vartheta \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-$ the analytic extension of the Fourier transform (if it exists) is given by the formula

$$\hat{u}(\zeta) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-it\zeta} u(t)dt = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-it\zeta} u(t)dt = \mathcal{L}u(\zeta). \tag{7}$$

Since $|e^{-it\zeta}| = e^{t\vartheta}$ and $t\vartheta \leq 0$ for $t \geq 0$ and $\vartheta \leq 0$ the second integral in (7) exists for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_-$. Let now $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_\delta := \{ \text{Im } \zeta < -\delta \}$ for some $\delta > 0$ be given. Then for any sequence $\zeta_n \subset \mathbb{C}_\delta$ with $\zeta_n \to \zeta$ we get

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\hat{u}(\zeta_n) - \hat{u}(\zeta)\|_H = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left\| \int_0^\infty (e^{-it\zeta_n} - e^{-it\zeta}) u(t) dt \right\|_H \\
\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\int_0^\infty |e^{-it\zeta_n} - e^{-it\zeta}|^2 dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)} = 0$$

since the integral $\int_0^\infty |e^{-it\zeta_n} - e^{-it\zeta}|^2 dt$ tends to 0 for $\zeta_n \to \zeta$ because the integrand is bounded by $4e^{-2\delta t}$ and tends to zero for every t > 0. Thus \hat{u} is continuous in \mathbb{C}_- . But then Fubini's and Cauchy's theorems imply

$$\int_{\Pi} \hat{u}(\zeta) d\zeta = \int_{\Pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-it\zeta} u(t) dt d\zeta = 0$$

for every closed path Π in \mathbb{C}_{-} . Hence \hat{u} is holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_{-} by Morera's theorem. Further, using Plancherel's formula for an arbitrary fixed $\vartheta = \operatorname{Im} \zeta < 0$ we get

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\hat{u}(\tau + i\vartheta)\|_{H}^{2} d\tau = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{t \to \tau} \{e^{t\vartheta} u(t)\}\|_{H}^{2} d\tau
= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2t\vartheta} \|u(t)\|_{H}^{2} dt
\leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|u(t)\|_{H}^{2} dt = \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, H)}^{2}$$

which gives the second claim.

On the other hand for given \hat{u} with (i) and (ii) we are looking for $u(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, H)$ such that $\hat{u}(\zeta) = \mathcal{L}u(\zeta)$. To this end we consider the integral

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{it(\tau+i\vartheta)} \hat{u}(\tau+i\vartheta) d\tau$$

and prove that it does not depend on ϑ for $\vartheta < 0$. First for fixed $\vartheta_0 < 0$ Cauchy's theorem gives

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\alpha}} e^{it\zeta} \hat{u}(\zeta) d\zeta = 0 \tag{8}$$

for the rectangular path Γ_{α} with vertices $\pm \alpha + i$ and $\pm \alpha + i\vartheta_0$. Setting

$$\Phi(\beta) := \int_{\beta + i}^{\beta + i\vartheta_0} e^{it\zeta} \hat{u}(\zeta) d\zeta$$

and $I = [\vartheta_0, -1]$ for $\vartheta_0 < -1$ or $I = [-1, \vartheta_0]$ for $\vartheta_0 > -1$ we get

$$\|\Phi(\beta)\|_H^2 = \left\| \int_I e^{it(\beta+i\vartheta)} \hat{u}(\beta+i\vartheta) d\vartheta \right\|_H^2 \le \int_I \|\hat{u}(\beta+i\vartheta)\|_H^2 d\vartheta \int_I e^{2t\vartheta} d\vartheta.$$

For $\Lambda(\beta) := \int_I \|\hat{u}(\beta + i\vartheta)\|_H^2 d\vartheta$ we obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Lambda(\beta) d\beta \le C \frac{|\vartheta_0 + 1|}{2\pi}.$$

Here we used (ii) and Fubini's theorem. Hence there is a sequence α_j with $\alpha_j \to \infty$ and $\Lambda(\alpha_j) + \Lambda(-\alpha_j) \to 0$ for $j \to \infty$. This gives us altogether

$$\Phi(\alpha_i) \to 0 \text{ and } \Phi(-\alpha_i) \to 0$$
 (9)

for $j \to \infty$ and this holds for all $\vartheta_0 < 0$ and the α_j may be chosen independently of ϑ_0 .

Now setting

$$v_j(\vartheta,t) := \int_{-\alpha_j}^{\alpha_j} e^{it\tau} \hat{u}(\tau + i\vartheta) d\tau$$

from (8) and (9) it follows that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \left(e^{-t\vartheta} v_j(\vartheta, t) - e^t v_j(-1, t) \right) = 0. \tag{10}$$

Next we write $\hat{u}_{\vartheta}(\tau)$ for $\hat{u}(\tau + i\vartheta)$ and by hypothesis we have $\hat{u}_{\vartheta} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)$. Then Plancherel's formula gives us

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \|\mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1} \hat{u}_{\vartheta}(t) - v_{j}(\vartheta, t)\|_{H}^{2} dt = 0.$$

But this implies that there is a subsequence of $\{v_j(\vartheta,t)\}$ converging pointwise a.e. to $\mathcal{F}_{\tau\to t}^{-1}\hat{u}_{\vartheta}(t)$.

Now we define $u(t) := e^t \mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1} \hat{u}_{-1}(t)$ and (10) yields

$$u(t) = e^{-t\vartheta} \mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1} \hat{u}_{\vartheta}(t). \tag{11}$$

Note that by definition u(t) does not depend on ϑ . Moreover, (11) holds for every $\vartheta \leq 0$. Again by Plancherel's formula we have

$$||e^{t\vartheta}u||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{t},H)} = ||\mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1}\hat{u}_{\vartheta}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{t},H)} = ||\hat{u}_{\vartheta}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{\tau},H)} < c.$$

This shows for $\vartheta \to -\infty$ that u vanishes for t < 0 and for $\vartheta \to 0$ that u belongs to the space $L^2(\mathbb{R}, H)$. Finally we compute

$$\mathcal{L}u(\zeta) = \int_0^\infty e^{it\zeta} u(t)dt$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^\infty e^{it\zeta} u(t)dt$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^\infty e^{it\zeta} e^{-t\vartheta} \mathcal{F}_{\tau'\to t}^{-1} \hat{u}_{\vartheta}(t)dt$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^\infty e^{it\tau} \mathcal{F}_{\tau'\to t}^{-1} \hat{u}_{\vartheta}(t)dt$$

$$= \hat{u}_{\vartheta}(\tau) = \hat{u}(\zeta)$$

which comletes the proof.

Proof: (of Theorem 10) Let us consider in a first step the case $s = \gamma = 0$ and values in E^0 . Since $\mathcal{T}_0^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E^0) = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^2(Y, E^0))$ and $L^2(Y, E^0)$ is a Hilbert space, we can use Proposition 12 for this case. Note that the Fourier-Laplace transform is nothing else than the analytic extension of the Fourier transform, such that it gives in view of Proposition 12 an isomorphism between $\mathcal{T}_0^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E^0)$ and $\mathcal{Z}^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times Y, E^0)$. Moreover, since the group action on E^0 is unitary, it turns out that $\|\cdot\|_{0,l;0}$ is the L^2 -norm such that Plancherel's formula shows that the Fourier-Laplace transformation preserves the norm.

Next we consider the case $s \neq 0$. But then, since

$$\operatorname{Op}_{t}(R^{s}): \mathcal{W}_{0}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}_{0}^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E^{0})$$

and

$$M_{R^s}: \mathcal{Z}^{s,l}_0(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times Y, E) \ni u(\zeta) \mapsto M_{R^s}u(\zeta) := R^s(\zeta)u(\zeta) \in \mathcal{Z}^{0,l}_0(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times Y, E^0)$$

are isomorphisms, the theorem follows from the commutativity of the diagram

$$\mathcal{W}_{0}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times Y, E)
\downarrow \operatorname{Op}_{t}(R^{s}) \qquad \downarrow M_{R^{s}}
\mathcal{W}_{0}^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E^{0}) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{Z}^{0,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-} \times Y, E^{0}).$$

For an arbitrary weight γ we have to check

$$\mathcal{L}\left(\mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+}\times Y,E)\right) = \mathcal{L}\left(e^{\gamma t}\mathcal{W}^{s,l}_{0}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+}\times Y,E)\right) = \mathcal{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}\times Y,E),$$

but this follows immediately from $\mathcal{L}\lbrace e^{\gamma t}u\rbrace(\zeta) = \mathcal{L}u(\zeta + i\gamma)$.

Proposition 13 Let $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{0,l}(Y; E^0, \widetilde{E}^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ be holomorphic for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_-$. Then $\operatorname{Op}_t(A) := \mathcal{F}_{\tau \to t}^{-1} A(\zeta)|_{\operatorname{Im} \zeta = 0} \mathcal{F}_{t' \to \tau}$ gives a continuous map

$$\operatorname{Op}_t(A): \mathcal{W}_0^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E^0) \to \mathcal{W}_0^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, \widetilde{E}^0).$$

Proof: Since $W_0^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E^0) = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^2(Y, E^0))$ and $W_0^0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, \widetilde{E}^0) = L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^2(Y, \widetilde{E}^0))$ we can use Proposition 12 to check $A(\zeta)\mathcal{L}u(\zeta) \in \mathcal{L}L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, L^2(Y, \widetilde{E}^0))$. Of course, with $A(\zeta)$ and $\mathcal{L}u(\zeta)$ also $A(\zeta)\mathcal{L}u(\zeta)$ is holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_- . So it only remains to note

$$\sup_{\vartheta<0}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\|A(\tau+i\vartheta)\mathcal{L}u(\tau+i\vartheta)\|_{L^{2}(Y,\widetilde{E}^{0})}^{2}d\tau\leq c\sup_{\vartheta<0}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\|\mathcal{L}u(\tau+i\vartheta)\|_{L^{2}(Y,E^{0})}^{2}d\tau\leq cC,$$

which used 4.1 Corollary 12 and Proposition 12.

Corollary 14 Every $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\nu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-})$ which is holomorphic for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_{-}$ induces a continuous map

$$\operatorname{Op}_t(A): \mathcal{W}^{s,l}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{W}^{s-\nu,l}_0(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \times Y, \widetilde{E})$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

In fact, we obtain the commutative diagram

where $A_0(\zeta) = \widetilde{R}^{s-\nu}(\zeta)A(\zeta)(R^s(\zeta))^{-1} \in \Psi^{0,l}(Y; E^0, \widetilde{E}^0; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$. But then the desired continuity follows from Proposition 13 and Proposition 6.

Definition 15 An operator $A = \operatorname{Op}_t(A(\zeta))$ for $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_- is called parabolic of order μ if $A(\zeta)$ is parameter-dependent anisotropic elliptic.

Theorem 16 Let $A = \operatorname{Op}_t(A(\zeta))$ for $A(\zeta) \in \Psi^{\mu,l}(Y; E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ be parabolic of order μ , then there exists a weight $\gamma_0 > 0$ such that

$$A: \mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{T}^{s-\mu,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E)$$

is invertible for all $\gamma \geq \gamma_0$ and all $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof: In view of the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{T}^{s,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+}\times Y,E) & \xrightarrow{A} & \mathcal{T}^{s-\mu,l}_{\gamma}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+}\times Y,\widetilde{E}) \\ \downarrow & \mathcal{L} & & \downarrow & \mathcal{L} \\ \mathcal{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}\times Y,E) & \xrightarrow{M_{A(\zeta)}} & \mathcal{Z}^{s-\mu,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma}\times Y,\widetilde{E}) \end{array}$$

we only have to check the invertibility of the multiplication

$$M_{A(\zeta)}: \mathcal{Z}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{Z}^{s-\mu,l}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_{-\gamma} \times Y, \widetilde{E})$$

for all $\gamma > \gamma_0$ with some $\gamma_0 > 0$. But in view of 4.2 Theorem 10 the anisotropic parameter–dependent ellipticity of $A(\zeta)$ implies the existence of a weight $\gamma_0 > 0$ such that $A(\zeta)$ is $(\zeta$ -wise) invertible as map $W^s(Y, E) \to W^{s-\mu}(Y, \widetilde{E})$. Denoting this inverse by $(A(\zeta))^{-1}$ (it belongs to $T_{-i\gamma_0} \Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-))$ we obtain $M_{(A(\zeta))^{-1}} = M_{A(\zeta)}^{-1}$ and hence $M_{A(\zeta)}$ is invertible for sufficiently large γ , which gives the desired invertibility of A for $\gamma \geq \gamma_0$.

Remark 17 Note that $B(\zeta) = (A(\zeta))^{-1}$ itself is a family of pseudo-differential operators that is holomorphic for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_{-\gamma_0}$. Therefore the translated family $B(\zeta + i\gamma_0)$ belongs to $\Psi^{-\mu,l}(Y; \widetilde{E}, E; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$ and is holomorphic in \mathbb{C}_- . Further considerations will show that if we set $B_{\gamma_0} = \operatorname{Op}_t(B(\zeta + i\gamma_0))$ then $AB_{\gamma_0} - I$ and $B_{\gamma_0}A - I$ turn out to be pseudo-differential operators of order -l. But this will be the starting point for the construction of a parametrix and the inverse operator within a subspace of operators in $\Psi^{\nu,l}(\mathbb{R} \times Y; E, \widetilde{E})$.

Remember that the differential operator A has in local coordinates the form (1), i.e.,

$$A(y, D_t, D_y) = a_0 D_t - \sum_{|\alpha| \le l} a_{\alpha}(y) D_y^{\alpha}$$

where $a_0 \in \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E})$ and $a_{\alpha}(y) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^q, \mathcal{L}(E, \widetilde{E}))$ are given such that the corresponding symbol

$$a(y, \tau, \eta) = a_0 \tau - \sum_{|\alpha| \le l} a_{\alpha}(y) \eta^{\alpha}$$

belongs to $S^{l,l}(\mathbb{R}^q \times \mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$ (even classical) with Hilbert spaces $E, \ \widetilde{E}$. Thus A extends to a continuous map

$$A: \mathcal{T}_{\gamma}^{s,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, E) \to \mathcal{T}_{\gamma}^{s-l,l}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \times Y, \widetilde{E})$$
(12)

for all $s, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, if A is parabolic, then there exists an weight $\gamma_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that (12) is invertible for all $\gamma \geq \gamma_0$.

As an example consider, in particular, the operator

$$A = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} - \Delta_Y - \Delta_{\mathbb{R}^m},$$

where Δ_Y is the Laplace–Beltrami operator on Y with respect to a Riemannian metric, and $\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^m}$ is the Laplacian in $\mathbb{R}^m \ni x$ with the symbol $-|\xi|^2$.

Let $E = H^s(\mathbb{R}^m)$, $\widetilde{E} = H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ both be endowed with the group action $(\kappa_{\lambda}u)(x) = \lambda^{m/2}u(\lambda x)$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$. Then in local coordinates

$$a(\tau,\eta) = i\tau + |\eta|^2 - \Delta_{\mathbb{R}^m} : E \to \widetilde{E}$$

belongs to $S_{cl}^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^{1+q}; E, \widetilde{E})$. There is an extension $a(\zeta, \eta) = i\zeta + |\eta|^2 - \Delta_{\mathbb{R}^m} \in S_{cl}^{2,2}(\overline{\mathbb{C}}_- \times \mathbb{R}^q; E, \widetilde{E})$. The operator-valued anisotropic homogeneous principal symbol equals $i\zeta + |\eta|^2 - \Delta_{\mathbb{R}^m}$ which is an isomorphism $E \to \widetilde{E}$ for all $|\zeta, \eta| \neq 0$.

We have $A(\zeta) = i\zeta - \Delta_Y - \Delta_{\mathbb{R}^m}$ which belongs to $\Psi^{2,2}(Y, E, \widetilde{E}; \overline{\mathbb{C}}_-)$, and $A(\zeta)$ is parameter-dependent anisotropic elliptic in the sense of 4.2 Definition 7. Thus $A = \operatorname{Op}_t(A(\zeta))$ is parabolic and Theorem 16 is valid for $\mu = 2$.

REFERENCES 55

References

[ADN] AGMON, S.; DOUGLIS, A.; NIRENBERG, L.: Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions I, II, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. Nauk 12(1959), 623–727 und 17(1964), 35–62.

- [Am] Amann, H.: Linear and quasilinear parabolic problems, Volume I, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Boston, Berlin, 1995.
- [AV] Agranovič, M.S.; Višik, M.I.: Elliptic problems with parameter and parabolic problems of general type, Uspechi Mat. Nauk 19,3(1964), 53–161.
- [APS] ATIYAH, M.F.; PATODI, V.K.; SINGER, I.M.: Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry, Bull. London Math. Soc. 5(1973),229-234.
- [AS] ATIYAH, M.F.; SINGER, I.M.: The index of elliptic operators I, Ann. of Math. 87(1968),484-530.
- [BBR] BOGGIATO, P.; BUZANO, E.; RODINO, L.: Global hypoellipticity and spectral theory, Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [Be] Behm, S.: Pseudo-differential operators with parameters on manifolds with edges, Dissertation, Potsdam, 1995.
- [BdM] BOUTET DE MONVEL, L.: Boundary problems for pseudo-differential operators, Acta Math. 126(1971), 11-51.
- [Bu] Buchholz, Th.: Parabolische Pseudodifferentialoperatoren mit operatorwertigen Symbolen, Dissertation, Potsdam, 1996.
- [BS] Buchholz, Th.; Schulze, B.-W.: Anisotropic edge pseudo-differential operators with discrete asymptotics, Mat. Nachr. 184(1997), 73-125.
- [Bu] Burton, T.A.: Volterra integral and differential equations, Academic Press, New York, San Fransisco, 1983.
- [CE] Chan Žui Cho; Eskin, G.I.: Boundary value problems for parabolic systems of pseudodifferential equations, Soviet Math. Dokl. 12(1972), 739-743.
- [Co1] CORDES, H.O.: Pseudo-differential operators on a half-line, J. of Math. and Mech. 18,9(1969), 893-908.
- [Co2] CORDES, H.O.: A global parametrix for pseudo-differential operators over \mathbb{R}^n with applications, SFB 72 Preprints, Univ. Bonn, 1976.
- [DS] DORSCHFELDT, CH.; SCHULZE, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential operators with operator-valued symbols in the Mellin-edge-approach, Ann. of Glob. Anal. and Geom. 12,2(1994), 135-171.
- [Do] Dorschfeldt, Ch.: An algebra of Mellin pseudo-differential operators near corner singularities, Dissertation, Potsdam, 1995.
- [DGS] DORSCHFELDT, CH.; GRIEME, U.; SCHULZE, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential calculus in the Fourier-edge-approach on non-compact manifolds, Advances in Partial Differential Equations: Spectral Theory, Microlocal Analysis, Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 1996, 249–299.
- [ES] EGOROV, YU.V.; SCHULZE, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential operators, singularities, applications, Birkhäuser-Verlag, Basel, 1997.
- [Ei1] EIDEL'MAN, S.D.: Parabolic systems, North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, London, 1969.
- [Ei2] EIDEL'MAN, S.D.: Parabolic equations, in: Partial differential equations VI, Elliptic and parabolic operators, Encyclopaedia of mathematical sciences 63, Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1994
- [Es1] ESKIN, G.I.: Boundary value problems for elliptic pseudodifferential equations, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1981.
- [Es2] ESKIN, G.I.: Index formulas for elliptic boundary value problems in plane domains with corners, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society (314)1, 1989.
- [Es3] ESKIN, G.I.: Parabolic equations in domains with corners and wedges, Journal d'Analyse Mathématique 58(1992), 153-176.
- [Fe] Feller, W.: The parabolic differential equations and the associated semi-groups of transformations, Math. Ann. **55**(1952), 468-519.
- [FST] FEDOSOV, B.V.; SCHULZE B.-W.; TARKHANOV, N.N.: On the index of elliptic operators on a wedge, Preprint MPI 96-143, Max-Planck-Institut, Bonn, 1996.
- [Fi] Friedman, A.: Partial differential equations of parabolic type, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1964.
- [Gi] GILKEY, P.B.: Invariance theory, the heat equation and the Atiyah-Singer index theorem, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1995.
- [GK] Gohberg, I.; Krein, M.: Theory and applications of Volterra operators in Hilbert space, Translations of Mathematical Monographs 24, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1970.
- [Gr1] GRUBB, G.: Parabolic pseudo-differential boundary problems and applications, Lecture Notes in Math., 1495, Springer Verlag, Berlin 1991, 46-117.
- [Gr2] Grubb, G.: Functional calculus of pseudo-differential boundary problems, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Boston, Berlin, 1996.
- [Hi] HILLE, E.: The abstract Cauchy problem and Cauchy's problem for parabolic differential operators, J. d'Analyse Math. 3(1954), 81-191.
- [HPh] HILLE, E.; PHILLPS, R.S.: Functional analysis and semi-groups, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1957.

56 REFERENCES

[Hi1] HIRSCHMANN, T.: Functional analysis in cone and edge Sobolev spaces, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 8,2(1990), 167-192.

- [Hi2] Hirschmann, T.: Pseudo-differential operators and asymptotics on manifolds with corners, Reports R-Math Karl-Weierstrass-Institut für Mathematik, V:07/90, Va:04/91, Berlin, 1990/91.
- [Hö1] HÖRMANDER, L.: Pseudo-differential operators, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 18(1965), 501-517.
- [Hö2] HÖRMANDER, L.: The analysis of linear partial differential operators I–IV, Springer–Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New–York, 1990.
- [HP] Hunt C.; Piriou, P.: Opérateurs pseudo-différentiels anisotropes d'ordre variable, Comptes Rendus 268(1969), serie A, 28–31.
- [Hw] HWANG, I.L.: The L²-boundedness of pseudo-differential operators, Trans. Amer. Soc. **302**(1987), 55-76.
- [Iw1] IWASAKI, C.: The fundamental solution for parabolic pseudo-differential operators of parabolic type, Osaka J. Math. 14(1977), 569-592.
- [Iw2] IWASAKI, C.: The asymptotic expansion of the fundamental solution for parabolic initial-boundary value problems and its application, Osaka J. Math. 31(1994), 663-728.
- [KN] KOHN, J.J.; NIRENBERG, L.: On the algebra of pseudo-differential operators, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 18(1965), 269-305.
- [Ko] Kondray'ev, V.A.: Boundary value problems for elliptic equations in domains with conical points, Transactions Moscow Math. Soc. 16(1967), 227-313.
- [KE] KONDRAT'EV, V.A.; EIDEL'MAN, S.D.: Positive solutions of linear partial differential equations, Transactions Moscow Math. Soc. **31**(1976), 81–148.
- [KO] KONDRAT'EV, V.A.; OLEYNIK, O.A.: Boundary problems for partial differential equations in non-smooth domains, Uspechi Mat. Nauk 38,2(1983), S.3-76.
- [Kr] Krein, S.G.: Linear differential equations in Banach space, Translations of mathematical monographs 29, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1971.
- [Ku] Kumano-go, H.: Pseudo-differential operators, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts and London, 1981.
- [LSU] LADYŽENSKAJA, O.A.; SOLONNIKOV, V.A.; URAL'CEVA, N.N.: Linear and quasi-linear equations of parabolic type, Translations of Mathematical Monographs 23, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1968.
- [Lo] LOPATINSKIJ, JA.B.: On a method of reducing boundary problems for elliptic systems to regular equations, Ukr. Mat. Ž. 5(1953), 123-151.
- [Me] Melrose, R.B.: The Athiyah-Patodi-Singer index theorem, Resarch Notes in Mathematics, A.K. Peters, Wellesley, 1993.
- [MM] Melrose, R.B.; Mendoza, G.A.: Elliptic operators of totally characteristic type, Preprint, MSRI, 1983.
- [No] Noble, B.: Methods based on the Wiener-Hopf technique for the solution of partial differential equations, Pergamon Press, New York, London, 1958.
- [Pa] PALAIS, R.: Seminar on the Atiyah-Singer index theorem, Pinceton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1963.
- [PW] PALEY, R.; WIENER, N.: Fourier transform in the comlex domain, American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1934, (reprinted 1960).
- [Pe] Petrovski, I.G.: On the Cauchy problem for systems of linearer partial differential equations in a domain of nonanalytic functions, Bull. Univ. Moscow 7,1A(1938), 1-74.
- [Pil] Piriou, A.: Une classe d'opérateurs pseudo-différentiels du type de Volterra, Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble **20**,1(1970), 77-94.
- [Pi2] Piriou, A.: Problèmes aux limites généraux pour des opérateurs differentiels paraboliques dans un domaine borné, Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble **21**,1(1971), 59-78.
- [PI] PLAMENEVSKIJ, B.A.: Algebras of pseudo-differential operators, Nauka i tekhn. Progress, Moscow, 1986.
- [Pr] PRÜSS, J.: Evolutionary integral equations and applications, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel 1993.
- [RS1] REMPEL, S.; SCHULZE, B.-W.: Index theorie of elliptic boundary problems, Akademie-Verlag, Berlin 1982.
- [RS2] REMPEL, S.; Schulze, B.-W.: Parametrices and boundary symbolic calculus for elliptic boundary problems without the transmission property, Math. Nach. 105(1982), 45-149.
- [Ru] RUDIN, W.: Real and complex analysis, Tata McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York et al, Third edition 1987.
- [Sä] Schäfer, H.H.: Topological vector spaces, New York, Macmillan, 1966.
- [So] Schrohe, E.: Spaces of weighted symbols and weighted Sobolev spaces on manifolds, in: Pseudo-Differential Operators, Lecture Notes in Math., 1256, Springer Verlag, 1987, 360-377. New York, Macmillan, 1966.
- [SS1] Schrohe, E.; Schulze, B.-W.: Mellin quantization in the cone calculus for Boutet de Monvel's algebra, MPI Preprint No. 94-118.
- [SS2] Schrohe, E.; Schulze, B.-W.: Boundary value problems in Boutet de Monvel's algebra for manifolds with conical singularities I,II, in: Advances in Partial Differential Equations, (Pseudo-Differential Calculus and Mathematical Physics), Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 1994, 97-209, Teil II MPI-Preprint 1996.
- [Sul] Schulze, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential operators on manifolds with singularities, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1991.

REFERENCES 57

[Su2] Schulze, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential operators on manifolds with edges, Symposium "Partial Differential Equations" Holzhau 1988, Teubner-Texte zur Mathematik 112, Leipzig 1989, 259-288.

- [Su3] Schulze, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential boundary value problems, conical singularities, and asymptotics, Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 1994.
- [Su4] Schulze, B.-W.: Pseudo-differential operators, ellipticity and asymptotics on manifolds with edges, in: Partial Differential Equations Models in Physics and Biology, Mathematical Research Vol. 82, Akademie Verlag, Berlin, 1994, 283-322.
- [Su5] Schulze, B.-W.: Transmission algebras on singular spaces with components of different dimensions, in: Partial Differential Operators in Mathematical Physics, Birkhäuser Verlag Basel, 1995, 313-334.
- [Su6] Schulze, B.-W.: Mellin representations of pseudo-differential operators on manifolds with corners, Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom. 8,3(1990), 261-297.
- [Su7] Schulze, B.-W.: Crack problems in the edge pseudo-differential calculus, Applicable Analysis 45 (1992), 333-360
- [Su8] Schulze, B.-W.: The Mellin pseudo-differential calculus on manifolds with corners, Proc. Int. Symposium "Analysis in Domains and on Manifolds with Singularities", Breitenbrunn 1990, Teubner-Texte zur Mathematik 131, Leipzig 1992, 271-289.
- [Su9] Schulze, B.-W.: A symbolic calculus for a class of parabolic boundary value problems, Mathematical structures Computational mathematics Mathematical modelling, 2, Papers dedicated to professor L. Iliev's 70th Anniversary, Sofia, 1984, 279–286.
- [Su10] Schulze, B.-W.: Boundary value problems and singular pseudo-differential operators, J. Wiley, Chichester, 1998.
- [Su11] Schulze, B.-W.: Corner Mellin operators and reduction of orders with parameters, Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa 16,1(1989), 1-81.
- [SSS1] Schulze B.-W.; Sternin, B.Ju.; Shatalov, V.E.: An operator-algebra on manifolds with cusp-type singularities, Preprint MPI 96-111, Max-Planck-Institut, Bonn, 1996.
- [SSS2] Schulze B.-W.; Sternin, B.Ju.; Shatalov, V.E.: On the index of differential operators on manifolds with conical singularities, Preprint MPI 97-10, Institut für Mathematik, Potsdam, 1997.
- [ST] Schulze, B.-W.; Tarkhanov, N.N.: Wedge Sobolev spaces, MPI Preprint 95-122, 1995.
- [Sh] Shubin, M. A.: Pseudodifferential operators and spectral theory, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New-York, 1987.
- [So1] SOLONNIKOV, V.A.: On boundary value problems for linear parabolic systems of differential equations of general form, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov 83(1965).
- [So2] Solonnikov, V.A.: Estimates in L_p of solutions of elliptic and parabolic systems, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov 102(1967), 137-160.
- [So3] SOLONNIKOV, V.A.: On general boundary problems of systems elliptic in the sense of Douglis-Nirenberg I, II, Isv. Ak. Nauk SSSR 28,(1964), 665-706 und Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov 92(1966), 233-297.
- [So4] SOLONNIKOV, V.A.: Overdetermined elliptic boundary problems, Zap. Naučn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov (LOMI) 21(1971), 112–158.
- [Ta1] TAIRA, K.: Diffusion processes and partial differential equations, Academic Press, London, 1988.
- [Ta2] TAIRA, K.: Analytic semigroups and semilinear initial boundary value problems, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 223, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [Tr1] TREVES, F.: Topological vector spaces, distributions and kernels, Academic Press, New-York, London, 1967.
- [Tr2] Treves, F.: Introduction to pseudodifferential and Fourier integral operators I-II, Plenum Press, New-York and London. 1980.
- [UU] UNDERBERGER, A.; UPMEIER, H.: Pseudodifferential analysis on symmetric cones, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRS Press Boca Raton, New York, London, Tokyo, 1996.
- [VE1] VIŠIK, M.I.; ESKIN, G.I.: Convolution equations in a bounded region, Uspechi Mat. Nauk 20,3(1965), 89-152.
- [VE2] Višik, M.I.; Eskin, G.I.: Convolution equations in a bounded domain in spaces with weighted norms, Mat. Sb. 69,1(1966), 65-110.
- [ZE] ZHITARASHU, N.V.; EIDEL'MAN, S.D.: Parabolic boundary value problems (Russian), Kichinev Chtijnza, 1992.